
 Chester County Council Meeting Agenda June 20th, 2023    1 

 CHESTER COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING 

R. Carlisle Roddey Chester County Government Complex
 1476 J.A. Cochran Bypass Chester, SC 29706 

      Tuesday, June 20, 2023 at 6:00 PM   

 Agenda 

1. Call to Order

2. Pledge of Allegiance and Invocation

3. Approval of Minutes
a. June 5th, 2023 Council Minutes.

4. Citizen’s Comments

5. Ordinances/Resolutions/Proclamations

a. 2023-14 Resolution to Gift the Service Weapon to John “Trey” Hunter III.

b. 2023-15 Resolution to Gift the Service Weapon to Sandra Stinson.

c. 2nd Reading Of 2023-15 Amending Ordinance No. 2018-11, As Amended And
Clarified By Ordinance No. 2022-13, To Provide For The Allocation Of Fee In Lieu Of Tax
Revenues For Some Property Located In The County; And Providing For Other Related Matters.

6. Administrators Report

7. Old Business

a. 2nd Reading of CCMA23-06 E & J Gallo Winery requests 0.24 acres of a portion of Tax Map #165-00-
00-066-000 on or near Highway 21 (Catawba River Rd) to be rezoned from Limited Industrial District
(ID-2) to General Industrial District (ID-3). Planning Commission voted 6-0 to approve.

b. 2nd Reading of CCMA23-08 Chiffon Crawley request Tax Map #069-05-25-002-000 at 527 West
White Street, Chester, SC 29706 to be rezoned from Multi-family Residential District (RG-1) to
General Residential District (RG-2). Planning Commission voted 6-0 to approve.

c. 2nd Reading of CCMA22-19 D.R. Horton Inc request Tax Map # 135-00-00-019-000 on Lancaster
Hwy to be rezoned from Limited Industrial District (ID-2) to Planned Development District (PD).
Planning Commission voted 6-0 to approve.

d. 2nd Reading of CCMA22-20 D.R. Horton Inc request Tax Map # 135-00-00-020-000 on Lancaster
Hwy to be rezoned from Limited Industrial District (ID-2) to Planned Development District (PD).
Planning Commission voted 6-0 to approve.



                                         Chester County Council Meeting Agenda June 20th, 2023                                                                2 

e. 2nd Reading of CCMA22-21 D.R. Horton Inc request Tax Map # 135-00-00-032-000 on Lancaster 
Hwy to be rezoned from Limited Industrial District (ID-2) to Planned Development District (PD). 
Planning Commission voted 6-0 to approve.  

f.  2nd Reading of CCMA22-22 D.R. Horton Inc request 9.45 acres of Tax Map # 136-00-00- 042-000 on   
 Lancaster Hwy to be rezoned from Restricted Industrial District (ID-1) to Planned Development District 
(PD). Planning Commission voted 6-0 to approve.    

g. Proposed amendments to the Gateway District Enabling Act. Administrator Hester.  

h. Proposed amendments to the Litter Ordinance. Councilman Vaughn.  

 
8. New Business 
    a. Council to approve Bid RFP2223-12 for Janitorial Services to TJ’s High Quality Cleaning Services  
    of Chester, SC in the amount of $8454.45per month for 10 locations. Susan Cok and Robert Hall.  
 
9. Boards and Commissions 

    a. Reappointment to the Radio Users Advisory Committee-Council Council. 

    b. Reappointment to the Radio Users Advisory Committee-County Council. 

    c. Appointment to Catawba Regional Council of Governments- County Council. 
 
10. Executive Session 

    a. To receive legal advice regarding Project 2106. Attorney Winters.  

    b. To receive legal advice regarding Project 2336. Attorney Winters. 

    c. To receive legal advice regarding Project 2341. Attorney Winters. 

    d.  To receive an update on a contractual matter regarding the Assessor’s Office. Attorney Winters. 

    e.  To receive an update on a personnel matter regarding the HR Office.  Attorney Winters. 

    f.   To receive a legal update regarding Economic Development. Attorney Winters.  
  
11. Council Actions Following Executive Session 

    a. Action taken regarding Project 2106. 

    b. Action taken regarding Project 2336. 

               c. Action taken regarding Project 2341.  

    d. Action taken regarding the Assessor’s Office. 

    e. Action taken regarding the HR Office.  

    f. Action taken regarding Economic Development.  
 
12. Council Comments 

13. Adjourn 



                                         Chester County Council Meeting Agenda June 20th, 2023                                                                3 

Pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act, the Chester News & Reporter, The Herald in Rock Hill, SC, WSOC-TV, Channel 9 Eyewitness News, the Mfg. Housing 
Institute of SC, WRHI Radio Station, C&N2 News, WCNC News and Capitol Consultants were notified, and a notice was posted on the bulletin board at the Chester 
County Government Building 24 hours prior to the meeting. 

    

Guidelines for Addressing Council 

                                                                 Citizens Comments: 

• Each citizen will be limited to three minutes. 
 
                                                             Public Hearings: 

•  Each speaker will be limited to three minutes. 
 

                                                              When introduced: 

•   Approach the podium, state your name and address. 

•   Speak loudly and clearly making sure that the microphone is     
  not obstructed. 

•   Do not address the audience – direct all comments to  
  Council. 

•   Do not approach the Council table unless directed. 
 

                                                             Anyone addressing Council will be called out of order if 

you: 

•  Use profanity 

•  Stray from the subject 

•  Make comments personally attacking an individual member of 
Council 

 



                                          Chester County Council Meeting Agenda June 5th, 2023                                           1 
 

 

    CHESTER COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING 

    R. Carlisle Roddey Chester County Government Complex 
                              1476 J.A. Cochran Bypass Chester, SC 29706 

                     Monday, June 5, 2023 at 6:00 PM   
 

                  Minutes 

Present: Chairman Branham, Vice Chairman Wilson, Councilman Vaughn, Councilwoman Mosley, 
Councilman Agee, Councilman Guy, County Administrator Hester, County Attorney Winters and Clerk to 
Council Lee.  
Absent: Councilman Killian with prior notification.  

 

1. Call to Order-Chairman Branham called the meeting to order.  

2. Pledge of Allegiance and Invocation-Pledge was recited in unison: Councilman Agee gave  
            the invocation.  
 
 Chairman Branham called for a motion to remove 8.a from the agenda. Vice Chairman  
            Wilson motioned to remove 8.a from the agenda, second by Councilman Vaughn.  
            Unanimous vote. 
 
 Councilman Vaughn motioned to remove 8.b. from the agenda, second by Vice Chairman  
  Wilson. Unanimous vote. 
 
 Councilman Guy motioned to delay 8.c to the June 20th agenda, second by Councilwoman 
 Mosley. Unanimous vote. 
 
3. Approval of Minutes  

        a.  May 15, 2023 Council minutes.  
            Councilman Guy motioned to approve, second by Councilwoman Mosley. Unanimous vote. 
  
 b.  May 16, 2023 Budget Workshop minutes.  

        Councilwoman Mosely motioned to approve, second by Councilman Agee. Unanimous vote. 
 

c.  May 30, 2023 Budget Workshop minutes.  
Vice Chairman Wilson motioned to approve, second by Councilman Vaughn. Vote 4-0 to 
approve. Chairman Branham and Councilman Guy were not present.  
 

4. Citizen Comments 
            Russell H. McCullough. 9418 Errington Ln, Mint Hill, NC addressed Council regarding the 
            Burnt Meeting House Cemetery and thanked Council was doing to restore it.  
 
 
 
 



                                          Chester County Council Meeting Agenda June 5th, 2023                                           2 
 

 
 
5. Public Hearing-Chairman Branham opened the public hearing. No one signed up to speak.  
     a. 3rd Reading Of 2023-11   An Ordinance to Amend Chester County Council Rules Of  
                 Procedures Article III, Section 2-21 Thru 2-27.  

     b. 3rd Reading of 2023-12 An Ordinance to Amend Ordinance 2021-12.  
      Chairman Branham closed the hearing.  
 
6. Ordinances/Resolutions/Proclamations  
     a. 3rd Reading Of 2023-11   An Ordinance To Amend Chester County Council Rules Of  
                 Procedures Article III, Section 2-21 Thru 2-27.  

Councilman Vaughn motioned to approve, second by Councilwoman Mosley. Attorney Winters stated 
this was in reference to the change of form of government from County Supervisor form to County 
Administrator and it changes those phrases it also lists out how the county council chair operates now 
that the council chair is not the county supervisor so those nuances that go with the council supervisor 
form of government has been changed to reflect the nuances of County Administrator form. 
Unanimous vote. 

 
     b. 3rd Reading of 2023-12 An Ordinance to Amend Ordinance 2021-12.  
     Councilman Guy motioned to approve, second by Councilwoman Mosely. Attorney Winters stated 

    in December of 2021, you all adopted an ordinance and approved requirements for the county to   
    execute and deliver development agreements. Through further discussion council decided the  
    appropriate fee for development fees would not exceed the amount of $5,000 for single family  
    homes Townhomes the fee would not exceed the amount of $3,000 and so this ordinance  
    solidifies those numbers. It amends the ordinance Council passed in 2021. Unanimous vote. 

 
                   c. 2nd Reading of 2023-13 An Ordinance Authorizing (1) The Execution And Delivery Of A 
                   Special Source Revenue Credit Agreement By And Between The County And [Project 2247] 
                   In Connection With The Establishment Of Certain Facilities Located In The County; (2) The  
                   Benefits Of A Multi-County Industrial Or Business Park To Be Made Available To [Project  
                   2247] And The Property; And (3) Other Related Matters. Councilman Guy motioned to approve,  
                     second by Councilwoman Mosley. Bond Attorney Kozlarek stated this was a special source  
                   revenue credit agreement that's before council for second reading tonight is effectively a Bailey bill  
                   replacement agreement. As Council knows the Bailey bill is the opportunity under state law for  
                   each local government each local government the county or the city to approve a fixed  
                   assessment value or assessed value of property for historic buildings and for low income at pre  
                   rehabilitation values for the construction period up to two years and then for an additional period  
                   up to 20 years. Unanimous vote. 
 

d. 2nd Reading of 2023-14 Chester County Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Budget to Establish     Operating   
And Capital Budgets For The Operation Of The County Government Of Chester County, South 
Carolina For The Fiscal Year Commencing  July 1, 2023; To Provide For The Levy Of Taxes For 
Chester County For The Fiscal Year Commencing July 1, 2023; To Provide For The Expenditure 
Of Tax Revenues And Other County Funds; To Provide For Other County Purposes; To 
Authorize The County To Borrow Money In Anticipation Of Taxes And To Provide For The 
Repayment Of Sums Borrowed By The County Governing Body; To Provide For The Payment 
Of Tort Claims And Worker's Compensation Claims Against Chester County; To Provide For 
Certain Fiscal And Other Matters Relating To County Government. Councilman Guy motioned to 
approve, second by Councilwoman Mosely. Unanimous vote. 
 
 

 



                                          Chester County Council Meeting Agenda June 5th, 2023                                           3 
 

e. 1st Reading Of 2023-15 Amending Ordinance No. 2018-11, As Amended And  
Clarified By Ordinance No. 2022-13, To Provide For The Allocation Of Fee In Lieu Of Tax  
Revenues For Some Property Located In The County; And Providing For Other Related  
Matters. Councilwoman Mosley motioned to approve, second by Vice Chairman Wilson.    
Administrator Hester stated this would amend the current FILOT agreement post gateway and that 
will give 5% to the fire district where the fee in lieu is located in. 4% goes to economic development 
15% will go to school districts operational budget. And then previously, there was another 15% that 
went to the school district's debt service, or  debt allocation and we're removing that 15% that's going 
to the district's debt allocation and putting it into the rest of that total which will go to the county which 
I believe is  76% of that fee in lieu will go to the county's general fund but the goal was not to affect 
the school district's operating budget. And this change to the reallocation of that portion that went to 
their debt doesn't affect their ability to pay debt or borrow. Unanimous vote. 

 

     f. Resolution 2023-12 Identifying The Capital Projects As Part Of A Program Of General  
                  Obligation Borrowing; And Other Related Matters.  Councilman Vaughn motioned to approve,  

     second by Councilwoman Mosley. Unanimous vote. 
 
7. Administrator’s Report  
     Administrator Hester introduced his new Administrative Assistant/Public Information Officer Jamie  
                 Deason who has twenty-five years of administrative experience along with ten years of management  
                 in public relations. He told Council he would update them on discussions that were had at the last  
                 budget workshop regarding the order that was placed for fire trucks. He planned to discuss the  
                 decision to use commercial grade equipment on current projects.  
 
8. Old Business  

 a. 2nd Reading of CCMA22-17 Fielding Homes LLC C/O Isaacs Group request 160.33 acres of 
 Tax Map # 114-00-00-015-000 on Gaston Farm Road to be rezoned from Limited Industrial  
 District (ID-2) to Planned Development District (PD). Planning Commission voted 5-1 to   

 approve. Councilman Vaughn motioned to accept Fielding Homes request to withdraw their  
 application, second by Councilwoman Mosley. Unanimous vote. 

 
b.  2nd Reading of CCMA22-18 Fielding Homes LLC C/O Isaacs Group request 19.27 acres of Tax 
Map # 114-00-00-059-000 on Gaston Farm Road to be rezoned from Limited Industrial District 
(ID-2) to Planned Development District (PD). Planning Commission voted 5-1 to approve. 

Councilman Vaughn motioned to accept Fielding Homes request to withdraw their application, second 
by Councilman Guy. Unanimous vote. 

 
c. 2nd Reading of CCMA22-21 D.R. Horton Inc request Tax Map # 135-00-00-032-000 on 
Lancaster Hwy to be rezoned from Limited Industrial District (ID-2) to Planned Development 
District (PD). Planning Commission voted 6-0 to approve. Motion to delay the beginning of Council 
meeting. 

d. 3rd Reading of CCMA23-04 Robert L. Reid III request Tax Map #123-00-00-088-000 at 3458 
Ernandez Rd, Richburg, SC 29729 to be rezoned from Limited Commercial District (LC) to 
General Commercial District (GC). Planning Commission voted 7-0 to approve.  Vice Chairman 
Wilson motioned approve, second by Councilwoman Mosley.  Unanimous vote.  

 
e. 3rd Reading of CCMA23-05 Allison and Gerald Timmons request Tax Map #166-01-04-016-
000 at 975 Jackson Rd, Fort Lawn, SC 29714 to be rezoned from Rural One District (R1) to 
Rural Two District (R2).  Planning Commission voted 7-0 to approve. Councilman Vaughn 
motioned to approve, second by Councilwoman Mosley. Unanimous vote. 
 
 



                                          Chester County Council Meeting Agenda June 5th, 2023                                           4 
 

 

 
9. New Business 
 

a. Council to approve bid of RFP2223-10 for HVAC Unit Installation to Cudd Heating & Air, Inc., 
Chester, SC in the amount of $33,250.00 dollars for the Gateway Conference Center. Source of 
funding from Gateway budget ($16,250) and Chester Development Foundation ($17,000). - Susan Cok. 
Mrs. Cok stated this was an emergency bid and the actual amount would be $16,185.45 and come from the 
Gateway budget. The remaining would come from Chester Development Foundation and should have that 
the next day. Councilman Agee motioned to approve, second by Vice Chairman Wilson.  
Unanimous vote. 
 
 
b. Council to approve bid RFP 2223-11 for Richburg Fire Substation to Salem Builders, Rock Hill, SC 
in the amount of $38,340.00 dollars to enclose three sides of the building and add two regular doors plus 
one roll up door. No electrical work to be performed. Source of funding from the one cent sales tax 
monies.- Susan Cok.  Councilman Agee motioned to approve, second by Councilman Guy. Vote 5-0 to 
approve. Councilman Agee recused stating he was first cousins to the owner of Salem Builders.  
 
c. Council to approve Emergency Management to use remaining allocated grant match funds in 
the amount of $12,800 dollars to outfit a 4 x 4 Gator given to them through a Duke Foundation 
awarded grant. - Ed Darby. Councilman Agee motioned to approve, second by Councilwoman 
Mosley. Unanimous vote. 

 
   d. 1st Reading of CCMA23-06 E & J Gallo Winery requests 0.24 acres of a portion of Tax Map #165-00- 
   00-066-000 on or near Highway 21 (Catawba River Rd) to be rezoned from Limited Industrial District  
  (ID-2) to General Industrial District (ID-3). Planning Commission voted 6-0 to approve.  

   Councilman Vaughn motioned to approve, second by Councilwoman Mosley. Unanimous vote. 
 
                e. 1st Reading of CCMA23-08 Chiffon Crawley request Tax Map #069-05-25-002-000 at 527 West  
                White Street, Chester, SC 29706 to be rezoned from Multi-family Residential District (RG-1) to  
                General Residential District (RG-2). Planning Commission voted 6-0 to approve. 

    Councilman Guy motioned to approve, second by Councilwoman Mosley. Unanimous vote. 
 
    f. From CCTC: 
         1.  Approval to SCDOT in the amount of $500.00 dollars to erect dedication signs that reads 
                     “Torrey Craig Highway” in the Town of Great Falls, SC. Councilman Vaughn motioned to  
                      approve with the verbiage changing from “Highway” To “Avenue”, second by Councilwoman  
                      Mosley. Unanimous vote. 
  

10. Boards and Commissions 
    a. Reappointment to the Gateway Steering Committee- County Council.  
     Councilman Agee motioned to reappoint Herbie Lutz, second by Vice Chairman Wilson.  
     Unanimous vote. 
 
    b. Appointment to the Burnt Meeting House Cemetery Board- County Council.  
     Councilwoman Mosley motioned to appoint Sandra Anglin, second by Councilman Vaughn. 
     Unanimous vote. 
 
    c.  Reappointment to Catawba Regional Council of Governments. County Council. 
     Councilman Vaughn motioned to reappoint Nettie Archie, second by Councilman Guy. 
     Unanimous vote. 
 



                                          Chester County Council Meeting Agenda June 5th, 2023                                           5 
 

    d.  Resignation from the Catawba Regional Council of Governments. County Council.  
    Vice Chairman Wilson motioned to accept Jim Fuller’s resignation, second by Councilwoman  
                Mosley. Unanimous vote. 
 

11. Executive Session 
             Councilwoman Mosley motioned to go to execution session, second by Vice Chairman Wilson. 
             Unanimous vote. 

    a. To receive legal advice regarding Project 2213. Attorney Winters.  

 

12. Council Actions Following Executive Session 
 Vice Chairman Wilson motioned to go back to regular session, second by Councilwoman  
             Mosley. Unanimous vote.  
 
    a. Action taken regarding Project 2213. 

   Councilman Vaughn motioned to allow Administrator Hester to communicate with the Department  
                of Commerce for $300,000 dollars to use toward the road at the R & D Park, second by  
                Councilwoman Mosley. Unanimous vote. 

 
13. Council Comments- None 

14. Adjourn 
 Councilman Guy motioned to adjourn, second by Councilwoman Mosley. Unanimous vote. 
 
Karen Lee, Clerk to Council 

Time: 8:00 PM 
 
Pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act, the Chester News & Reporter, The Herald in Rock Hill, SC, WSOC-TV, Channel 9 Eyewitness News, the Mfg. 
Housing Institute of SC, WRHI Radio Station, C&N2 News, WCNC News and Capitol Consultants were notified, and a notice was posted on the bulletin board 
at the Chester County Government Building 24 hours prior to the meeting. 

    

 



       
                                                                                        Resolution 2023-14 

 
A RESOLUTION TO GIFT THE SERVICE WEAPON TO SERGEANT JOHN HUNTER III 

 

WHEREAS, Chester County is grateful for the service given by Sergeant John “Trey” Hunter III 
for his twelve and one half years of service to the Chester County Sheriff’s Office; and 
 
WHEREAS, in accordance with South Carolina Code of Laws §23-1-255 and Chester County 
Ordinance 11-16-098, upon retirement, state law enforcement officers may retain their 
commissions in retired status with all rights and privileges, including the right to retain their 
service weapons issued while serving in active-duty status provided certain requirements are 
met; and 
 
WHEREAS, for retiring officers with service of less than fifteen years, officers must contribute 
one-half of the replacement cost of the weapon; and 
 
WHEREAS, the service weapon used by Sergeant John Hunter during his career with the Chester 
County Sheriff’s Office was a Glock 22, .40 caliber, Serial number XCF413, with a current 
replacement cost of $441.72. 
 
THEREFORE, the Chester County Council does hereby resolve to allow Sergeant John Hunter III 
to retain the weapon used by Sergeant John Hunter during his career with the Chester County 
Sheriff’s Office in exchange for a payment of $220.86, and provided he completes the requisite 
documentation for the transfer of this weapon.   
 
DONE IN MEETING DULY ASSEMBLED, this ___ day of June___, 2023. 
 
 
     COUNTY COUNCIL OF CHESTER COUNTY 
 
     __________________________________________ 
     Joseph R. Branham, Chair, Chester County Council 
 
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________________ 
Karen Lee 
Clerk to County Council of Chester County 



 
                                                                               Resolution 2023-15 

 
A RESOLUTION TO GIFT THE SERVICE WEAPON TO CORPORAL SANDRA STINSON 

 

WHEREAS, Chester County is grateful for the service given by Corporal Sandra Stinson for her 
more than ten years of service to the Chester County Sheriff’s Office; and 
 
WHEREAS, in accordance with South Carolina Code of Laws §23-1-255 and Chester County 
Ordinance 11-16-098, upon retirement, state law enforcement officers may retain their 
commissions in retired status with all rights and privileges, including the right to retain their 
service weapons issued while serving in active duty status provided certain requirements are 
met; and 
 
WHEREAS, for retiring officers with service of less than fifteen years, officers must contribute 
one-half of the replacement cost of the weapon; and 
 
WHEREAS, the service weapon used by Corporal Sandra Stinson during her career with the 
Chester County Sheriff’s Office was a Glock 22, .40 caliber, Serial number XCF415, with a 
current replacement cost of $441.72. 
 
THEREFORE, the Chester County Council does hereby resolve to allow Corporal Sandra Stinson 
to retain the weapon used by Corporal Sandra Stinson during her career with the Chester 
County Sheriff’s Office in exchange for a payment of $220.86, and provided she completes the 
requisite documentation for the transfer of this weapon.   
 
DONE IN MEETING DULY ASSEMBLED, this ___ day of June___, 2023. 
 
 
     COUNTY COUNCIL OF CHESTER COUNTY 
 
     __________________________________________ 
     Joseph R. Branham, Chair, Chester County Council 
 
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________________ 
Karen Lee 
Clerk to County Council of Chester County 



CHESTER COUNTY ORDINANCE NO. 2023-15 

AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 2018-11, AS AMENDED AND 
CLARIFIED BY ORDINANCE NO. 2022-13, TO PROVIDE FOR 
THE ALLOCATION OF FEE IN LIEU OF TAX REVENUES FOR 
SOME PROPERTY LOCATED IN THE COUNTY; AND 
PROVIDING FOR OTHER RELATED MATTERS. 

WHEREAS, the County Council previously enacted Ordinance No. 2018-11 (“2018 Ordinance”), 
which provided for an allocation of fee in lieu of tax revenues; 

WHEREAS, the County Council previously enacted Ordinance No. 2022-13, which amended and 
clarified the 2018 Ordinance (“2022 Ordinance,” with 2018 Ordinance, collectively “Prior Ordinance”); 

WHEREAS, the County Council intends to amend the manner in which revenue is allocated under the 
Prior Ordinance as provided in this Ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, each capitalized term used, but not defined, in this Ordinance has the meaning ascribed to 
that term in the Prior Ordinance: 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the County Council as follows: 

Section 1. Amendment. The Prior Ordinance is amended as follows: 

a. Section 1 (Allocation of Revenue), paragraph (A) of the Prior Ordinance is stricken in its entirety 
and replaced with the following: 

(A) From each payment due as a part of any Project that is subject to a negotiated fee 
in lieu of tax agreement, located in a multi-county industrial/business park, or both, 
net of any portion due: (i) a partner county, (ii) any other party to another agreement, 
as a credit, (iii) as otherwise provided by any agreement or applicable state law, or 
(iv) any combination of (i), (ii), and (iii) (collectively, “Net FILOT Payment”), the 
County shall (w) set aside 4.0% of each Net FILOT Payment to be used primarily for 
the County’s economic development, (x) provide the fire district in which jurisdiction 
the Project is located with 5.0% of each Net FILOT Payment, (y) provide the Chester 
County School District with 15%; and (z) retain the reminder of each Net FILOT 
Payment for use as the County deems appropriate. 

; 

b. Section 1 (Allocation of Revenue), paragraph (C) of the Prior Ordinance is stricken in its entirety 
and replaced with the following: “[Reserved]”; and 

c. Section 2 (Clarification) of the 2022 Ordinance is stricken in its entirety and replaced with the 
following: “[Reserved]”. 

Section 2. Suspension of Net FILOT Payment. In addition to the County’s rights reserved under Section 
3 of this Ordinance, the County may, by resolution or ordinance, withhold one or more Net FILOT Payments 
that would otherwise have been payable according to this Ordinance or the Prior Ordinance and use the 
withheld Net FILOT Payment, to fund and/or finance one or more projects for use by the entity to which each 
Net FILOT Payment would have otherwise been payable. 

Section 3. Reservation to County. This Ordinance is not a contract with any taxing entity. The County 
reserves the right to amend this Ordinance, or the Prior Ordinance, or both, at any time, from time to time, as 
often as the County, in its sole discretion, deems appropriate. A taxing entity, other than the County, is not 
entitled (a) to rely on this Ordinance or the Prior Ordinance or (b) pledge any of the revenue anticipated to be 



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-15 

received as a result of this Ordinance or the Prior Ordinance. 

Section 5. Authorization for County Officials to Execute Documents. The Council authorizes the 
County Administrator, Clerk to County Council and other County Officials to execute and consent to 
documents and instruments as may be necessary to affect this Ordinance’s intent. 

Section 6. General Repealer. Each ordinance, resolution, order, policy, or similar directive, or any part 
of the same, in conflict with this Ordinance is, to the extent of that conflict, repealed. 

Section 7. Pledge Agreement. This Ordinance is not intended to, and does not, have any impact on 
any Net FILOT Payment for (a) any investment made on or before the “Fee Agreement,” dated as of 
October 5, 2009, with Southeastern Petroleum LLC, or (b) the investments and/or agreements described in 
the Pledge Agreement, dated June 28, 2018, between the County and the Chester Facilities Corporation, 
related to the $19,255,000 Installment Purchase Revenue Bonds (Chester County 2018 Projects) Taxable 
Series 2018 (collectively, “Bonds”) for so long as those Bonds remain outstanding. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]  



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-15 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

By:        
 Chairman, Chester County Council 
 Chester County, South Carolina 

ATTEST: 

      
Clerk to Council, Chester County Council 
Chester County, South Carolina 

First Reading:  June 5, 2023 
Public Hearing:  July 3, 2023 
Second Reading: June 20, 2023 
Third Reading:  July 3, 2023 



Chester County Planning Commissi j n Minutes 

May 16, 2023 

CCMA23-06 E & J Gallo Winery requests a portion of Tax Map F165-00-00-066-000 on or near Highway 
21 (Catawba River Rd) to be rezoned from Limited Industrial D strict (ID-2) to General Industrial District 
(ID-3). 

Planning Director Mike Levister stated actually this is the parcel that substation that is owned behind the 

Springs plant, that little old bitty square. It was in the original, b t Duke Energy or springs couldn't let go 

of it because they still had to use the substation but now that t e transmission has been removed, they 

have to put the ID-3 to combine it with the current property. That's the only purpose of it. They're not 

going to be able to use it for nothing because it's sitting up on a hill. 

Chairman Raines stated I wonder why they want that little, sma I portion. 

Planning Director Mike Levister stated I think they still got s I me energy there, but majority of their 

transmission is coming in a different location. 

Chairman Raines stated and just like he said, just a little outlie that couldn't be zoned appropriately at 

the time because Duke Energy I guess was leasing it for power n entry. 

Vice Chairman Hill motioned to a rove second b Commissioner Williams. Vote 6-0 to a rove. 















@ Owner and Location 

Next Year (2024) Changes 

Search Options 
Map Numbej 

Name 1 

Owner Information 

j 165-00-00-066-000 !Real 

lsPRINGSTEEN-FRti.NcEs LLC 

- .

� ,01149593 Histor_y Year 

Other Map Number 

·· -·

  

I 

1 

I Po::t Initial, lfRB. Reason for Change ,--iJ li 
Name2 I 

: Address 1 11377 BROADCLOTH ST, STE 205 

Address 2 !FORT MILL SC

Zip Code 129115 I-
Codes
District jo5 � 

, Town l �I
Subdivision I �I 
Description !FRANCES PLANT

Legal 

Location 
- -- - --

1 

Street Number 

1  Additional Information
I 

: Appraisal Appeal n1 
Agricultural Use n, 
Rollback 1 -1 

- -·   

I 

  -

- --

---•. 

 

Street Name 
. 

I 

I 

Owner Occupied 

Reappraisal Notice 

. . -

. -  - · 

n1 

n1 

... ------

.  

·

-  

- --·

,, 

i 

� 

••..
Alerts ·•·

� 

: 
I
Has Additional Comments 

I 

d 

  --- .
Fire Code IFT

Neighborhood J102 

Use Class 

Suffix 

TIF 

MCIP 

Exempt 

I 

I 

r 

r 

r 

·----- --

 
Activity Date 1□9/20/2021

Land Value l 232,500

Building Value I 477,850 

Total Market Value I 710,350 

Total Tax Value I 710,350 
-·· 

- · ·••--· · · · - ·

� jFORT LAWN 

� !LIMITED INDUSTRIAL 

i l 

Direction r - -.  ·
Base 

Industrial Park ID 

· ----

I 

I 

- -- --  

-- - -
I Scroll by: MAPII

. . . 
I
I, 

! 



           Chester County Planning Commission  
                  May 16th, 2023 
 
 
 
 
CCMA23-08 Chiffon Crawley request Tax Map #069-05-25-002-000 at 527 West White Street, Chester, 
SC 29706 to be rezoned from Multi-family Residential District (RG-1) to General Residential District (RG-
2).  
 
Chiffon Crawley stated she lives at 3100 Swanquarter Drive, Charlotte, NC 28262. The property which 

I'm speaking of is 527 West White Street, Chester, South Carolina. 

 

Chairman Raines stated it’s a vacant property and the house that was there was torn down I’m 

assuming.  

 

Ms. Crawley stated I’m assuming so when I purchased it, it was just the land. 

 

Chairman Raines said it was just an empty lot and you are wanting to put a mobile home or not a mobile 

home.  

 

Ms. Crawley stated either a double wide or single wide. 

 

Chairman Raines stated manufacturing housing I will refer to it. And as you pointed out, I think in your 

application, there are several other properties around that have mobile homes that are manufactured 

housing in the neighborhood. 

 

Ms. Crawley stated that is correct, on the same street.  

 

Chairman Raines stated as I said you know I think that number one it's a vacant lot now. A newer home 

would be an upgrade and there's several other properties in the community already in the 

neighborhood match that type of housing. I don't think it'd be a problem overall. 

Commissioner Walley motioned to approve, second by Chairman Raines. Vote 6-0 to approve. 

 



Chester County, South Carolina 
Departn1ent of Planhing, Building & Zoning 
1476 J.A. Cochran Bypass 
Cheste.r, SC 29706 

Zo11i11g Map Amendment (Rezo11i11g) Applicatio11 

Fee: Residential $150.00, Non-Residential $300.00, Planned Development SI000.00 

Meeting Date: S- I � · 2 3 Case# CC..,M A 'Z. 3- 0 8 Invoice# 

The ap plicant hereby requests that the property described to be rezoned rrol f]Qi1 
&t/f{Q 

Com• nfplar musf he vrese11ted wltlt 1F1e 11npllc!atio1t rt:1111 /!St 

Designation of Agent (complete only if owner is not applicant): I (we)
J..
hereby appoint the person named as applicant as 

my (our) agent to represent me (us) ln this request for rezoning. A t.:orporate Resolution letter or a permission letter 
must be presented at the time of application request. NAICS CODE: ... ! _____________ _ 

Any structures on the property: yes ___ no_✓ ___ . If you checked yes, draw locations of structures
on plat or blank paper. 

PLEASE PRINT· 
Aoolicant .(s): 
Address ....;•·....;�....;I ��_;,_;;.;.;.,:::..!.,.;�::.:.:....=:.._-=-----'-'. 
Telephone: 
E-Mail Ad

Owner(s) if other than applicant(s): _ ... �) .... l .... L'_(l'1 ___ \-�_-___,l.,..� ... S.___a!....._� .. JO_'\J_-l ____________ _
Address: _______________________ -=------------
Telephone: __________ cell __________ work _________ _ 
E-Mail Address: ________________________ _ 

l (we) hereby agree that this jnformatjop I (we) have pr.'l,sented Is corn;ct. Insufficient information may result
In a dmtal olyuur r,gue,t, _

\ o 
1 Owner's oignature: C �� c\'f',.,..U x-- Date: 

UV \\J 
Al!l!licant signature: ___________________ ,...Date: ________ _

CANCElLA110N MAY RESULT IN AN ADDITIONAL f'EEOJ-"$/50.00. S01EONE MAY REPRESENT YOU AT THE MEETING. 

Plauning/Plannlng&1.oni1g/CounlyofCl�s1er/f'om1s/HezoningAp1llk:alion 



OqPublic.net
1

"' Chester County, SC 

Parcel ID 069-05-25-002-CXX> 
Sec/Twp/Rng n/a 
Property Address 527WESTWHITE STREET 
District 02 
Brief Tax Description n/a 

A lternate ID n/a 
Class RN 
Acreage 0.188 

(Note: Not to be used on legal doct.ments) 

Date created: 4120'2023 
last Data Uploaded: 4120'2023 3:10:55 AM 

Developed by� .... Schneider 
�.J"GEOSPATIAI. 

I 
Overview 

I Owner Address CRAWLEY CHIFFON 
3100 SWANQUARTER DR 
CHARLOTTE NC 28262 

� 



0 Owner and location 

Next Year (2024) Changes 

Alerts Search O�ons 
MapNtX11ber 

I � _______ fR_e_a_l 
_

3
_
•
_

fo_o31_339_3 HistoryYear 1 .----------- �
d 

[Has Additional Comments 
JCRAWLEY CHIFFON Other Map Number j � 

Ov-K1er lnlcrmatiO'I 
Post Initials I � Reason for O,cnge � 

Name 2 

Adaess 1 

Adiiess2 

Zip Code 

Codes 
Distiict 

,-------------

J3100 SWANQUARTE R DR 

JCHARLOTTE NC 

f2a262 1 

102 � 

ActiviyDate 

Lend Value 

BuidngV�e 

Taal Market Value 

Taal Tax VakJe 

Fire Code Fl 3 IDTY

1�1 

J09/19n022 

f 5,000 

5,000 

5,000 

I 

To�
I iJ Neii;tiborh:>od FG1 ..:J j""'Mc-c

UL
c-::

T
::-::

1 F:
,-

A
...,,

Ml
-,-

LY-:-:R=E�S----

Sl.bdivisi:m I 3 

Desaii;xi<X'I 

Legal 

I locat�n S lleet N'-l'llber 

Aaitional Information 
AppiaisalAppeal i3 
Agicultural Use � I 
Rolback 

1- ---

527 Street Name ['lv'EST WHITE STREET 

Owner Occupied 13 
Reappiaisal Notice 13 

Use Dass [--� 

Suffix i DirectiO'I I 

TIF r Base 

MOP r lndustiial Park ID 
Exempt r

f ScroD by: NAPI 



.. - ... .. .. --
\l• ·

·.�, ..... -··:.. ·•·N ... �-·"- -� .� ___ ., .......

I 

, 
I
I 

./ 

I 
I 

"'
-v-

,�

,/ I 
'

/ .. -1 /I

. 

/

I 

I 

·r'

----- ' ,ij 

____ .. -;� ,/;} 11 ;
ft 

--·- .Jol'• .... 

-::---_ -.. - - -": - -- � .l-. . - ... " ___ =--.z: --�'"lt 
' . '-1• l,> 
,...... \ 

� --
-- �- ----�""� .. ' 

, 

-

... 



Instrument Book Volume Page 
2021 -116088 DB 1357 79 
DEED 

Drawn Ily and Return To: 
Stcltzncr Law, PC 
454 South Anderson Road, Suite 302, BTC Box 519 
Rock Hill, SC29730 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

COUNTY OF CHESTER 

2021 · 16088 
Filed fo Record in 
CHEST

I

R COUNTY, SC 
Sue K. arpenter, CLERK OF COURT 
09/30/2 21 02:09:07 PM 
DEED 15.00 
Bk DB ol 1357 Page 79 · 80 

tHESTE COUNTY ASSESSOR' ·
1 /Date 09/ 21 

, 
' I :Ta� Map !!lumber a59 05-25 002-0 ; 

GE 1ERAL WARRANTY DEED 
(Title to Real Estate) 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that SA RA VARNADORE (hereinafter 
"Grantor''), for and in consideration of the sum of FIVE TH USAND AND NO/100 DOLLARS

($5,000.00), the receipt and sufficiency of which is here ack wwledged, has granted, bargained, 
sold and released, and by these presents do grant, barg in, sell and release unto the said 
CHIFFON CRAWLEY (herei11after "Grantee"), her he rs and/or assigns, all Grantor's 
remaining right, title, and equitable or legal interest in a d to, the following-described real 
property, to-wit: 

ALL that certain piece, parcel or lot of land, with any and II improvements thereon, fronting 
78 feet on the southerly line of white Street, just east of its junction with Beachem Street, in 
northwesterly Gayle Vlllage, Chester County, SC, an.d co 1taining .19 i,cres, more or less, and
being sh.own and designated as Lot Number 2, Block S on ap of said area prepared January, 
1957, and recorded in the office of the Clerk of Court for C ester County, SC, in Plat Book Bat 
Page 138 and has such cou.rses and distances, metes and b unds as shown on said plat which 
said plat is incorporated herein by reference. 

DERIVATION: This being the same property conveyed to S ndra Varnadore by WatTanly Deed 
of Nathalie S. Hammo

.

nds dated June 2, 2011 and record

[

d in Book 1036, Page 13, Chester 
County Records. 2021 . 116088 

Electronic FIiing 
Chester County Tax Map No.: 069-05-25-002-000 From: Simplifile 
Grantee Address: 527 W White Street, Chester, SC 2970 Thru: ERX 

TOGb'THER with all and singular, the rights, members, Jreditaments and appurtenances to 
the said premises belongjng or in anywise incident or appe ainin.g. 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD, all and singular the said preir ses before mentioned unto the said 
Grantee, and Grantee's heirs and assigns forever. 

AND GRANTOR DOES hereby promise, for themselve and Grantor's heirs, successors, 
assigns, and representatives, to warrant and forever de end the above premises unto the 
Grantee, Grantee's heirs and assigns, against the Grant r and Grantor's heirs, successors, 
assigns, and representatives and against every person w omsoever lawfully claiming, or to 
claim, the same or any part thereof. 

Consideration Amt: $5000.00 STATE TAX: $13.00 LOC AL TA : $5.50 



Instrument Book Volume Page
2021 -116088 DB 1357 0 
DEED 

WITNESS the Hand and Seal of the Grantor this the 30th d y of September, 2021.

Signed, Sealed and Delivered
the presence of: 

1�1.'?'>�
� ;igns here (""'W //QT./;; •� Nolar!J)

-... 1:'10. 2 signs here <Mdr be the Notary)

urn CAROLINA 

COUN1Y OF YORK 

I, � M ��
-- a Notary Public for the State and County aforesaid, do hereby 

certify that Sandra Varnadore, by James Eric Dover, as her attorney-in-fact personally appeared
before me this day and acknowledged the due execu tion of the foregoing instrwnent

"V:::> r- ,tand o,fficla t seal, this the _day of � ? 2021

I hereby certify that the within Deed 
Has been recorded this date 09/30/2021 
AUDITOR, CHESTER COUNTY 

5lJJ a .tJ-J,



Chester County Planning Commission Meeting August 16th
, 2022 

CCMA22-19 D.R. Horton Inc request Tax Map# 135-00-00-019-000 on Lancaster Hwy to be rezoned from 

Limited Industrial District (ID-2) to Planned Development District (PD). 

Brandon Pridemore 1186 Stonecrest Boulevard Tega Cay, South Carolina. I'm with Argo Harrison 

Associates as a consulting engineer. Troy Karski. DR Horton at 8025 Arrowood Boulevard Charlotte, North 

Carolina. Mr. Pridemore stated I'm here on behalf of D R Horton. But you have the plan before you and 

the site are approximately 494 acres total. It is the Richburg Magnolia property which is currently zoned 

ID-1 and ID-2. We are proposing it as a PD with eight and a half acres to be retained for commercial along 

Hwy 9. It does have a density of 1124 total units of build out, but it is a gross density of only 2.3 units an 

acre looks at it the intent right now is to develop it as two product types SO-foot lot. But it's proposed 

1124 total lots with SO foot lots and 60 foot lots. The 50 foot lots will make up about 65% of the total lots 

and the 60 foot lots will be 35%. A couple of things that I wanted to point out to is we're going to propose 

this as three master phases about 400 lots at a time. The build out for that is expected to be about 8 to 

10 years from today, assuming we're able to get through the process to get rezoned. One of the things to, 

I wanted to point out was the amount of open space that we're proposing on the site out of the 494 acres. 

We have almost 240 acres that'll be left as open space preserving a lot of perimeter areas around creeks 

and streams, you know, environmental sensitive areas that is almost 50% of our site premium preserving 

open space. 

I know in past presentations and discussions I've heard from this commission as well was amenities and 

open space. And we also in addition to that open space, we have nine pocket parks proposed including 

the central amenity, which I believe is going to be a pool and Cabana and then we'll have intermittent 

pocket parks spread throughout the community. So, every person would be within about a five to-10

minute walking distance of an improved open space. The PD does require as the last applicant said a SO

foot perimeter setback. On the non-road frontage sides, we do have a 30-foot dedicated setback and 

buffer along the highway. From a traffic standpoint we have completed a traffic study Kimberly Horn is 

our consultant that has done that. We're working through that with SCOOT its currently on the review, 

but we are proposing four access points. We have two primary access points right to Hwy 9 directly and 

we will have full access at those with turn lanes included along Hwy 9 and then we'll be connecting to 

Lewisville High School adding a third lane to the Lewisville High School Road to help circulation there. And 

then we'll also be connected to Sloan Road. And just to kind of preface and address the comments I heard 

from Mr. Howell earlier road. It's kind of an intermediate road if you will. D R Horton is prepared in 

discussions with SCDOT to improve that road upon completion of the project. Whether it'd be resurfacing, 

full depth reclamation, you know I've prepped these guys that would be one of the commitments we need 

to make so we are prepared to do that as well. 

From a development agreement standpoint, I heard Ms. Winters ask as well, Ben Johnson with Robinson 

Bradshaw, I believe has been in communication with you on D R Horton's behalf and they will enter into 

a development agreement. From a product standpoint, they're proposing one to two story products. 

They're still working on the programming, so we don't have elevations for you. But that you know, they're 

trying to be very specific to this community and what the needs would be, and I believe you're also 

proposing active adult for a portion of this as well. Active adult as you well know comes out a little bit 

higher price point, it's maintained lawns and homes, you know, targeted toward those SO and older 

generally, but it's really open to anybody who wants to purchase into that portion of this development. 

Outside of that we're here to answer any questions you might have. I did want to bring a point to as you 

know, we're bordered right with the high school and middle school. We think with the interconnectivity 



that we have; you know, we're going to help reduce traffic to a point to your point Mr. Howell, you know, 

we're going to take the industrial uses off the table. We're going to convert it to residential, but as you 

can see, we've got interconnectivity from road sidewalks right to the high school and middle school. And 

then of course, elementary school. I'm sorry, and the middle school is just right up the road from us. So, 

we think again, it's a great spot to build the residential community. Outside of that, we're here to answer 

any questions you might have. 

Commissioner Howell asked What is your average home per outlet for the development? 

Mr. Pridemore stated our average home per outlet if you look at it from that standpoint, we're about 280 

homes per access point. 

Commissioner Howell stated these are 200 our minimum or maximum, I should say, as a question for staff. 

Planning Director Levister stated in our zoning ordinances it says if there's more than 200 homes, he must 

have a minimum of two access points. 

Commissioner Grant did you say you would revamp the road. And what's the square footage you're 

looking to build? 

Mr. Pridemore stated Yes, sir. We've agreed with SCOOT that as we move forward with construction 

documents. Again, assuming we're fortunate enough to get this rezoning approved. We will work with 

SCOOT to look at that road and improve it as needed. It is actually very similar to what you just saw and 

buildings we are looking at the 1700 to 2500 square foot. We have a lot of different products. So, it's 

hard to really put you know, exact number on that but 17 to 25 is what we're looking at right now. And 

we're similar price point starting in the low threes. Obviously, that's subject to change based on market 

conditions. 

Commissioner Howell asked would there be any ranch homes, and would they be handicap accessible 

houses? 

Mr. Karski stated Yes, all the active. He mentioned the active adult that's all going to be ranch product. 

So, we call it age targeted. It's not restricted by any means, but all our ranch product is a little bit has a 

couple higher end finishes and helps sell to the fifty-five and up community that may want that. Most I 

will say will probably be slab houses. Yes, there could be some basements in there as well depending on 

how grading works. Some handicap accessible but can't guarantee. 

Chairman Raines asked what type of building materials would have on the exterior. 

Mr. Karski stated right now we haven't completely selected that. We are open to projecting all hardee 

board if that's what is required with a developer's agreement. But we will typically have a mix of exterior 

facades with a mix of stone and hardee board and in certain locations vinyl. 

No one spoke in favor or opposition to the rezoning request. 

Chairman Raines stated my only concern with this is going back to the previous issue, which is the size of 

it, but we have an 8 to 10 year build out. That's a lot. There's a fair amount of time to prepare for what's 



coming in but I think the access is good. It's right off Hwy 9. And I think you're seeing keeping with some 

of the I don't know if you want to call them newer or some of the conceptual build out of places to where 

you do truly have a walking community have a school adjacent to it. Use property with the school for 

walking. You have a walking neighborhood and that type of stuff. I think it fits well with zoning from that 

standpoint of encouraging rather than a place to drive into and drive to the grocery store and be in your 

cars truly a community where you know your neighbors. Commissioner Hill motioned to approve, second 

by Commissioner Grant. Vote 6-0 Approved 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
--------------------------------(SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDING USE)--------------------------- 

SOUTH CAROLINA  ) DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
      ) MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPMENT 
CHESTER COUNTY   ) 

This DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered as of May ___, 2023 
(“Agreement Date”), by and among D.R. HORTON, INC., a Delaware corporation 
(“Developer”), and the CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (“County”), a body politic 
and corporate, a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (“State”), each a “Party,” 
collectively “Parties.” 

R E C I T A L S 

WHEREAS, Developer has obtained the right to acquire certain real property consisting of 
approximately 494 acres, located in County and known as the Magnolia Trace development and 
more fully described in Section 1.04 of this Agreement (“Property”); and 

WHEREAS, Developer has applied to County requesting that the Property be rezoned to 
Planned Development (PD); and 

WHEREAS, Developer and County have determined that it is in the best interests of County 
and Developer to enter this Agreement to set forth the terms and conditions of the development to 
achieve a well-coordinated, master planned development, reasonably mitigate any project impacts 
to the community and achieve predictability to County and Developer on the scope and terms of 
the development; and 

WHEREAS, Developer desires to obtain from County in connection with the development, 
and County is willing to provide, assurances: (1) that the Property will be zoned Planned 
Development (PD) for the duration of this Agreement, (2) that at receipt of Developer’s 
development and construction permits, Developer may proceed with the planned development and 
construction, and (3) that the Development Rights (defined below) will be vested for the duration 
of this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, in connection with the proposed development, Developer and County recognize 
that the scope and term of the planned development under this Agreement accomplish the statutory 
aims of comprehensive, orderly planning and development in County, thus providing benefits to 
the citizens of County and providing public benefits through, among other things, the donation of 
funds or financing of those public facilities and services described and identified in this 
Agreement: 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 2 OF 26 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the terms and conditions set forth 
in this Agreement, the receipt and sufficiency of such consideration being acknowledged by the 
parties, and pursuant to the South Carolina Local Government Development Agreement Act, 
codified in South Carolina Code Annotated sections 6-31-10 through and including -160, as 
amended (collectively, “Act”) and Chester County Ordinance No. 2021-12 (“Ordinance No. 2021-
12”), the parties to this Agreement, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
GENERAL 

Section 1.01. Incorporation. The above recitals are incorporated in this Agreement as if the 
recitals were set out in this Agreement in its entirety. The findings contained in the Act are 
incorporated into this Agreement as if it were set out in this Agreement in its entirety. 

Section 1.02. Definitions. 

(A) In addition to those vest pocket definitions contained throughout this Agreement, as used 
in this Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings: 

(1) “County Council” means the governing body of County. 

(2) “Development Rights” means the right of Developer to develop all or part of the 
Property in accordance with this Agreement. 

(3) “Ordinance No. 2021-12” means Ordinance No. 2021-12 of County which is cited 
as the Development Agreement Ordinance for Chester County, South Carolina. 

(4) “UDO” means the Land Development Ordinance, enacted June 3, 1996, as 
amended to be the most current adopted version on file with the County. 

(B) Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, terms not otherwise defined in this 
Agreement have the meanings set forth in the Act and Ordinance No. 2021-12 or the UDO. 

Section 1.03. Parties. The Parties to this Agreement are County and Developer. 

Section 1.04. Property. This Agreement applies to four parcels of land identified as Tax Map 
Nos. 135-00-00-019-00, 135-00-00-020-00, 135-00-00-032-00 and 136-00-00-042-000, which is 
reflected on Exhibit A, attached hereto, and incorporated herein by reference as if the exhibit were 
set out in this Agreement in its entirety. 

Section 1.05. Zoning. The Property is currently zoned Limited Industrial District (ID-2) and 
is anticipated to be rezoned Planned Development (PD) pursuant to Ordinance No. 2022-____. 

Section 1.06. Development Program.  

(A) The UDO provides for the development uses on the Property, including population 
densities, building intensities and height. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 3 OF 26 

 

(B) All lots for the Development must meet all standards contained in the most current version 
of the UDO unless otherwise modified by this Agreement. In the event of conflict between the 
standards contained in the UDO and this Agreement, the terms of this Agreement control. The 
Development Program for the Property is set forth in Exhibit B, attached hereto and incorporated 
herein by reference as if the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its entirety 

Section 1.07. Development Schedule. 

(A) The estimated development schedule for the Property is set forth on Exhibit C, attached 
hereto and incorporated herein by reference as if the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its 
entirety. 

(B) County and Developer acknowledge that the development schedule is an estimate. The 
failure of Developer to meet a commencement or completion date does not, in and of itself, 
constitute a material breach of this Agreement, but must be judged based on the totality of the 
circumstances. The development schedule is a planning and forecasting tool only. County and 
Developer acknowledge that actual development is likely to take place at a different pace than set 
forth in the development schedule because of future market forces. 

(C) County agrees that if Developer requests an adjustment to the development schedule, 
including commencement dates and interim completion dates, then the dates must be modified if 
Developer is able to demonstrate and establish that there is good cause to modify those dates. 
“Good cause” includes, but is not limited to, changes in market conditions, provided, however, 
under no circumstances shall (i) commencement of construction occur on or after a date that is two 
years from the Agreement Date.  Without modification, the Developer must apply for and be 
approved for the appropriate building permits within two years from the Agreement Date or the 
zoning will revert back to the original classification.   

(D) Periodic adjustments to the development schedule do not require a formal amendment to 
this Agreement and are not considered a major modification. To adjust the development schedule, 
Developer shall submit a proposed adjustment to the Clerk to Council who shall forward copies of 
the proposed adjustment to each member of County Council. The proposed adjustment must be 
accompanied by an explanation and justification. The proposed adjustment is effective 60 days 
from receipt by the Clerk to Council unless County Council has disapproved the proposed 
adjustment by adoption of a resolution to that effect within the 60-day period.  

Section 1.08. Relationship of Parties. This Agreement creates a contractual relationship 
between the Parties. This Agreement is not intended to create, and does not create the relationship 
of partnership, joint venture, or any other relationship wherein any one of the parties may be held 
responsible for the acts of any other party. This Agreement is not intended to create and does not 
create a relationship whereby any one of the parties may be rendered liable in any manner for the 
debts or obligations of any other party, to any person or entity whatsoever, whether the debt or 
obligation arises under this Agreement or outside of this Agreement. 

 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 4 OF 26 

 

Section 1.09. Benefits and Burdens.  

(A) The Parties agree that the burdens of this Agreement are binding upon, and the benefits of 
this Agreement shall inure to, all successors in interests to the Parties to this Agreement. 

(B) Except for the owners and lessees of completed residences on individual lots who are the 
end users and not developers thereof and the owners and lessees of individual lots, who are not 
developers and who intend to build a residence on the lot for the owner or lessee to occupy, any 
purchaser or other successor in title is responsible for performance of Developer’s obligations 
pursuant to this Agreement as to the portion of the Property so transferred. Developer must give 
notice to County of the transfer of property to a developer in the manner prescribed in section 3.05. 

(C) Developer acknowledges and agrees that it and its successors and assigns (i) are responsible 
for the development of the Property when Developer acquires title to or Development Rights for 
the Property, and (ii) will develop the Property in accordance with the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement, and (iii) acknowledge agricultural activities, including, but not limited to, production 
of crops, animal husbandry, land application of animal waste, the raising, breeding, and sale of 
livestock and poultry, including confinement feeding operations, use of farm machinery, and the 
sale of farm products may be practiced and take place in the area of the Property. The Developer 
stipulates and will include such notice of agricultural activities in the homeowners’ association 
documents and restrictive covenants, and more specifically in a standalone restrictive covenant, 
for the Property so all subsequent owners are aware of such agricultural activities. The Developer 
shall remain fully vested with all of the rights, benefits, and privileges arising out of this Agreement 
during the Term of this Agreement except as may be assigned for assumed from time to time 
consistent with this Agreement. 

Section 1.10. Term. The term of this Agreement commences on the Agreement Date and 
terminates ten (10) years thereafter, such that at the end of the 10-year term, Developer no longer 
has any Development Rights, vested rights, and/or any other rights in the Property that arise out 
of or relate to this Agreement. 

Section 1.11. Required Information. Ordinance No. 2021-12 requires a development 
agreement to include certain information. Exhibit D contains the required information or identifies 
where the information may be found in this Agreement. Exhibit D is attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by reference as if the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its entirety. 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.01. Representations and Warranties of County.  

(A) County has found that the development permitted by this Agreement is consistent with 
County’s comprehensive plan and UDO.  

(B) County has approved this Agreement by adoption of Ordinance No. 2022-___ in 
accordance with the procedural requirements of the Act, Ordinance No. ___ and any other  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 5 OF 26 

 

applicable state law. 

(C) County represents that prior to the final reading of Ordinance No. 2022-____ that at least 
two public hearings were held after publication of the required notice and the publication of a 
notice of intent to consider a proposed development agreement. 

Section 2.02. Representations and Warranties of Developer.  

(A) Developer represents that the number of acres of highland contained in the Property is 
greater than 250 acres. 

(B) Developer represents that, as of the Agreement Date, it has contractual rights to acquire the 
Property. 

(C) Developer represents and warrants that the execution, delivery, and performance by the 
respective individual or entity signing this Agreement on behalf of the party has been duly 
authorized and approved by all requisite action on the part of Developer. 

ARTICLE III 
DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS 

Section 3.01. Vested Right to Develop.  

(A) County agrees that Developer, upon receipt of its development permits as identified in 
section 3.04, may proceed to develop the Property according to this Agreement and the UDO. The 
right of Developer to develop the Property as set forth in this Agreement is deemed vested with 
Developer for the term of this Agreement when Developer has complied with all requirements of 
section 5.19 of this Agreement.  

(B) County agrees that the specific Laws and Land Development Regulations in force as of the 
Agreement Date as set forth in Exhibit E to this Agreement, attached hereto and incorporated 
herein by reference as if the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its entirety, shall govern all 
aspects of the development of the Property, according to this Agreement, for the term of this 
Agreement. 

(C) Developer has a vested right to proceed with the development of the Property in accordance 
with the zoning classification set forth in Ordinance No. 2022-_____, the UDO and the terms of 
this Agreement if and only if Developer has complied with all the requirements of section 5.19 of 
this Agreement.  

(D) To the extent that this Agreement may contain zoning and development standards which 
conflict with existing zoning and development standards, including zoning and development 
standards contained in the UDO, the standards contained in this Agreement supersede all other 
standards and this Agreement is deemed controlling. 

(E) Developer acknowledges that County shall not accept financial guarantees for water, sewer 
and storm water infrastructure and the water, sewer and storm water infrastructure must be  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 6 OF 26 

 

installed, tested and in acceptable condition before final plat approval.  

Section 3.02. Effect on Vested Rights Act and County Ordinance No. []. The Parties agree 
that vested rights conferred upon Developer in this Agreement are not affected by the provisions 
of the Vested Rights Act, codified as South Carolina Code Annotated sections 6-29-1510 through 
and included –1560, as amended, or the provisions of Ordinance No. [], County’s ordinance 
relating to the Vested Rights Act. 

Section 3.03. Applicability of Subsequently Adopted Laws and Land Development 
Regulations.  

(A) It is recognized that laws and regulations will periodically change. County may apply laws 
adopted after the execution of this Agreement to the development of the Property unless said 
adopted laws prevent development in the manner set forth in this Agreement.  

(B) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (A) of this Section, County agrees that if 
County imposes a moratorium or other similar restriction that would curtail or hinder the rate at 
which development can occur, then the moratorium or other similar restriction shall not apply to 
the Development of the Property. 

(C) Developer agrees to comply with any county-wide storm water regulations, building, 
housing, electrical, plumbing, and gas codes adopted by County after the Agreement Date and in 
force at the time plans for buildings are submitted to County for review. Nothing in this Agreement 
is intended to supersede or contravene the requirements of any storm water, building, housing, 
electrical, plumbing, or gas code adopted by County. 

Section 3.04. Development Permits.  

(A) Notwithstanding this Agreement, Developer shall obtain all local development permits for 
the development of the Property. Local development permits, approvals, and processes, some of 
which may have been obtained or complied with as of the Agreement Date, may include, but are 
not limited to: 

(1) Site Plan approval; 

(2) Preliminary plan approval 

(3) Final plat approval; 

(4) Zoning permits; 

(5) Building permits; and 

(6) Sign permits. 

(B) The failure of this Agreement to address a particular permit, condition, term, or restriction 
does not relieve Developer of the necessity of complying with the law governing the permitting 
requirements, conditions, terms, or restrictions. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 7 OF 26 

 

Section 3.05. Non-Transfer of Development Rights. Developer is not permitted to transfer 
its Development Rights to other developers. This provision does not apply to the purchaser or other 
successor in title to Developer who is the owner or lessee of a completed residence and is the end 
user and not Developer thereof or who is the owner or lessee of an individual lot, who is not a 
developer and who intends to build a residence on the lot for the owner or lessee to occupy. Any 
purported transfer of rights to a subsequent developer is a breach of, and voids, this Agreement. 

ARTICLE IV 
DEDICATIONS AND FEES AND RELATED AGREEMENTS 

Section 4.01. Purpose of Article. The Parties understand and agree that Development of the 
Property imposes certain burdens and costs on County, including those for certain services and 
infrastructure improvements. Eventually, ad valorem taxes collected from the property may, but 
are not necessarily guaranteed to, meet, or exceed the burdens and costs placed on County, but 
certain initial costs and capital expenditures are now required that are not to be funded by any 
increase in taxes paid by existing residents of County. The purpose of this article is to identify the 
matters agreed upon to be provided by Developer to mitigate such burdens and costs. 

Section 4.02. Other Charges or Fees. 

(A) The Property shall be subject to development and/or permit fees enacted by the County that 
are in effect on the Agreement Date, of County-wide application and that relate to the County’s 
costs of processing applications, issuing development permits, reviewing plans, conducting 
inspections, or similar type processing costs. The property shall not be subject to any additional 
development and/or permit fees enacted by the County after the Agreement Date, however 
characterized. 

(B) All units and attached dwellings shall be subject to a development fee in the amount of 
$5,000 per lot, payable by the building permit applicant to the County at the time of issuance of 
each respective building permit. 

Section 4.03. Infrastructure and Services. The Parties recognize that most of the direct costs 
associated with the Development of the Property will be borne by Developer, and many necessary 
infrastructure improvements and services will be provided by Developer or other governmental or 
quasi-governmental entities, and not by County. For clarification, the Parties make specific note 
of and acknowledge the following:  

(A) Roads. Developer is responsible for the construction and costs of all roads, whether for 
public or private use, within the Property including but not limited to any necessary entrance and 
intersection improvements as required by the South Carolina Department of Transportation related 
to the development of the Property. All roads must be constructed in accordance with County’s 
road standards. The road improvements are expected to be implemented on a schedule consistent 
with the development of the Property as contained in the development schedule and as necessary 
to serve the development. Developer is also responsible for maintenance of all roads that are not 
public roads. Developer acknowledges that County will only accept as public roads those roads 
constructed in full compliance with the UDO and providing connectivity to County road system  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 8 OF 26 

 

or serving as a necessary component for the proper development of County road system. County 
will not accept the roads within the Property into County road system for any other purpose, 
including, but not limited to, maintenance. Developer may transfer the ownership of the roads and 
its obligations for the roads to a homeowners’ or property owners’ association or similar 
organization. 

(B) Potable Water, Sewage Treatment, and Disposal. Potable water, sewage treatment and 
disposal will all be supplied to the Property by one or more of the following Chester Municipal 
District, Chester Wastewater Recovery, and/or some other public or private entity. Developer will 
construct, or cause to be constructed, all necessary water and sewer service infrastructure within 
the Property and the water and sewer service infrastructure will be maintained by the appropriate 
provider and not County. County is not responsible for any construction, treatment, maintenance, 
or costs associated with water or sewer service or water and sewer service infrastructure to or 
within the Property. The water and/or sewer service infrastructure is expected to be implemented 
on a schedule consistent with the development of the Property as contained in the development 
schedule and as necessary to serve the development. Developer acknowledges that County has no 
authority or responsibility for providing potable water services or sewer services in County and 
that each service provider is a separate apart and distinct from County over which County has no 
control. 

(C) Storm Water Management. Developer will construct or cause to be constructed all storm 
water runoff and drainage improvements within the Property required by the development of the 
Property and such infrastructure will be maintained by Developer or a homeowners’ association. 
County is not responsible for any construction, maintenance or costs associated with the storm 
water runoff and drainage for the Property. Storm water management improvements are expected 
to be implemented on a schedule consistent with the development of the Property as contained in 
the development schedule and as necessary to serve the development. 

(D) Solid Waste Collection. County shall provide solid waste collection to the Property on the 
same basis as is provided to other residents and businesses in County. It is understood and 
acknowledged that County does not presently provide solid waste disposal for single, multi-family 
or commercial developments. Residential units shall be served by a private waste hauling 
company. 

(E) Fire Services. The Property is in Richburg Fire Protection District service area and fire 
services will be provided by the Richburg Fire Protection District, or its successor entities. 

(F) School Services. Public school services are now provided by the Chester County School 
District. Developer acknowledges that County has no authority or responsibility for providing 
public school services in County. 

ARTICLE V 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 5.01. Notices. Any notice, election, demand, request or other communication to be 
provided under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be effective (i) when delivered to the  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 9 OF 26 

 

party named below, (ii) when deposited with the United States Postal Service, certified mail, return 
receipt requested, postage prepaid, or (iii) when deposited in Federal Express (or any other 
reputable national “next day” delivery service) addressed as follows (or addressed to such other 
address as any party shall have previously furnished in writing to the other party), except where 
the terms hereof require receipt rather than sending of any notice, in which case such provision 
shall control: 

To County:  Chester County, South Carolina 
Attn: Brian Hester, County Administrator 

   1476 J.A. Cochran Bypass (hand delivery/courier service) 
Post Office Box 580 

   Chester, South Carolina 29706 

With a Copy to (does not constitute notice): 

     Winters Law Firm 
   Attn: Joan E. Winters, Esq. 
   105 Main Street (hand delivery/courier service) 
   Post Office Box 127 
   Chester, South Carolina 29706 

And to Developer:  

D.R. Horton, Inc. 
    Attn: Troy Karski 
    8025 Arrowridge Blvd. 

Charlotte, NC 28273 
 

 
 
With a Copy to: Morton & Gettys, LLC 

    Daniel J. Ballou, Esquire 
    301 E. Main St., Suite 300 (29730) 
    P.O. Box 707 (29731) 
    Rock Hill, SC  
 

 

 

Section 5.02. Amendments.  

(A) This Agreement may be amended or cancelled by mutual consent of the parties to the 
Agreement. An amendment to this Agreement must be in writing. No statement, action or 
agreement made after the Agreement Date shall be effective to change, amend, waive, modify, 
discharge, terminate or effect an abandonment of this Agreement in whole or in part unless such  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 10 OF 26 

 

statement, action or agreement is in writing and signed by the party against whom the change, 
amendment, waiver, modification, discharge, termination, or abandonment is sought to be 
enforced.  

(B) An amendment to this Agreement with the exceptions identified for Exhibit B, must be 
processed, and considered in the same manner as set forth in Ordinance No. 2021-12 for a proposed 
development agreement. Any amendment to this Agreement constitutes a major modification and 
the major modification may occur only after public notice and a public hearing by County Council. 

(C) This Agreement must be modified or suspended as may be necessary to comply with any 
state or federal laws or regulations enacted after the Agreement Date which prevents or precludes 
compliance with one or more of the provisions of this Agreement but only to the extent necessary 
to effectuate compliance with the state or federal law. 

Section 5.03. Periodic Review. At least every 12 months, the Planning Director for County, 
or the designee of the Planning Director for County, must review compliance with this Agreement 
by Developer. At the time of review Developer must demonstrate good faith compliance with the 
terms of the Agreement. 

Section 5.04. Breach of Agreement. 

(A) If, as a result of the periodic review provided in section 5.03 of this Agreement or at any 
other time, the Planning Director for County, or the Planning Director’s designee, determines that 
Developer has committed a breach of the terms or conditions of this Agreement, then the Planning 
Director for County shall serve notice in writing, within a reasonable time after the periodic review, 
on Developer setting forth the nature of the breach and the information supporting the 
determination, and providing Developer a reasonable time in which to cure the breach. 

(B) If Developer fails to cure the breach within a reasonable time and is not proceeding 
expeditiously and with diligence to cure the breach, then County may unilaterally terminate or 
modify this Agreement. Prior to terminating or modifying this Agreement as provided in this 
section, County Council must first give Developer the opportunity (i) to rebut the determination, 
or (ii) to consent to amend the Agreement to meet the County’s concerns with respect to the 
determination. 

Section 5.05. Enforcement. The Parties shall each have the right to enforce this Agreement, 
if not cured within the applicable cure period, by any remedy available at law or in equity, 
including specific performance, and the right to recover attorney’s fees and costs associated with 
enforcement. 

Section 5.06. No Third-Party Beneficiary. The provisions of this Agreement may be 
enforced only by the Parties. No other persons, natural or corporate, shall have any rights 
hereunder. 

Section 5.07. Recording of Agreement. The Parties agree that Developer shall record this 
Agreement with County Clerk of Court within 14 days of the date of execution of this Agreement. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 11 OF 26 

 

Section 5.08. Administration of Agreement. County is the only local government that is a 
party to this Agreement and County is responsible for the Agreement’s administration. 

Section 5.09. Effect of Annexation and Incorporation. The Parties agree that this Agreement 
remains in effect if the Property is, in whole or in part, included in any municipality. The Parties 
acknowledge that upon incorporation or annexation the application and duration of this Agreement 
is controlled by section 6-31-110 of the Act. County reserves the right to enter into an agreement 
with the newly incorporated municipality or the annexing municipality for the administration and 
enforcement of this Agreement after the date of incorporation or annexation. 

Section 5.10. Estoppel Certificate. Any of the Parties may, at any time, and from time to time, 
deliver written notice to the other party requesting the party to certify in writing: (i) that this 
Agreement is in full force and effect, (ii) that this Agreement has not been amended or modified, 
or if so amended, identifying the amendments, and (iii) whether, to the knowledge of the party, 
without inquiry, the requesting party is in default or claimed default in the performance of its 
obligation under this Agreement, and, if so, describing the nature and amount, if any, of any such 
default or claimed default, and (iv) whether, to the knowledge of the party, without inquiry, any 
event has occurred or failed to occur which, with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or 
both, would constitute a default and, if so, specifying each such event. 

Section 5.11. Entire Agreement. This Agreement sets forth, and incorporates by reference all 
the agreements, conditions, and understandings among the Parties relative to the Property and its 
Development and there are no promises, agreements, conditions, or understandings, oral or written, 
expressed or implied, among the Parties relative to the matters addressed in this Agreement other 
than as set forth or as referred to in this Agreement. 

Section 5.12. Covenant to Sign other Documents. County and Developer acknowledge that 
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement may require the execution 
contemporaneously with the execution of this Agreement and thereafter of certain documents in 
addition to this Agreement and County and Developer agree to cooperate with the execution 
thereof. 
 

Section 5.13. Construction of Agreement. The Parties agree that each party and its counsel 
have reviewed and revised this Agreement and that any rule of construction to the effect that 
ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall not apply in the interpretation of this 
Agreement or any amendments or exhibits to this Agreement. 

Section 5.14. Assignment. The rights, obligations, duties, and responsibilities devolved by this 
Agreement on or to Developer are assignable to any other person, firm, corporation, or entity  
except that the assignment must conform to the requirements of section 1.09 and section 3.05. 
County may assign its rights, obligations, duties, and responsibilities devolved by this Agreement 
on or to County to any other person, firm, corporation, or entity. 

Section 5.15. Governing Law; Jurisdiction; and Venue.  

(A) This Agreement is governed by the laws of the State of South Carolina. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 12 OF 26 

 

(B) The Parties agree that jurisdiction and venue for disputes relating to this Agreement is the 
6th Judicial Circuit of the State of South Carolina. 

Section 5.16. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts in 
original, facsimile, or electronic means, provided such means of execution are sufficient for 
recording, each of which shall be deemed an original, and such counterparts shall constitute but 
one and the same instrument. 

Section 5.17. Eminent Domain. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall limit, impair, or 
restrict County’s right and power of eminent domain under the laws of the State. 

Section 5.18. Severability. If any provision in this Agreement or the application of any 
provision of this Agreement is unenforceable, then that unenforceability shall apply only to the 
unenforceable provision, and the remaining provisions of this Agreement, and the application of 
this Agreement or any other provision of this Agreement, shall remain in full force and effect. 
However, if the unenforceable provision would prevent or materially impair County’s and 
Developer’s right or ability to complete performance of this Agreement, then the Parties agree to 
use their best efforts to renegotiate that provision to provide the affected party with the ability 
completely to perform this Agreement. 

Section 5.19. When Agreement takes Effect. This Agreement is dated as of the Agreement Date 
and takes effect when (i) County and Developer have each executed the Agreement, and (ii) 
Developer has delivered to County Administrator clocked-in copies, with book and page numbers, 
of the recorded deeds conveying the Property to Developer. If County Administrator has not 
received clocked-in copies of the deeds conveying the Property to Developer by 5:00 p.m., June 
20, 2023, then this Agreement is automatically terminated without further action of either County  
or Developer. The obligation of Developer pursuant to section 4.02 is effective on the date the last 
Party to sign this Agreement executes this Agreement and the obligations imposed on Developer 
pursuant to section 4.02 survives the termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Section. 
 

(C) An Indemnified Party may not avail itself of the indemnification or reimbursement of costs 
provided in this Section unless it provides the Developer with prompt notice, reasonable under the 
circumstances, of the existence or threat of any claim or liability, including, without limitation, 
copies of any citations, orders, fines, charges, remediation requests, or other claims or threats of 
claims, in order to afford the Developer notice, reasonable under the circumstances, within which 
to defend or otherwise respond to a claim. 

Section 5.20. Indemnification Covenants. 
(A) Except as provided in paragraph (d) below, the Developer shall indemnify and save the 

County, its employees, elected officials, officers and agents (each, an “Indemnified Party”) 
harmless against and from all liability or claims arising from the County’s execution of this 
Agreement, performance of the County’s obligations under this Agreement or the 
administration of its duties pursuant to this Agreement, or otherwise by virtue of the County 
having entered into this Agreement. 

 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 13 OF 26 

 
(B) The County is entitled to use counsel of its choice and the Developer shall reimburse the 

County for all its costs, including attorneys’ fees, incurred in connection with the response to or 
defense against such liability or claims as described in paragraph (a), above. The County shall 
provide a statement of the costs incurred in the response or defense, and the Developer shall pay 
the County within 30 days of receipt of the statement. The Developer may request reasonable 
documentation evidencing the costs shown on the statement. However, the County is not 
required to provide any documentation which may be privileged or confidential to evidence the 
costs. 

 
(C) The County may request the Developer to resist or defend against any claim on 

behalf of an Indemnified Party. On such request, the Developer shall resist or defend against 
such claim on behalf of the Indemnified Party, at the Developer’s expense. The Developer is 
entitled to use counsel of its choice, manage, and control the defense of or response to such 
claim for the Indemnified Party; provided the Developer is not entitled to settle any such claim 
without the consent of that Indemnified Party. 

 
(D) Notwithstanding anything in this Section or this Agreement to the contrary, the 

Developer is not required to indemnify any Indemnified Party against or reimburse the County 
for costs arising from any claim or liability (i) occasioned by the acts of that Indemnified Party, 
which are unrelated to the execution of this Agreement, performance of the County’s obligations 
under this Agreement, or the administration of its duties under this Agreement, or otherwise by 
virtue of the County having entered into this Agreement; or 
(ii) resulting from that Indemnified Party’s own negligence, bad faith, fraud, deceit, or willful 
misconduct. 
 

(E) An Indemnified Party may not avail itself of the indemnification or reimbursement of 
costs provided in this Section unless it provides the Developer with prompt notice, reasonable 
under the circumstances, of the existence or threat of any claim or liability, including, without 
limitation, copies of any citations, orders, fines, charges, remediation requests, or other claims 
or threats of claims, in order to afford the Developer notice, reasonable under the 
circumstances, to defend or otherwise respond to a claim. 

Section 5.21.   General Terms and Conditions. 
 

(A) Agreements to Run with the Land.  This Agreement shall be recorded against the Property 
as described in Exhibit A.  The agreements contained herein shall be deemed to run with the land.   

 
(B) No Waiver.  Failure of a Party hereto to exercise any right hereunder shall not be deemed 

a waiver of any such right and shall not affect the right of such Party to exercise at some future 
time said right or any other right it may have hereunder.   

 
(C) Merger.  This Agreement, coupled with its Exhibits which are incorporated herein by 

reference, shall state the final and complete expression of the Parties’ intentions with respect to 
the matters set forth herein.  All prior negotiations and representations are superseded and merged 
herein. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 14 OF 26 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[TWO SIGNATURE PAGES AND [] EXHIBITS FOLLOW] 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 

  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 15 OF 26 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the first date 
written above. 

WITNESSES:      DEVELOPER: 
       D.R. HORTON 
       A Delaware Corporation 
Name: 

              
Name:       By: 
       Its: 

STATE OF      ) 
      )  ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
COUNTY OF     ) 

[], who personally appeared before me and proved to me through government-issued photo 
identification to be the above-named person and acknowledged the execution and delivery of the 
within name Development Agreement and that s/he executed and delivered the same as his/her 
own free act and deed. 

Dated:              

Notary Public for the State of     

My commission expires:     
[NOTARIAL SEAL] 

  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 16 OF 26 

 
WITNESSES:      COUNTY: 
       CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, 
       a political subdivision of the State of South 
Carolina 
 
Name: 

              
Name:       By: Brian Hester 
       Its: County Administrator 

[COUNTY SEAL] 
Attest: 

       
Karen Lee 
Clerk to County Council 

SOUTH CAROLINA   ) 
      )  ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
CHESTER COUNTY   ) 

Brian Hester, who personally appeared before me and proved to me through government-
issued photo identification to be the above-named person and acknowledged the execution and 
delivery of the within name Development Agreement and that s/he executed and delivered the 
same as his/her own free act and deed. 

Dated:              

Notary Public for the State of     

My commission expires:     
[NOTARIAL SEAL] 

  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 17 OF 26 

EXHIBIT A 
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

[TO BE COMPLETED PRIOR TO EXECUTION] 

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 
  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 18 OF 26 

EXHIBIT B 
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 

1. Master Plan: The Master Plan shall serve as the general guide for the location of roads, 
buildings, and other development features. The Property shall be generally developed consistent 
with the approved Master Plan and associated exhibits unless otherwise modified consistent with 
the terms of the Agreement. 

2. Zoning District: The Property, once rezoned, will be in the [] zoning district and shall be 
developed consistent with the provisions of the applicable zoning restrictions/requirements unless 
otherwise specified in the Agreement 

3. Permitted Uses: The Property shall be permitted to be developed with all uses permitted 
within the applicable zoning district(s) and not identified as being prohibited. The permitted 
location of said uses on the Property shall be identified on the approved Master Plan.  

4. Prohibited Uses: The following uses shall not be permitted on the Property regardless of 
the provisions contained in the UDO: gas station, vape lounge, and gaming.  

5. Dimensional Requirements: The Property shall comply with the dimensional requirements 
(i.e., building setbacks, height, and related provisions) specified in the UDO and noted in the table 
below.  

MODIFIED MINIMUM DIMENSIONAL STANDARDS* 

      

      

*In addition to the lot dimensions referenced above, the residential garage shall be set back a 
minimum of [] feet from the front façade of the house or [] from the edge of the right-of way for 
front-loaded single-family detached homes and townhomes, whichever is greater. Placement of 
single-family detached homes and townhome units shall be staggered. 

6. Maximum Development Intensity: The maximum number of residential units on the 
Property shall be limited as specified below in the table.  

  

  

  

7. Residential Section – Site Layout and Architecture  

a. General Site Layout: 

b. Architecture: Homes shall be constructed with a mix of materials including brick, 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 19 OF 26 

stone, and/or cementitious siding (i.e., Hardie). Vinyl siding shall not be permitted as a primary 
wall material but may be used for minor accent areas.  

8. Commercial Section-Site Layout and Architecture:  

a. General Site Layout: 

b. Architectural Design and Materials: 

9. Open Space and Landscaping 

a. Open Space Quantity and Design:  

b. Open Space Amenity Features (including timing):  

c. Tree Preservation and Protection:  

d. Buffers: 

e. Pump Station Screening:  

f. Landscaped Medians:  

g. BMP Design/Landscaping:  

10. Transportation:  

a. Offsite Improvements:  

b. Onsite Improvements: 

11. Modification of Development Program: It is recognized that periodic modifications to the 
Development Program may be needed to address market conditions, environmental challenges, 
and other elements. The following will outline the processes for Minor, Moderate, and Major 
Modifications to Exhibit B. Modifications to other sections of the Agreement will be processed in 
accordance with those provisions.  

a. Minor Modifications: Minor Modifications are defined as those modifications that reflect 
minor adjustments to the site layout caused by environmental features, adaptations to comply with 
regulatory requirements, and other changes considered incidental by County staff. Generally, 
Minor Modifications shall only be to the Master Plan and not to a specific development standard 
set forth within Exhibit B. The Planning Director shall determine what shall constitute a Minor 
Modification and have the authority to administratively approve such. 

b. Moderate Modifications: Moderate Modifications are those modification to the Master 
Plan that are not caused by environmental features, adaptations to comply with regulatory 
requirements, and are not considered by County staff to be incidental changes or are modifications 
to the text of Exhibit B that do not reflect the inclusion of new land use categories, increases to 
maximum dwelling units or square footage allowances. Moderate Modifications may be approved 
by the County Council after a review and recommendation is provided by County Staff. Approved 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 20 OF 26 

Moderate Modifications shall be recorded by Developer and made an amendment to Exhibit B. 

c. Major Modifications: Major Modifications are those that do not qualify as either a Minor 
or Moderate Modification, such as a substantive changes in the location of land uses or the addition 
of new external access point to the public road system. Major Modifications must be processed 
and considered in the same manner as set forth in Ordinance No. 2021-12 for a proposed 
development agreement.  

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 21 OF 26 

EXHIBIT C 
DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE 

[TO BE COMPLETED PRIOR TO EXECUTION] 

This estimated Development Schedule is subject to update according to section 1.07. 

Notwithstanding any other part of this Agreement, Property’s development is limited to [] 
residential units. 

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 22 OF 26 

EXHIBIT D 
REQUIRED INFORMATION 

The Act and Ordinance No. [] require a development agreement to include certain information. 
The following information is provided in conformance with the Act and Ordinance No. []. 

(A) a legal description of the property subject to the agreement and the names of the property’s 
legal and equitable owners. The legal description of the Property is set forth in Exhibit A. As of 
the Agreement Date, [owner], is the legal and equitable owner of the Property, except to the extent 
that Developer has contractual rights to acquire the Property. 

(B) the duration of the agreement which must comply with section 6-31-40 of the Act. See 
section 1.10. 

(C) a representation by Developer of the number of acres of highland contained in the property 
subject to the agreement. See section 2.02. 

(D) the then current zoning of the property and a statement, if applicable, of any proposed re-
zoning of the property. See section 1.05.  

(E) the development uses that would be permitted on the property pursuant to the agreement, 
including population densities, building intensities, and height. See section 1.06. 

(F) a description of the public facilities that will service the development, including who 
provides the facilities, the date any new facilities, if needed, will be constructed, and a schedule to 
assure public facilities are available concurrent with the impacts of the development construction 
timeline for those facilities. If the agreement provides that County shall provide certain public 
facilities, the agreement shall provide that the delivery date of the public facilities will be tied to 
defined completion percentages or other defined performance standards to be met by Developer. 
See article IV. 

(G) a description, where appropriate, of any reservation or dedication of land for public 
purposes and any provisions to protect environmentally sensitive property as may be required or 
permitted pursuant to laws in effect at the time of entering into the agreement. Developer shall 
comply with all applicable environmental laws. 

(H) a description of all local development permits approved or needed to be approved for the 
development of the property together with a statement indicating that the failure of the agreement 
to address a particular permit, condition, term, or restriction does not relieve Developer of the 
necessity of complying with the law governing the permitting requirements, conditions, terms, or 
restrictions. See section 3.04. 

(I) a finding that the development permitted or proposed is consistent or will be consistent by 
the time of execution of the agreement, with County’s comprehensive plan and land development 
regulations. See section 2.01(A). 

(J) a description, where appropriate, of any provisions for the preservation and restoration of 
historic structures. Developer shall comply with all laws applicable to the preservation and 
restoration of historic structures within the Property. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 23 OF 26 

(K) a development schedule including commencement dates and interim completion dates at 
no greater than five-year intervals. See section 1.07 and Exhibit C. 

(L) if more than one local government is made party to the agreement, a provision stating 
which local government is responsible for the overall administration of the agreement. See section 
5.08. 

(M) a listing of the laws and land development regulations that will apply to the development 
of the property subject to the agreement, including citation to specific ordinance numbers, portions 
of County Code of Ordinances, or both. See section 3.01(B) and Exhibit E. 

(N) a provision, consistent with section 6-31-80 of the Act, addressing the circumstances under 
which laws and land development regulations adopted after the execution of the agreement apply 
to the property subject to the agreement. See section 3.03. 

(O) a provision stating whether the agreement continues to apply to the property or portions 
of it that are annexed into a municipality or included in a newly incorporated area and, if so, that 
the provisions of section 6-31-110 of the Act apply. See section 5.09. 

(P) a provision relating to the amendment, cancellation, modification, or suspension of the 
agreement. See section 5.02. 

(Q) a provision for periodic review, consistent with the provisions of section 8 of Ordinance 
No. []. See section 5.03. 

(R) a provision addressing the effects of a material breach of the agreement, consistent with 
the provisions of section 9 of Ordinance No. []. See section 5.04. 

(S) a provision that Developer, within 14 days after County executes the Agreement, will 
record the Agreement with County Clerk of Court. See section 5.07. 

(T) a provision that the burdens of the Agreement are binding on, and the benefits of the 
Agreement shall inure to, County and Developer. See section 1.09(A). 

(U) a provision addressing the conditions and procedures by which the Agreement may be 
assigned, if applicable. See section 1.09(B), section 3.05, and section 5.14. 

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 24 OF 26 

EXHIBIT E 
LAWS AND LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

1. Ordinance No. 2022-[] zoning the Property as []. 

2. Ordinance No. 2022-[], approving this Development Agreement. 

3. Ordinance No. 2022-[], the Development Agreement Ordinance. 

4. Unified Development Ordinance of Chester County: Land Development Ordinance, 
enacted June 3, 1995, as amended as of the Agreement Date (“UDO”). The UDO includes 
Ordinance No. 2021-12, as amended, as of the Agreement Date and which is cited as the Land 
Development Regulations of Chester County. A copy of the UDO has been signed by the Parties 
and is on file in the office of County Planning Department.  

5. Land Development Regulations of Chester County: See Unified Development Ordinance 
of Chester County. 

6. Zoning Ordinance, enacted April 6, 1998, as amended. 

7. Article [], Chapter [], Chester County Code of Ordinances [] [] []. 

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 

 
  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 25 OF 26 

EXHIBIT F 
FORM REQUEST TO MODIFY DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE 

 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) ADDENDUM 
 ) TO 
COUNTY OF CHESTER ) DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

 
 

THIS ADDENDUM TO A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Addendum”) is made 
effective on the 

[insert recording date of Addendum] 

, by Chester County, a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina, and 

[insert Company Name, a ______________company, or its successor or assign] 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, [Company Name], a __________________ company (the “Property 
Owner”), is a party to that certain Development Agreement with CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH 
CAROLINA (the “County”), effective date of ______________, 20[], recorded on 
______________, 202[] in the office of Chester County Clerk of Court in Book _____, Page _____ 
(the “Development Agreement”); and 

[if applicable, insert successor or assign of ____________ as a Developer pursuant to an 
Assignment] 

WHEREAS, the Development Agreement is appurtenant to and runs with that certain real 
property situate in Chester County, South Carolina, as set forth on a legal description of the real 
property attached to the Development Agreement as Exhibit A (the “Property”); and 

WHEREAS, without limitation, Section 1.07. of the Development Agreement establishes 
a vested right in a Development Schedule, together with commencement, interim completion, and 
completion dates for development of the Property in accordance with the terms of the Development 
Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, without limitation, Section 1.07. of the Development Agreement provides 
that the 

[insert either Property Owner or Developer] 

(hereinafter the “Petitioner”) may request a modification in the Development Schedule of Section 
1.07. of the Development Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, Section 1.07. of the Development Agreement further provides that where the 
Petitioner demonstrates that there is good cause to modify the Development Schedule, the County 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 26 OF 26 

shall approve such request within 45 days of its submittal, and that such modification shall not 
constitute or require an amendment of the Development Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the Petitioner has requested, and the County has approved, a modification in 
the Development Schedule of Section 1.07. of the Development Agreement as more specifically 
set forth herein below with respect to the portion of the Property more specifically identified in the 
legal description attached hereto as Attachment A (the “Addendum Property”). 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Petitioner desires to execute and record this Addendum to the 
Development Agreement to modify the Development Schedule of Section 1.07. of the 
Development Agreement as follows: 

1. Modification of Development Phasing Schedule. The Development Schedule for the 
Addendum Property shall hereby be modified as follows: 

[insert description of the proposed modification, including a proposed schedule for the 
submittal of the Development Applications consistent with the proposed modification] 

2. Approval by County. This modification of the Development Schedule for the 
Addendum Property has been approved by the County as evidenced by the Planning Director’s 
signature and insignia imprinted below. This approval constitutes a finding by the County that the 
Petitioner has demonstrated good cause to modify the Development Schedule for the Addendum 
Property. 

  
[insert name] Planning Director’s Dated Stamp of Approval  
Chester County Planning Director 

3. Effect of Modification of Development Phasing Schedule. Except as specifically 
modified in this Addendum with respect to the Development Schedule for the Addendum Property, 
no other modification or amendment of the Development Agreement shall be effected by the 
recording of this Addendum, and all other terms and conditions of the Agreement shall remain in 
full force and effect. This Addendum shall be binding upon the County, the Petitioner, its 
successors and assigns, and shall run with the title to the Addendum Property. 

4. Recording Required. This Addendum shall be recorded by the Petitioner within 
fourteen (14) days of the date of County’s approval herein below. The modification of the 
Development Schedule shall be effective upon the recording of this Addendum, and this 
Addendum as recorded shall constitute conclusive evidence of the same. 

5. Authority. The Petitioner represents and warrants that this Addendum has been duly 
authorized by all necessary corporate action. 

[insert Section 6. only if Petitioner is not _______[company name]_______ or its  
successor in corporate interest] 

6. Consent by Property Owner. The undersigned Property Owner hereby consents to the 
modification of the Development Phasing Schedule for the Addendum Property:  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 27 OF 26 

 

Witness: Property Owner: 
  
    
Print Name:   By:   
 Print Name:   
  Its:   
Print Name:     

 
 
 
STATE OF   

COUNTY OF   

Personally appeared before me the undersigned witness who being duly sworn deposes and 
says that he/she saw the within named _______________, (name), the _______________ (title) of 
_______________ (Property Owner), _______________ (corporate form), sign, and as its act and 
deed deliver the foregoing instrument for the uses and purposes therein mentioned, and that he/she, 
together with _______________ (witness #2), the other witness subscribed above, witnessed the 
execution thereof. 

Sworn to before me this   
day of ________________, 20____ 
    
Notary Public for   (Witness #1 sign here) 
County, State of    

My Commission Expires:   

[NOTARIAL STAMP-SEAL] 

 

[Insert Signature Pages for Petitioner] 

[Insert Attachment A: Legal Description of Assignment Property] 































2

*** This is an EXTERNAL email. Please do not click on a link or open any attachments unless you are
confident it is from a trusted source. ***

Good afternoon Allison,

Please see the attached concept showing the additional NB through receiving lane continued to drop at the elementary
parent loop per the Addendum and also adding in a SB left lane at the parent loop to address the latest comment. Let us
know if this satisfies the concern raised. If so, we can add this in and finalize the Addendum.

Thank you!
Amy

Amy Massey, PE
Kimley-Hor

From: 
Sent: Friday, January 27, 2023 2:06 PM
To: 
Cc:

Subject: RE: Draft TIA Addendum - Magnolia Richburg (Chester County)

Good afternoon, Amy.

Thank you for sending the Draft TIA Addendum for the Magnolia Richburg development to the Department for
review.  We agree in concept with the responses provided, but one additional concern was raised by Mark Faulk that
needs to be addressed.  On Lewisville High School Road, there is potential for southbound vehicles coming from the
proposed development that are queued to turn left into the Elementary School’s parent loop to block buses from being
able to enter and exit the bus driveways for the Elementary School and the High School.  This queuing could also cause
delays for vehicles coming from the development making the through movement past the Elementary School on
Lewisville High School Road.

Mark Faulk is retired, so I copied David Meekins and Ashley Johnson (both with SCDOT) on this email.

Thank you,

Allison C. Love, AICP
Assistant District Permit Engineer – District 4
SC Department of Transportation



3

Safety 1st – Live By It!
Let ‘em Work, Let ‘em Live!

From: 
Sent: Monday, December 5, 2022 4:27 PM
To: Love, Allison C. 
Cc:

Subject: Draft TIA Addendum - Magnolia Richburg (Chester County)

*** This is an EXTERNAL email. Please do not click on a link or open any attachments unless you are
confident it is from a trusted source. ***

Hi Allison,

Hope all’s been well!

Please see the attached draft TIA Addendum responding to SCDOT comments. Spoiler alert: all recommendations stand
except for continuing the NB through lane further up Lewisville High School Road to drop as the NB right at the
Elementary School loop. This is due to the existing condition of afternoon queuing in the through lane.

If you could review and let us know if there are questions or additional input. If not, we can seal and submit to yall along
with the TIA to close out.

Thank you,
Amy

Amy Massey, PE
Kimley-Horn
704-287-3304

From: ove, Allison C. <
Sent: Friday, October 21, 2022 9:15 AM
To: Shirley, Thomas <
Cc: Massey, Amy 
Subject: RE: TIA Response - Magnolia Richburg Development Chester County

Good morning, Thomas.

The signal comment is a standard comment.  Alternative measures are not requested, but we are always open to
hearing your ideas if you see something that would work without adding more delay to the mainline.

The traffic count and queueing comment came from the traffic office in Columbia. They would like to have a full synchro
analysis plus visual observations.

Thank you,



4

Allison C. Love, AICP
Assistant District Permit Engineer – District 4
SC Department of Transportation

Safety 1st – Live By It!
Let ‘em Work, Let ‘em Live!

From: Shirley, Thomas 
Sent: Wednesday, October 19, 2022 5:42 PM
To: Love, Allison C. <
Cc: Massey, Amy 
Subject: FW: TIA Response - Magnolia Richburg Development Chester County

*** This is an EXTERNAL email. Please do not click on a link or open any attachments unless you are
confident it is from a trusted source. ***

Good evening Allison,

Hope you’re doing well! Left you a voicemail a couple days ago clarifying these comments. Trying to clarify:
1. Is the signal comment at N Main Street/SC 9 a standard comment or is the department requesting alternative

mitigation measures?
2. An additional traffic count and queueing observations were requested from 2-4PM. Is the department

requesting an additional analysis (using synchro) during that peak or would counts and visual observations
suffice?

Thanks!

Thomas Shirley, EIT
Kimley-Horn | 200 South Tryon Street, Suite 200, Charlotte, NC 28202
Direct: 9

From: Massey, Amy <
Sent: Friday, October 14, 2022 11:56 AM
To: Shirley, Thomas 
Subject: Fwd: TIA Response - Magnolia Richburg Development Chester County

Amy Massey, PE
Kimley-Horn
Sent from my iPhone

Begin forwarded message:



5

From: "Judd, Melissa R." <
Date: October 14, 2022 at 10:30:31 AM EDT
To: "Massey, Amy" <
Subject: TIA Response - Magnolia Richburg Development Chester County

Good Morning,

Please see attached TIA Response - Magnolia Richburg Development Chester County.

Thank you & have a blessed day.

Melissa R Judd
Administrative Assistant II
SC Department of Transportation
District 4 Engineering





















Lanes, Volumes, Timings Magnolia Richburg TIA
1: N Main Street/Lewisville Middle School Driveway & Lancaster Highway (SC 9)2022 Existing School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 5 364 73 6 457 7 48 3 4 6 1 5
Future Volume (vph) 5 364 73 6 457 7 48 3 4 6 1 5
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Lane Width (ft) 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 16 12 12 14 12
Storage Length (ft) 225 250 275 275 0 0 0 0
Storage Lanes 1 1 1 1 0 0 0 0
Taper Length (ft) 100 100 25 25
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.850 0.850 0.986 0.961
Flt Protected 0.950 0.950 0.962 0.972
Satd. Flow (prot) 1289 3343 1583 1770 3343 1029 0 1792 0 0 1069 0
Flt Permitted 0.950 0.950 0.962 0.972
Satd. Flow (perm) 1289 3343 1583 1770 3343 1029 0 1792 0 0 1069 0
Link Speed (mph) 35 35 35 25
Link Distance (ft) 1521 4522 1340 1310
Travel Time (s) 29.6 88.1 26.1 35.7
Peak Hour Factor 0.42 0.81 0.63 0.75 0.72 0.44 0.80 0.38 0.50 0.38 0.25 0.63
Heavy Vehicles (%) 40% 8% 2% 2% 8% 57% 10% 33% 25% 100% 100% 20%
Adj. Flow (vph) 12 449 116 8 635 16 60 8 8 16 4 8
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 12 449 116 8 635 16 0 76 0 0 28 0
Sign Control Free Free Stop Stop

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Control Type: Unsignalized
Intersection Capacity Utilization 24.3% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15



HCM 6th TWSC Magnolia Richburg TIA
1: N Main Street/Lewisville Middle School Driveway & Lancaster Highway (SC 9)2022 Existing School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.6

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 5 364 73 6 457 7 48 3 4 6 1 5
Future Vol, veh/h 5 364 73 6 457 7 48 3 4 6 1 5
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length 225 - 250 275 - 275 - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 1 - - 1 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 42 81 63 75 72 44 80 38 50 38 25 63
Heavy Vehicles, % 40 8 2 2 8 57 10 33 25 100 100 20
Mvmt Flow 12 449 116 8 635 16 60 8 8 16 4 8

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 651 0 0 565 0 0 809 1140 225 904 1240 318
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 473 473 - 651 651 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 336 667 - 253 589 -
Critical Hdwy 4.9 - - 4.14 - - 7.7 7.16 7.4 9.5 8.5 7.3
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.7 6.16 - 8.5 7.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.7 6.16 - 8.5 7.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.6 - - 2.22 - - 3.6 4.33 3.55 4.5 5 3.5
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 716 - - 1003 - - 258 158 712 123 81 627
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 520 485 - 251 282 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 630 386 - 513 309 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 716 - - 1003 - - 245 154 712 117 79 627
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 362 259 - 194 167 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 511 477 - 247 280 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 608 383 - 490 304 -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.2 0.1 17.4 22.4
HCM LOS C C

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 366 716 - - 1003 - - 235
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.207 0.017 - - 0.008 - - 0.118
HCM Control Delay (s) 17.4 10.1 - - 8.6 - - 22.4
HCM Lane LOS C B - - A - - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.8 0.1 - - 0 - - 0.4



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Magnolia Richburg TIA
2: Old Richburg Road/Lewisville High School Road & Lancaster Highway (SC 9)2022 Existing School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 75 294 5 24 278 28 8 20 46 50 39 176
Future Volume (vph) 75 294 5 24 278 28 8 20 46 50 39 176
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Lane Width (ft) 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 14 12 12 14 14
Storage Length (ft) 500 300 325 525 0 0 225 0
Storage Lanes 1 1 1 1 0 0 1 0
Taper Length (ft) 100 100 25 100
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.850 0.850 0.925 0.881
Flt Protected 0.950 0.950 0.994 0.950
Satd. Flow (prot) 1626 3282 1583 1492 3195 1553 0 1706 0 1703 1710 0
Flt Permitted 0.950 0.950 0.871 0.512
Satd. Flow (perm) 1626 3282 1583 1492 3195 1553 0 1495 0 918 1710 0
Right Turn on Red Yes Yes Yes Yes
Satd. Flow (RTOR) 234 234 60 304
Link Speed (mph) 45 45 50 35
Link Distance (ft) 4522 1303 1480 847
Travel Time (s) 68.5 19.7 20.2 16.5
Peak Hour Factor 0.46 0.92 0.63 0.43 0.76 0.78 0.67 0.56 0.77 0.42 0.36 0.42
Heavy Vehicles (%) 11% 10% 2% 21% 13% 4% 13% 5% 11% 6% 2% 5%
Adj. Flow (vph) 163 320 8 56 366 36 12 36 60 119 108 419
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 163 320 8 56 366 36 0 108 0 119 527 0
Turn Type Prot NA Perm Prot NA Perm Perm NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 1 6 5 2 4 3 8
Permitted Phases 6 2 4 8
Detector Phase 1 6 6 5 2 2 4 4 3 8
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 8.0 15.0 15.0 8.0 15.0 15.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0
Minimum Split (s) 15.0 22.0 22.0 15.0 22.0 22.0 15.0 15.0 15.0 15.0
Total Split (s) 17.0 25.0 25.0 15.0 23.0 23.0 15.0 15.0 15.0 30.0
Total Split (%) 24.3% 35.7% 35.7% 21.4% 32.9% 32.9% 21.4% 21.4% 21.4% 42.9%
Maximum Green (s) 11.0 19.0 19.0 9.0 17.0 17.0 9.0 9.0 9.0 24.0
Yellow Time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
All-Red Time (s) 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0
Lead/Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead Lag Lag Lag Lag Lead
Lead-Lag Optimize?
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Recall Mode Min Min Min Min Min Min None None None None
Act Effct Green (s) 10.2 17.0 17.0 8.5 15.2 15.2 8.5 19.6 19.6
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.16 0.27 0.27 0.13 0.24 0.24 0.13 0.31 0.31
v/c Ratio 0.62 0.36 0.01 0.28 0.48 0.07 0.43 0.30 0.71
Control Delay 38.2 21.5 0.0 30.8 24.6 0.2 20.4 17.8 13.7
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 38.2 21.5 0.0 30.8 24.6 0.2 20.4 17.8 13.7
LOS D C A C C A C B B



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Magnolia Richburg TIA
2: Old Richburg Road/Lewisville High School Road & Lancaster Highway (SC 9)2022 Existing School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Approach Delay 26.7 23.5 20.4 14.5
Approach LOS C C C B
Queue Length 50th (ft) 63 55 0 21 69 0 18 34 68
Queue Length 95th (ft) 56 92 0 24 90 0 27 30 0
Internal Link Dist (ft) 4442 1223 1400 767
Turn Bay Length (ft) 500 300 325 525 225
Base Capacity (vph) 286 999 644 215 870 593 266 401 845
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.57 0.32 0.01 0.26 0.42 0.06 0.41 0.30 0.62

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Cycle Length: 70
Actuated Cycle Length: 63.4
Natural Cycle: 70
Control Type: Actuated-Uncoordinated
Maximum v/c Ratio: 0.71
Intersection Signal Delay: 20.8 Intersection LOS: C
Intersection Capacity Utilization 47.1% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

Splits and Phases:     2: Old Richburg Road/Lewisville High School Road & Lancaster Highway (SC 9)



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Magnolia Richburg TIA
4: Lewisville High School Road & Lewisville High School Driveway/Lewisville Elementary School Drivewa2022 Existing School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 0 0 40 2 0 0 8 0 1 0 0 0
Future Volume (vph) 0 0 40 2 0 0 8 0 1 0 0 0
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.865 0.973
Flt Protected 0.950 0.962
Satd. Flow (prot) 0 1454 0 0 1770 0 0 1605 0 0 1863 0
Flt Permitted 0.950 0.962
Satd. Flow (perm) 0 1454 0 0 1770 0 0 1605 0 0 1863 0
Link Speed (mph) 25 25 35 35
Link Distance (ft) 1135 1000 164 976
Travel Time (s) 31.0 27.3 3.2 19.0
Peak Hour Factor 0.90 0.90 0.67 0.25 0.90 0.90 0.50 0.90 0.25 0.90 0.90 0.90
Heavy Vehicles (%) 2% 2% 13% 2% 2% 2% 13% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2%
Adj. Flow (vph) 0 0 60 8 0 0 16 0 4 0 0 0
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 60 0 0 8 0 0 20 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Control Type: Unsignalized
Intersection Capacity Utilization 13.3% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15



HCM 6th TWSC Magnolia Richburg TIA
4: Lewisville High School Road & Lewisville High School Driveway/Lewisville Elementary School Drivewa2022 Existing School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 7.9

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 40 2 0 0 8 0 1 0 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 40 2 0 0 8 0 1 0 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 67 25 90 90 50 90 25 90 90 90
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 13 2 2 2 13 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 0 60 8 0 0 16 0 4 0 0 0

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 35 37 1 65 35 2 1 0 0 4 0 0
          Stage 1 1 1 - 34 34 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 34 36 - 31 1 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.33 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.23 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.417 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.317 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 971 855 1052 929 857 1082 1552 - - 1618 - -
          Stage 1 1022 895 - 982 867 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 982 865 - 986 895 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 963 846 1052 870 848 1082 1552 - - 1618 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 963 846 - 870 848 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 1012 895 - 972 858 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 972 856 - 930 895 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 8.6 9.2 5.9 0
HCM LOS A A

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1552 - - 1052 870 1618 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.01 - - 0.057 0.009 - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.3 0 - 8.6 9.2 0 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A - A A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0.2 0 0 - -



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Magnolia Richburg TIA
7: Lewisville High School Road & Existing Driveway 2022 Existing School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Lane Group EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 0 0 0 123 265 0
Future Volume (vph) 0 0 0 123 265 0
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt
Flt Protected
Satd. Flow (prot) 1863 0 0 1759 1810 0
Flt Permitted
Satd. Flow (perm) 1863 0 0 1759 1810 0
Link Speed (mph) 25 35 35
Link Distance (ft) 1039 847 1498
Travel Time (s) 28.3 16.5 29.2
Peak Hour Factor 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.55 0.41 0.90
Heavy Vehicles (%) 2% 2% 2% 8% 5% 2%
Adj. Flow (vph) 0 0 0 224 646 0
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 0 0 224 646 0
Sign Control Stop Free Free

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Control Type: Unsignalized
Intersection Capacity Utilization 17.3% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15



HCM 6th TWSC Magnolia Richburg TIA
7: Lewisville High School Road & Existing Driveway 2022 Existing School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 123 265 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 123 265 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 55 41 90
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 8 5 2
Mvmt Flow 0 0 0 224 646 0

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 870 646 646 0 - 0
          Stage 1 646 - - - - -
          Stage 2 224 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 322 472 939 - - -
          Stage 1 522 - - - - -
          Stage 2 813 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 322 472 939 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 322 - - - - -
          Stage 1 522 - - - - -
          Stage 2 813 - - - - -

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 0
HCM LOS A

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 939 - - - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 - 0 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - - -



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Magnolia Richburg TIA
401: Lewisville High School Road & Lewisville Elementary School Driveway2022 Existing School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Lane Group WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 142 1 3 103 0 23
Future Volume (vph) 142 1 3 103 0 23
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Storage Length (ft) 0 0 150 0
Storage Lanes 1 0 1 0
Taper Length (ft) 25 25
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.998 0.850
Flt Protected 0.953
Satd. Flow (prot) 1772 0 1429 1583 0 1407
Flt Permitted 0.953
Satd. Flow (perm) 1772 0 1429 1583 0 1407
Link Speed (mph) 25 35 35
Link Distance (ft) 1442 1498 164
Travel Time (s) 39.3 29.2 3.2
Peak Hour Factor 0.42 0.25 0.38 0.37 0.90 0.52
Heavy Vehicles (%) 2% 2% 33% 2% 2% 35%
Adj. Flow (vph) 338 4 8 278 0 44
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 342 0 8 278 0 44
Sign Control Stop Free Free

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Control Type: Unsignalized
Intersection Capacity Utilization 17.9% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15



HCM 6th TWSC Magnolia Richburg TIA
401: Lewisville High School Road & Lewisville Elementary School Driveway2022 Existing School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 5.5

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 142 1 3 103 0 23
Future Vol, veh/h 142 1 3 103 0 23
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - 150 - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 42 25 38 37 90 52
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 33 2 2 35
Mvmt Flow 338 4 8 278 0 44

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 52 8 0 0 286 0
          Stage 1 8 - - - - -
          Stage 2 44 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 957 1074 - - 1276 -
          Stage 1 1015 - - - - -
          Stage 2 978 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 957 1074 - - 1276 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 957 - - - - -
          Stage 1 1015 - - - - -
          Stage 2 978 - - - - -

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 10.8 0 0
HCM LOS B

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 958 1276 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.357 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 10.8 0 -
HCM Lane LOS - - B A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 1.6 0 -



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Magnolia Richburg TIA
1: N Main Street/Lewisville Middle School Driveway & Lancaster Highway (SC 9)2035 Background School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 7 560 112 6 698 7 73 3 4 6 1 7
Future Volume (vph) 7 560 112 6 698 7 73 3 4 6 1 7
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Lane Width (ft) 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 16 12 12 14 12
Storage Length (ft) 225 250 275 275 0 0 0 0
Storage Lanes 1 1 1 1 0 0 0 0
Taper Length (ft) 100 100 25 25
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.850 0.850 0.990 0.955
Flt Protected 0.950 0.950 0.959 0.974
Satd. Flow (prot) 1289 3343 1583 1770 3343 1029 0 1810 0 0 1088 0
Flt Permitted 0.950 0.950 0.959 0.974
Satd. Flow (perm) 1289 3343 1583 1770 3343 1029 0 1810 0 0 1088 0
Link Speed (mph) 35 35 35 25
Link Distance (ft) 1521 4522 1340 1310
Travel Time (s) 29.6 88.1 26.1 35.7
Peak Hour Factor 0.56 0.84 0.71 0.75 0.77 0.44 0.83 0.38 0.50 0.38 0.25 0.71
Heavy Vehicles (%) 40% 8% 2% 2% 8% 57% 10% 33% 25% 100% 100% 20%
Adj. Flow (vph) 13 667 158 8 906 16 88 8 8 16 4 10
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 13 667 158 8 906 16 0 104 0 0 30 0
Sign Control Free Free Stop Stop

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Control Type: Unsignalized
Intersection Capacity Utilization 34.4% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15



HCM 6th TWSC Magnolia Richburg TIA
1: N Main Street/Lewisville Middle School Driveway & Lancaster Highway (SC 9)2035 Background School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 7 560 112 6 698 7 73 3 4 6 1 7
Future Vol, veh/h 7 560 112 6 698 7 73 3 4 6 1 7
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length 225 - 250 275 - 275 - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 1 - - 1 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 56 84 71 75 77 44 83 38 50 38 25 71
Heavy Vehicles, % 40 8 2 2 8 57 10 33 25 100 100 20
Mvmt Flow 13 667 158 8 906 16 88 8 8 16 4 10

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 922 0 0 825 0 0 1162 1629 334 1284 1771 453
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 691 691 - 922 922 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 471 938 - 362 849 -
Critical Hdwy 4.9 - - 4.14 - - 7.7 7.16 7.4 9.5 8.5 7.3
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.7 6.16 - 8.5 7.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.7 6.16 - 8.5 7.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.6 - - 2.22 - - 3.6 4.33 3.55 4.5 5 3.5
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 541 - - 801 - - 141 74 599 54 30 507
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 383 375 - 153 187 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 522 279 - 423 209 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 541 - - 801 - - 131 72 599 50 29 507
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 251 172 - 116 100 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 375 367 - 150 185 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 496 276 - 399 204 -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.2 0.1 28.8 34.3
HCM LOS D D

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 253 541 - - 801 - - 152
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.41 0.023 - - 0.01 - - 0.195
HCM Control Delay (s) 28.8 11.8 - - 9.5 - - 34.3
HCM Lane LOS D B - - A - - D
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 1.9 0.1 - - 0 - - 0.7



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Magnolia Richburg TIA
2: Old Richburg Road/Lewisville High School Road & Lancaster Highway (SC 9)2035 Background School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 114 450 7 26 424 30 12 21 49 53 42 268
Future Volume (vph) 114 450 7 26 424 30 12 21 49 53 42 268
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Lane Width (ft) 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 14 12 12 14 14
Storage Length (ft) 500 300 325 525 0 0 225 0
Storage Lanes 1 1 1 1 0 0 1 0
Taper Length (ft) 100 100 25 100
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.850 0.850 0.927 0.879
Flt Protected 0.950 0.950 0.993 0.950
Satd. Flow (prot) 1626 3282 1583 1492 3195 1553 0 1706 0 1703 1706 0
Flt Permitted 0.950 0.950 0.488 0.491
Satd. Flow (perm) 1626 3282 1583 1492 3195 1553 0 839 0 880 1706 0
Right Turn on Red Yes Yes Yes Yes
Satd. Flow (RTOR) 234 234 64 320
Link Speed (mph) 45 45 50 35
Link Distance (ft) 4522 1303 1480 847
Travel Time (s) 68.5 19.7 20.2 16.5
Peak Hour Factor 0.59 0.90 0.71 0.43 0.80 0.78 0.73 0.56 0.77 0.42 0.36 0.56
Heavy Vehicles (%) 11% 10% 2% 21% 13% 4% 13% 5% 11% 6% 2% 5%
Adj. Flow (vph) 193 500 10 60 530 38 16 38 64 126 117 479
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 193 500 10 60 530 38 0 118 0 126 596 0
Turn Type Prot NA Perm Prot NA Perm Perm NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 1 6 5 2 4 3 8
Permitted Phases 6 2 4 8
Detector Phase 1 6 6 5 2 2 4 4 3 8
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 8.0 15.0 15.0 8.0 15.0 15.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0
Minimum Split (s) 15.0 22.0 22.0 15.0 22.0 22.0 15.0 15.0 15.0 15.0
Total Split (s) 18.0 25.0 25.0 15.0 22.0 22.0 15.0 15.0 15.0 30.0
Total Split (%) 25.7% 35.7% 35.7% 21.4% 31.4% 31.4% 21.4% 21.4% 21.4% 42.9%
Maximum Green (s) 12.0 19.0 19.0 9.0 16.0 16.0 9.0 9.0 9.0 24.0
Yellow Time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
All-Red Time (s) 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0
Lead/Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead Lag Lag Lag Lag Lead
Lead-Lag Optimize?
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Recall Mode Min Min Min Min Min Min None None None None
Act Effct Green (s) 11.1 18.2 18.2 8.5 15.7 15.7 8.7 19.8 19.8
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.17 0.28 0.28 0.13 0.24 0.24 0.13 0.31 0.31
v/c Ratio 0.70 0.54 0.02 0.31 0.69 0.07 0.70 0.33 0.80
Control Delay 42.3 23.5 0.0 32.3 29.3 0.2 41.2 19.0 18.5
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 42.3 23.5 0.0 32.3 29.3 0.2 41.2 19.0 18.5
LOS D C A C C A D B B



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Magnolia Richburg TIA
2: Old Richburg Road/Lewisville High School Road & Lancaster Highway (SC 9)2035 Background School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Approach Delay 28.3 27.9 41.2 18.6
Approach LOS C C D B
Queue Length 50th (ft) 78 95 0 24 111 0 22 37 95
Queue Length 95th (ft) 88 143 0 26 141 0 31 32 0
Internal Link Dist (ft) 4442 1223 1400 767
Turn Bay Length (ft) 500 300 325 525 225
Base Capacity (vph) 306 979 636 210 802 565 173 388 842
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.63 0.51 0.02 0.29 0.66 0.07 0.68 0.32 0.71

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Cycle Length: 70
Actuated Cycle Length: 64.9
Natural Cycle: 70
Control Type: Actuated-Uncoordinated
Maximum v/c Ratio: 0.80
Intersection Signal Delay: 25.7 Intersection LOS: C
Intersection Capacity Utilization 52.9% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

Splits and Phases:     2: Old Richburg Road/Lewisville High School Road & Lancaster Highway (SC 9)



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Magnolia Richburg TIA
4: Lewisville High School Road & Lewisville High School Driveway/Lewisville Elementary School Drivewa2035 Background School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 0 0 43 2 0 0 9 0 1 0 0 0
Future Volume (vph) 0 0 43 2 0 0 9 0 1 0 0 0
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.865 0.975
Flt Protected 0.950 0.961
Satd. Flow (prot) 0 1454 0 0 1770 0 0 1604 0 0 1863 0
Flt Permitted 0.950 0.961
Satd. Flow (perm) 0 1454 0 0 1770 0 0 1604 0 0 1863 0
Link Speed (mph) 25 25 35 35
Link Distance (ft) 928 1005 194 956
Travel Time (s) 25.3 27.4 3.8 18.6
Peak Hour Factor 0.90 0.90 0.67 0.25 0.90 0.90 0.50 0.90 0.25 0.90 0.90 0.90
Heavy Vehicles (%) 2% 2% 13% 2% 2% 2% 13% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2%
Adj. Flow (vph) 0 0 64 8 0 0 18 0 4 0 0 0
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 64 0 0 8 0 0 22 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Control Type: Unsignalized
Intersection Capacity Utilization 13.3% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15



HCM 6th TWSC Magnolia Richburg TIA
4: Lewisville High School Road & Lewisville High School Driveway/Lewisville Elementary School Drivewa2035 Background School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 7.9

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 43 2 0 0 9 0 1 0 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 43 2 0 0 9 0 1 0 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 67 25 90 90 50 90 25 90 90 90
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 13 2 2 2 13 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 0 64 8 0 0 18 0 4 0 0 0

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 39 41 1 71 39 2 1 0 0 4 0 0
          Stage 1 1 1 - 38 38 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 38 40 - 33 1 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.33 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.23 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.417 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.317 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 966 851 1052 920 853 1082 1552 - - 1618 - -
          Stage 1 1022 895 - 977 863 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 977 862 - 983 895 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 957 841 1052 856 843 1082 1552 - - 1618 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 957 841 - 856 843 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 1010 895 - 965 853 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 965 852 - 923 895 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 8.6 9.2 6 0
HCM LOS A A

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1552 - - 1052 856 1618 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.012 - - 0.061 0.009 - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.3 0 - 8.6 9.2 0 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A - A A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0.2 0 0 - -



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Magnolia Richburg TIA
7: Lewisville High School Road & Existing Driveway 2035 Background School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Lane Group EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 0 0 0 165 363 0
Future Volume (vph) 0 0 0 165 363 0
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt
Flt Protected
Satd. Flow (prot) 1863 0 0 1759 1810 0
Flt Permitted
Satd. Flow (perm) 1863 0 0 1759 1810 0
Link Speed (mph) 25 35 35
Link Distance (ft) 1039 847 1491
Travel Time (s) 28.3 16.5 29.0
Peak Hour Factor 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.62 0.52 0.90
Heavy Vehicles (%) 2% 2% 2% 8% 5% 2%
Adj. Flow (vph) 0 0 0 266 698 0
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 0 0 266 698 0
Sign Control Stop Free Free

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Control Type: Unsignalized
Intersection Capacity Utilization 22.4% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15



HCM 6th TWSC Magnolia Richburg TIA
7: Lewisville High School Road & Existing Driveway 2035 Background School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 165 363 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 165 363 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 62 52 90
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 8 5 2
Mvmt Flow 0 0 0 266 698 0

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 964 698 698 0 - 0
          Stage 1 698 - - - - -
          Stage 2 266 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 283 440 898 - - -
          Stage 1 494 - - - - -
          Stage 2 779 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 283 440 898 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 283 - - - - -
          Stage 1 494 - - - - -
          Stage 2 779 - - - - -

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 0
HCM LOS A

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 898 - - - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 - 0 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - - -



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Magnolia Richburg TIA
401: Lewisville High School Road & Lewisville Elementary School Parent Loop2035 Background School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Lane Group WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 200 1 3 131 0 25
Future Volume (vph) 200 1 3 131 0 25
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Storage Length (ft) 0 0 150 0
Storage Lanes 1 0 1 0
Taper Length (ft) 25 25
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.999 0.850
Flt Protected 0.953
Satd. Flow (prot) 1773 0 1429 1583 0 1407
Flt Permitted 0.953
Satd. Flow (perm) 1773 0 1429 1583 0 1407
Link Speed (mph) 25 35 35
Link Distance (ft) 938 1491 194
Travel Time (s) 25.6 29.0 3.8
Peak Hour Factor 0.54 0.25 0.38 0.45 0.90 0.52
Heavy Vehicles (%) 2% 2% 33% 2% 2% 35%
Adj. Flow (vph) 370 4 8 291 0 48
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 374 0 8 291 0 48
Sign Control Stop Free Free

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Control Type: Unsignalized
Intersection Capacity Utilization 21.1% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15



HCM 6th TWSC Magnolia Richburg TIA
401: Lewisville High School Road & Lewisville Elementary School Parent Loop2035 Background School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 5.8

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 200 1 3 131 0 25
Future Vol, veh/h 200 1 3 131 0 25
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - 150 - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 54 25 38 45 90 52
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 33 2 2 35
Mvmt Flow 370 4 8 291 0 48

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 56 8 0 0 299 0
          Stage 1 8 - - - - -
          Stage 2 48 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 952 1074 - - 1262 -
          Stage 1 1015 - - - - -
          Stage 2 974 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 952 1074 - - 1262 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 952 - - - - -
          Stage 1 1015 - - - - -
          Stage 2 974 - - - - -

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 11.2 0 0
HCM LOS B

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 953 1262 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.393 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 11.2 0 -
HCM Lane LOS - - B A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 1.9 0 -



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Magnolia Richburg TIA
1: N Main Street/Lewisville Middle School Driveway & Lancaster Highway (SC 9)2035 Build-out School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 7 773 112 6 880 7 73 3 4 6 1 7
Future Volume (vph) 7 773 112 6 880 7 73 3 4 6 1 7
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Lane Width (ft) 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 16 12 12 14 12
Storage Length (ft) 225 250 275 275 0 0 0 0
Storage Lanes 1 1 1 1 0 0 0 0
Taper Length (ft) 100 100 25 25
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.850 0.850 0.990 0.955
Flt Protected 0.950 0.950 0.959 0.974
Satd. Flow (prot) 1289 3343 1583 1770 3343 1029 0 1810 0 0 1088 0
Flt Permitted 0.950 0.950 0.959 0.974
Satd. Flow (perm) 1289 3343 1583 1770 3343 1029 0 1810 0 0 1088 0
Link Speed (mph) 35 35 35 25
Link Distance (ft) 1521 4522 1340 1310
Travel Time (s) 29.6 88.1 26.1 35.7
Peak Hour Factor 0.56 0.85 0.71 0.75 0.80 0.44 0.83 0.38 0.50 0.38 0.25 0.71
Heavy Vehicles (%) 40% 8% 2% 2% 8% 57% 10% 33% 25% 100% 100% 20%
Adj. Flow (vph) 13 909 158 8 1100 16 88 8 8 16 4 10
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 13 909 158 8 1100 16 0 104 0 0 30 0
Sign Control Free Free Stop Stop

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Control Type: Unsignalized
Intersection Capacity Utilization 39.5% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15



HCM 6th TWSC Magnolia Richburg TIA
1: N Main Street/Lewisville Middle School Driveway & Lancaster Highway (SC 9)2035 Build-out School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 7 773 112 6 880 7 73 3 4 6 1 7
Future Vol, veh/h 7 773 112 6 880 7 73 3 4 6 1 7
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length 225 - 250 275 - 275 - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 1 - - 1 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 56 85 71 75 80 44 83 38 50 38 25 71
Heavy Vehicles, % 40 8 2 2 8 57 10 33 25 100 100 20
Mvmt Flow 13 909 158 8 1100 16 88 8 8 16 4 10

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 1116 0 0 1067 0 0 1501 2065 455 1599 2207 550
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 933 933 - 1116 1116 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 568 1132 - 483 1091 -
Critical Hdwy 4.9 - - 4.14 - - 7.7 7.16 7.4 9.5 8.5 7.3
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.7 6.16 - 8.5 7.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.7 6.16 - 8.5 7.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.6 - - 2.22 - - 3.6 4.33 3.55 4.5 5 3.5
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 442 - - 649 - - ~ 78 37 494 27 13 435
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 271 280 - 106 139 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 455 219 - 341 144 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 442 - - 649 - - ~ 71 36 494 24 12 435
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 178 122 - 78 67 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 264 272 - 103 137 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 426 216 - 317 140 -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.2 0.1 48.7 52.9
HCM LOS E F

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 181 442 - - 649 - - 104
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.574 0.028 - - 0.012 - - 0.285
HCM Control Delay (s) 48.7 13.4 - - 10.6 - - 52.9
HCM Lane LOS E B - - B - - F
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 3.1 0.1 - - 0 - - 1.1

Notes
~: Volume exceeds capacity       $: Delay exceeds 300s      +: Computation Not Defined      *: All major volume in platoon



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Magnolia Richburg TIA
2: Old Richburg Road/Lewisville High School Road & Lancaster Highway (SC 9)2035 Build-out School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 199 578 7 62 533 51 12 84 92 71 96 341
Future Volume (vph) 199 578 7 62 533 51 12 84 92 71 96 341
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Lane Width (ft) 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 14 12 12 14 14
Storage Length (ft) 500 300 325 525 0 0 225 0
Storage Lanes 1 1 1 1 0 0 1 0
Taper Length (ft) 100 100 25 100
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.850 0.850 0.935 0.882
Flt Protected 0.950 0.950 0.997 0.950
Satd. Flow (prot) 1626 3282 1583 1492 3195 1553 0 1742 0 1703 1713 0
Flt Permitted 0.950 0.950 0.597 0.355
Satd. Flow (perm) 1626 3282 1583 1492 3195 1553 0 1043 0 636 1713 0
Right Turn on Red Yes Yes Yes Yes
Satd. Flow (RTOR) 182 182 48 236
Link Speed (mph) 45 45 50 35
Link Distance (ft) 4522 1303 1480 847
Travel Time (s) 68.5 19.7 20.2 16.5
Peak Hour Factor 0.72 0.90 0.71 0.70 0.82 0.83 0.73 0.82 0.83 0.54 0.66 0.64
Heavy Vehicles (%) 11% 10% 2% 21% 13% 4% 13% 5% 11% 6% 2% 5%
Adj. Flow (vph) 276 642 10 89 650 61 16 102 111 131 145 533
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 276 642 10 89 650 61 0 229 0 131 678 0
Turn Type Prot NA Perm Prot NA Perm Perm NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 1 6 5 2 4 3 8
Permitted Phases 6 2 4 8
Detector Phase 1 6 6 5 2 2 4 4 3 8
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 8.0 15.0 15.0 8.0 15.0 15.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0
Minimum Split (s) 15.0 22.0 22.0 15.0 22.0 22.0 15.0 15.0 15.0 15.0
Total Split (s) 22.0 34.0 34.0 16.0 28.0 28.0 25.0 25.0 15.0 40.0
Total Split (%) 24.4% 37.8% 37.8% 17.8% 31.1% 31.1% 27.8% 27.8% 16.7% 44.4%
Maximum Green (s) 16.0 28.0 28.0 10.0 22.0 22.0 19.0 19.0 9.0 34.0
Yellow Time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
All-Red Time (s) 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0
Lead/Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead Lag Lag Lag Lag Lead
Lead-Lag Optimize?
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Recall Mode Min Min Min Min Min Min None None None None
Act Effct Green (s) 16.0 26.4 26.4 9.3 19.7 19.7 18.0 32.7 32.7
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.18 0.31 0.31 0.11 0.23 0.23 0.21 0.38 0.38
v/c Ratio 0.92 0.64 0.02 0.56 0.89 0.12 0.90 0.38 0.85
Control Delay 72.1 29.7 0.0 51.7 48.9 0.5 64.5 22.0 28.5
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 72.1 29.7 0.0 51.7 48.9 0.5 64.5 22.0 28.5
LOS E C A D D A E C C



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Magnolia Richburg TIA
2: Old Richburg Road/Lewisville High School Road & Lancaster Highway (SC 9)2035 Build-out School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Approach Delay 42.0 45.5 64.5 27.5
Approach LOS D D E C
Queue Length 50th (ft) 157 163 0 49 184 0 102 49 238
Queue Length 95th (ft) #213 222 0 74 222 0 #203 51 198
Internal Link Dist (ft) 4442 1223 1400 767
Turn Bay Length (ft) 500 300 325 525 225
Base Capacity (vph) 301 1065 636 172 815 531 267 351 818
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.92 0.60 0.02 0.52 0.80 0.11 0.86 0.37 0.83

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Cycle Length: 90
Actuated Cycle Length: 86.5
Natural Cycle: 90
Control Type: Actuated-Uncoordinated
Maximum v/c Ratio: 0.92
Intersection Signal Delay: 40.6 Intersection LOS: D
Intersection Capacity Utilization 70.9% ICU Level of Service C
Analysis Period (min) 15
#    95th percentile volume exceeds capacity, queue may be longer.
     Queue shown is maximum after two cycles.

Splits and Phases:     2: Old Richburg Road/Lewisville High School Road & Lancaster Highway (SC 9)



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Magnolia Richburg TIA
4: Lewisville High School Road & Lewisville High School Driveway/Lewisville Elementary School Drivewa2035 Build-out School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 0 0 43 2 0 0 9 149 1 0 127 0
Future Volume (vph) 0 0 43 2 0 0 9 149 1 0 127 0
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.865 0.997
Flt Protected 0.950 0.995
Satd. Flow (prot) 0 1454 0 0 1770 0 0 1829 0 0 1863 0
Flt Permitted 0.950 0.995
Satd. Flow (perm) 0 1454 0 0 1770 0 0 1829 0 0 1863 0
Link Speed (mph) 25 25 35 35
Link Distance (ft) 1071 1067 153 987
Travel Time (s) 29.2 29.1 3.0 19.2
Peak Hour Factor 0.90 0.90 0.67 0.25 0.90 0.90 0.50 0.90 0.25 0.90 0.90 0.90
Heavy Vehicles (%) 2% 2% 13% 2% 2% 2% 13% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2%
Adj. Flow (vph) 0 0 64 8 0 0 18 166 4 0 141 0
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 64 0 0 8 0 0 188 0 0 141 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Control Type: Unsignalized
Intersection Capacity Utilization 25.3% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15



HCM 6th TWSC Magnolia Richburg TIA
4: Lewisville High School Road & Lewisville High School Driveway/Lewisville Elementary School Drivewa2035 Build-out School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 43 2 0 0 9 149 1 0 127 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 43 2 0 0 9 149 1 0 127 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 67 25 90 90 50 90 25 90 90 90
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 13 2 2 2 13 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 0 64 8 0 0 18 166 4 0 141 0

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 345 347 141 377 345 168 141 0 0 170 0 0
          Stage 1 141 141 - 204 204 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 204 206 - 173 141 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.33 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.23 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.417 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.317 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 609 576 878 580 578 876 1377 - - 1407 - -
          Stage 1 862 780 - 798 733 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 798 731 - 829 780 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 602 568 878 532 570 876 1377 - - 1407 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 602 568 - 532 570 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 850 780 - 787 723 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 787 721 - 768 780 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.4 11.9 0.7 0
HCM LOS A B

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1377 - - 878 532 1407 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.013 - - 0.073 0.015 - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.6 0 - 9.4 11.9 0 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A - A B A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0.2 0 0 - -



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Magnolia Richburg TIA
7: Lewisville High School Road & Existing Driveway/Access 3 2035 Build-out School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 0 0 0 18 0 0 0 314 20 0 490 0
Future Volume (vph) 0 0 0 18 0 0 0 314 20 0 490 0
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.993
Flt Protected 0.950
Satd. Flow (prot) 0 1863 0 0 1770 0 0 1752 0 0 1810 0
Flt Permitted 0.950
Satd. Flow (perm) 0 1863 0 0 1770 0 0 1752 0 0 1810 0
Link Speed (mph) 25 25 35 35
Link Distance (ft) 1039 1076 847 1492
Travel Time (s) 28.3 29.3 16.5 29.1
Peak Hour Factor 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.75 0.90 0.90 0.62 0.90
Heavy Vehicles (%) 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 8% 2% 2% 5% 2%
Adj. Flow (vph) 0 0 0 20 0 0 0 419 22 0 790 0
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 0 0 0 20 0 0 441 0 0 790 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Control Type: Unsignalized
Intersection Capacity Utilization 35.8% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15



HCM 6th TWSC Magnolia Richburg TIA
7: Lewisville High School Road & Existing Driveway/Access 3 2035 Build-out School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.5

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 18 0 0 0 314 20 0 490 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 18 0 0 0 314 20 0 490 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 75 90 90 62 90
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 8 2 2 5 2
Mvmt Flow 0 0 0 20 0 0 0 419 22 0 790 0

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1220 1231 790 1220 1220 430 790 0 0 441 0 0
          Stage 1 790 790 - 430 430 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 430 441 - 790 790 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 157 177 390 157 180 625 830 - - 1119 - -
          Stage 1 383 402 - 603 583 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 603 577 - 383 402 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 157 177 390 157 180 625 830 - - 1119 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 157 177 - 157 180 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 383 402 - 603 583 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 603 577 - 383 402 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 31.2 0 0
HCM LOS A D

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 830 - - - 157 1119 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - - 0.127 - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 - - 0 31.2 0 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - - A D A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - - 0.4 0 - -



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Magnolia Richburg TIA
401: Lewisville High School Road & Lewisville Elementary School Driveway2035 Build-out School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Lane Group WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 200 1 152 131 0 152
Future Volume (vph) 200 1 152 131 0 152
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Storage Length (ft) 0 0 150 0
Storage Lanes 1 0 1 0
Taper Length (ft) 25 25
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.999 0.850
Flt Protected 0.953
Satd. Flow (prot) 1773 0 1429 1583 0 1407
Flt Permitted 0.953
Satd. Flow (perm) 1773 0 1429 1583 0 1407
Link Speed (mph) 25 35 35
Link Distance (ft) 1442 1492 153
Travel Time (s) 39.3 29.1 3.0
Peak Hour Factor 0.54 0.25 0.89 0.45 0.90 0.84
Heavy Vehicles (%) 2% 2% 33% 2% 2% 35%
Adj. Flow (vph) 370 4 171 291 0 181
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 374 0 171 291 0 181
Sign Control Stop Free Free

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Control Type: Unsignalized
Intersection Capacity Utilization 25.8% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15



HCM 6th TWSC Magnolia Richburg TIA
401: Lewisville High School Road & Lewisville Elementary School Driveway2035 Build-out School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 6.6

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 200 1 152 131 0 152
Future Vol, veh/h 200 1 152 131 0 152
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - 150 - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 54 25 89 45 90 84
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 33 2 2 35
Mvmt Flow 370 4 171 291 0 181

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 352 171 0 0 462 0
          Stage 1 171 - - - - -
          Stage 2 181 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 646 873 - - 1099 -
          Stage 1 859 - - - - -
          Stage 2 850 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 646 873 - - 1099 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 646 - - - - -
          Stage 1 859 - - - - -
          Stage 2 850 - - - - -

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 17.9 0 0
HCM LOS C

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 648 1099 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.578 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 17.9 0 -
HCM Lane LOS - - C A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 3.7 0 -



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Magnolia Richburg TIA
1: N Main Street/Lewisville Middle School Driveway & Lancaster Highway (SC 9)2035 Build-out IMP School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 7 773 112 6 880 7 73 3 4 6 1 7
Future Volume (vph) 7 773 112 6 880 7 73 3 4 6 1 7
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Lane Width (ft) 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 16 12 12 14 12
Storage Length (ft) 225 250 275 275 0 0 0 0
Storage Lanes 1 1 1 1 0 0 0 0
Taper Length (ft) 100 100 25 25
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.850 0.850 0.990 0.955
Flt Protected 0.950 0.950 0.959 0.974
Satd. Flow (prot) 1289 3343 1583 1770 3343 1029 0 1810 0 0 1088 0
Flt Permitted 0.238 0.313 0.769 0.778
Satd. Flow (perm) 323 3343 1583 583 3343 1029 0 1452 0 0 869 0
Right Turn on Red Yes Yes Yes Yes
Satd. Flow (RTOR) 158 82 8 10
Link Speed (mph) 35 35 35 25
Link Distance (ft) 1521 4522 1340 1310
Travel Time (s) 29.6 88.1 26.1 35.7
Peak Hour Factor 0.56 0.85 0.71 0.75 0.80 0.44 0.83 0.38 0.50 0.38 0.25 0.71
Heavy Vehicles (%) 40% 8% 2% 2% 8% 57% 10% 33% 25% 100% 100% 20%
Adj. Flow (vph) 13 909 158 8 1100 16 88 8 8 16 4 10
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 13 909 158 8 1100 16 0 104 0 0 30 0
Turn Type Perm NA Perm Perm NA Perm Perm NA Perm NA
Protected Phases 2 6 8 4
Permitted Phases 2 2 6 6 8 4
Detector Phase 2 2 2 6 6 6 8 8 4 4
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0
Minimum Split (s) 15.0 15.0 15.0 15.0 15.0 15.0 15.0 15.0 15.0 15.0
Total Split (s) 25.0 25.0 25.0 25.0 25.0 25.0 15.0 15.0 15.0 15.0
Total Split (%) 62.5% 62.5% 62.5% 62.5% 62.5% 62.5% 37.5% 37.5% 37.5% 37.5%
Maximum Green (s) 19.0 19.0 19.0 19.0 19.0 19.0 9.0 9.0 9.0 9.0
Yellow Time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
All-Red Time (s) 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0
Lead/Lag
Lead-Lag Optimize?
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Recall Mode Min Min Min Min Min Min None None None None
Act Effct Green (s) 26.1 26.1 26.1 26.1 26.1 26.1 8.6 8.6
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.23 0.23
v/c Ratio 0.06 0.39 0.14 0.02 0.47 0.02 0.31 0.15
Control Delay 6.7 6.2 1.9 5.8 6.9 0.0 15.3 12.4
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 6.7 6.2 1.9 5.8 6.9 0.0 15.3 12.4
LOS A A A A A A B B



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Magnolia Richburg TIA
1: N Main Street/Lewisville Middle School Driveway & Lancaster Highway (SC 9)2035 Build-out IMP School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Approach Delay 5.6 6.8 15.3 12.4
Approach LOS A A B B
Queue Length 50th (ft) 1 65 0 1 85 0 21 4
Queue Length 95th (ft) 5 99 10 4 115 0 17 3
Internal Link Dist (ft) 1441 4442 1260 1230
Turn Bay Length (ft) 225 250 275 275
Base Capacity (vph) 225 2328 1150 406 2328 741 360 219
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.06 0.39 0.14 0.02 0.47 0.02 0.29 0.14

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Cycle Length: 40
Actuated Cycle Length: 37.5
Natural Cycle: 40
Control Type: Actuated-Uncoordinated
Maximum v/c Ratio: 0.47
Intersection Signal Delay: 6.7 Intersection LOS: A
Intersection Capacity Utilization 42.8% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

Splits and Phases:     1: N Main Street/Lewisville Middle School Driveway & Lancaster Highway (SC 9)



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Magnolia Richburg TIA
2: Old Richburg Road/Lewisville High School Road & Lancaster Highway (SC 9)2035 Build-out IMP School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 199 578 7 62 533 51 12 84 92 71 96 341
Future Volume (vph) 199 578 7 62 533 51 12 84 92 71 96 341
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Lane Width (ft) 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 14 12 12 12 12
Storage Length (ft) 500 300 325 525 0 0 225 175
Storage Lanes 2 1 1 1 0 0 1 1
Taper Length (ft) 100 100 25 100
Lane Util. Factor 0.97 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.850 0.850 0.935 0.850
Flt Protected 0.950 0.950 0.997 0.950
Satd. Flow (prot) 3155 3282 1583 1492 3195 1553 0 1742 0 1703 1863 1538
Flt Permitted 0.950 0.950 0.962 0.279
Satd. Flow (perm) 3155 3282 1583 1492 3195 1553 0 1681 0 500 1863 1538
Right Turn on Red Yes Yes Yes Yes
Satd. Flow (RTOR) 234 234 56 47
Link Speed (mph) 45 45 50 35
Link Distance (ft) 4522 1303 1480 847
Travel Time (s) 68.5 19.7 20.2 16.5
Peak Hour Factor 0.72 0.90 0.71 0.70 0.82 0.83 0.73 0.82 0.83 0.54 0.66 0.64
Heavy Vehicles (%) 11% 10% 2% 21% 13% 4% 13% 5% 11% 6% 2% 5%
Adj. Flow (vph) 276 642 10 89 650 61 16 102 111 131 145 533
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 276 642 10 89 650 61 0 229 0 131 145 533
Turn Type Prot NA Perm Prot NA Perm Perm NA pm+pt NA pm+ov
Protected Phases 1 6 5 2 4 3 8 1
Permitted Phases 6 2 4 8 8
Detector Phase 1 6 6 5 2 2 4 4 3 8 1
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 8.0 15.0 15.0 8.0 15.0 15.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0
Minimum Split (s) 15.0 22.0 22.0 15.0 22.0 22.0 15.0 15.0 15.0 15.0 15.0
Total Split (s) 15.0 24.0 24.0 15.0 24.0 24.0 16.0 16.0 15.0 31.0 15.0
Total Split (%) 21.4% 34.3% 34.3% 21.4% 34.3% 34.3% 22.9% 22.9% 21.4% 44.3% 21.4%
Maximum Green (s) 9.0 18.0 18.0 9.0 18.0 18.0 10.0 10.0 9.0 25.0 9.0
Yellow Time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
All-Red Time (s) 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0
Lead/Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead Lag Lag Lag Lag Lead Lead
Lead-Lag Optimize?
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Recall Mode Min Min Min Min Min Min None None None None Min
Act Effct Green (s) 8.9 17.1 17.1 8.7 16.9 16.9 9.7 20.8 20.8 35.8
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.14 0.26 0.26 0.13 0.26 0.26 0.15 0.32 0.32 0.55
v/c Ratio 0.64 0.74 0.02 0.45 0.78 0.11 0.77 0.41 0.24 0.61
Control Delay 36.0 29.4 0.0 36.0 31.5 0.4 41.1 19.8 16.9 12.4
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 36.0 29.4 0.0 36.0 31.5 0.4 41.1 19.8 16.9 12.4
LOS D C A D C A D B B B



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Magnolia Richburg TIA
2: Old Richburg Road/Lewisville High School Road & Lancaster Highway (SC 9)2035 Build-out IMP School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Approach Delay 31.1 29.6 41.1 14.4
Approach LOS C C D B
Queue Length 50th (ft) 59 134 0 36 137 0 72 38 42 120
Queue Length 95th (ft) 75 #193 0 59 173 0 #153 43 57 115
Internal Link Dist (ft) 4442 1223 1400 767
Turn Bay Length (ft) 500 300 325 525 225 175
Base Capacity (vph) 445 927 614 210 902 606 311 331 731 875
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.62 0.69 0.02 0.42 0.72 0.10 0.74 0.40 0.20 0.61

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Cycle Length: 70
Actuated Cycle Length: 64.9
Natural Cycle: 70
Control Type: Actuated-Uncoordinated
Maximum v/c Ratio: 0.78
Intersection Signal Delay: 26.6 Intersection LOS: C
Intersection Capacity Utilization 61.6% ICU Level of Service B
Analysis Period (min) 15
#    95th percentile volume exceeds capacity, queue may be longer.
     Queue shown is maximum after two cycles.

Splits and Phases:     2: Old Richburg Road/Lewisville High School Road & Lancaster Highway (SC 9)



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Magnolia Richburg TIA
4: Lewisville High School Road & Lewisville High School Driveway/Lewisville Elementary School Drivewa2035 Build-out IMP School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 0 0 43 2 0 0 9 149 1 0 127 0
Future Volume (vph) 0 0 43 2 0 0 9 149 1 0 127 0
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.865 0.997
Flt Protected 0.950 0.995
Satd. Flow (prot) 0 1454 0 0 1770 0 0 1829 0 0 1863 0
Flt Permitted 0.950 0.995
Satd. Flow (perm) 0 1454 0 0 1770 0 0 1829 0 0 1863 0
Link Speed (mph) 25 25 35 35
Link Distance (ft) 1098 1036 165 975
Travel Time (s) 29.9 28.3 3.2 19.0
Peak Hour Factor 0.90 0.90 0.67 0.25 0.90 0.90 0.50 0.90 0.25 0.90 0.90 0.90
Heavy Vehicles (%) 2% 2% 13% 2% 2% 2% 13% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2%
Adj. Flow (vph) 0 0 64 8 0 0 18 166 4 0 141 0
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 64 0 0 8 0 0 188 0 0 141 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Control Type: Unsignalized
Intersection Capacity Utilization 25.3% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15



HCM 6th TWSC Magnolia Richburg TIA
4: Lewisville High School Road & Lewisville High School Driveway/Lewisville Elementary School Drivewa2035 Build-out IMP School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 43 2 0 0 9 149 1 0 127 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 43 2 0 0 9 149 1 0 127 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 67 25 90 90 50 90 25 90 90 90
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 13 2 2 2 13 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 0 64 8 0 0 18 166 4 0 141 0

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 345 347 141 377 345 168 141 0 0 170 0 0
          Stage 1 141 141 - 204 204 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 204 206 - 173 141 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.33 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.23 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.417 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.317 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 609 576 878 580 578 876 1377 - - 1407 - -
          Stage 1 862 780 - 798 733 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 798 731 - 829 780 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 602 568 878 532 570 876 1377 - - 1407 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 602 568 - 532 570 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 850 780 - 787 723 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 787 721 - 768 780 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.4 11.9 0.7 0
HCM LOS A B

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1377 - - 878 532 1407 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.013 - - 0.073 0.015 - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.6 0 - 9.4 11.9 0 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A - A B A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0.2 0 0 - -



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Magnolia Richburg TIA
7: Lewisville High School Road & Access 3 2035 Build-out IMP School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 0 0 0 18 0 0 0 314 20 0 490 0
Future Volume (vph) 0 0 0 18 0 0 0 314 20 0 490 0
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.95 0.95 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.993
Flt Protected 0.950
Satd. Flow (prot) 0 1863 0 0 1770 0 0 3328 0 0 1810 0
Flt Permitted 0.950
Satd. Flow (perm) 0 1863 0 0 1770 0 0 3328 0 0 1810 0
Link Speed (mph) 30 25 35 35
Link Distance (ft) 1003 1076 847 208
Travel Time (s) 22.8 29.3 16.5 4.1
Peak Hour Factor 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.75 0.90 0.90 0.62 0.90
Heavy Vehicles (%) 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 8% 2% 2% 5% 2%
Adj. Flow (vph) 0 0 0 20 0 0 0 419 22 0 790 0
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 0 0 0 20 0 0 441 0 0 790 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Control Type: Unsignalized
Intersection Capacity Utilization 35.8% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15



HCM 6th TWSC Magnolia Richburg TIA
7: Lewisville High School Road & Access 3 2035 Build-out IMP School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.5

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 18 0 0 0 314 20 0 490 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 18 0 0 0 314 20 0 490 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 75 90 90 62 90
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 8 2 2 5 2
Mvmt Flow 0 0 0 20 0 0 0 419 22 0 790 0

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1000 1231 790 1220 1220 221 790 0 0 441 0 0
          Stage 1 790 790 - 430 430 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 210 441 - 790 790 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.33 6.53 6.23 7.33 6.53 6.93 4.13 - - 4.13 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.13 5.53 - 6.53 5.53 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.53 5.53 - 6.13 5.53 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.519 4.019 3.319 3.519 4.019 3.319 2.219 - - 2.219 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 209 177 389 146 179 783 828 - - 1117 - -
          Stage 1 382 401 - 574 583 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 773 576 - 382 401 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 209 177 389 146 179 783 828 - - 1117 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 209 177 - 146 179 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 382 401 - 574 583 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 773 576 - 382 401 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 33.5 0 0
HCM LOS A D

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 828 - - - 146 1117 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - - 0.137 - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 - - 0 33.5 0 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - - A D A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - - 0.5 0 - -



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Magnolia Richburg TIA
401: Lewisville High School Road & Lewisville Elementary School Driveway2035 Build-out IMP School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Lane Group WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 200 1 152 131 0 152
Future Volume (vph) 200 1 152 131 0 152
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Storage Length (ft) 0 0 150 0
Storage Lanes 1 0 1 0
Taper Length (ft) 25 25
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.999 0.850
Flt Protected 0.953
Satd. Flow (prot) 1773 0 1429 1583 0 1407
Flt Permitted 0.953
Satd. Flow (perm) 1773 0 1429 1583 0 1407
Link Speed (mph) 25 35 35
Link Distance (ft) 1224 1311 165
Travel Time (s) 33.4 25.5 3.2
Peak Hour Factor 0.54 0.25 0.89 0.45 0.90 0.84
Heavy Vehicles (%) 2% 2% 33% 2% 2% 35%
Adj. Flow (vph) 370 4 171 291 0 181
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 374 0 171 291 0 181
Sign Control Stop Free Free

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Control Type: Unsignalized
Intersection Capacity Utilization 25.8% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15



HCM 6th TWSC Magnolia Richburg TIA
401: Lewisville High School Road & Lewisville Elementary School Driveway2035 Build-out IMP School PM Peak Hour

Kimley-Horn Synchro 11 Report

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 6.6

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 200 1 152 131 0 152
Future Vol, veh/h 200 1 152 131 0 152
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - 150 - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 54 25 89 45 90 84
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 33 2 2 35
Mvmt Flow 370 4 171 291 0 181

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 352 171 0 0 462 0
          Stage 1 171 - - - - -
          Stage 2 181 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 646 873 - - 1099 -
          Stage 1 859 - - - - -
          Stage 2 850 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 646 873 - - 1099 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 646 - - - - -
          Stage 1 859 - - - - -
          Stage 2 850 - - - - -

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 17.9 0 0
HCM LOS C

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 648 1099 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.578 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 17.9 0 -
HCM Lane LOS - - C A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 3.7 0 -



N Main Street/Lewisville Middle School and Lancaster Highway (SC 9) DATE: 12/05/22

2035 Buildout Total

MAJOR STREET: Lancaster Highway (SC 9) # OF APPROACH LANES: 2
MINOR STREET: N Main Street/Lewisville Middle School # OF APPROACH LANES: 1

ISOLATED COMMUNITY WITH POPULATION LESS THAN 10,000 (Y OR N): N USE 56% REDUCTION (Y OR N): N
85TH PERCENTILE SPEED GREATER THAN 40 MPH ON MAJOR STREET (Y OR N): Y

 WARRANT 1, Combination Warrant
MAJOR ST MINOR ST  CONDITION A  CONDITION B WARRANT 2 WARRANT 3

BOTH
APPROACHES

 HIGHEST
APPROACH

MAJOR
STREET

MINOR
STREET BOTH MET

MAJOR
STREET

MINOR
STREET BOTH MET

MAJOR
STREET

MINOR
STREET BOTH MET

MAJOR
STREET

MINOR
STREET BOTH MET

   THRESHOLD VALUES 420 105 630 53 480 120 720 60
12:00 AM TO 01:00 AM
01:00 AM TO 02:00 AM
02:00 AM TO 03:00 AM
03:00 AM TO 04:00 AM
04:00 AM TO 05:00 AM
05:00 AM TO 06:00 AM
06:00 AM TO 07:00 AM
07:00 AM TO 08:00 AM 2,049 112 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
08:00 AM TO 09:00 AM
09:00 AM TO 10:00 AM
10:00 AM TO 11:00 AM
11:00 AM TO 12:00 PM
12:00 PM TO 01:00 PM
01:00 PM TO 02:00 PM
02:00 PM TO 03:00 PM 1,785 78 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
03:00 PM TO 04:00 PM
04:00 PM TO 05:00 PM
05:00 PM TO 06:00 PM 1,917 78 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
06:00 PM TO 07:00 PM
07:00 PM TO 08:00 PM
08:00 PM TO 09:00 PM
09:00 PM TO 10:00 PM
10:00 PM TO 11:00 PM
11:00 PM TO 12:00 AM

5,751 268 1 3 0 3 3 3

8 HOURS NEEDED 4 HRS NEEDED 1 HR NEEDED
NOT SATISFIED NOT SATISFIED NOT SATISFIED NOT SATISFIED SATISFIED

WARRANT 1 -- Eight-Hour Vehicular Volume Warrant
          Condition A :  Minimum Vehicular Volume
          Condition B : Interruption of Continuous Traffic
          Combination : Combination of Condition A and Condition B
WARRANT 2 -- Four-Hour Vehicular Volume Warrant
WARRANT 3 -- Peak Hour Warrant

8 HOURS NEEDED 8 HOURS OF BOTH COND. A  AND COND. B NEEDED

Based on 2009 MUTCD

Magnolia Richburg
TRAFFIC SIGNAL VOLUME WARRANT ANALYSIS

INTERSECTION NAME:

INTERSECTION CONDITION:

WARRANT 1, Condition A WARRANT 1, Condition B



















Chester County Planning Commission Meeting August 16th
, 2022 

CCMA22-20 D.R. Horton Inc request Tax Map# 135-00-00-020-000 on Lancaster Hwy to be rezoned from 

Limited Industrial District (ID-2) to Planned Development District (PD). 

No one spoke in favor or opposition to the rezoning request. Commissioner Howell motioned to approve. 

second by Commissioner Walley. Vote 6 0 Approved 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
--------------------------------(SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDING USE)--------------------------- 

SOUTH CAROLINA  ) DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
      ) MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPMENT 
CHESTER COUNTY   ) 

This DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered as of May ___, 2023 
(“Agreement Date”), by and among D.R. HORTON, INC., a Delaware corporation 
(“Developer”), and the CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (“County”), a body politic 
and corporate, a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (“State”), each a “Party,” 
collectively “Parties.” 

R E C I T A L S 

WHEREAS, Developer has obtained the right to acquire certain real property consisting of 
approximately 494 acres, located in County and known as the Magnolia Trace development and 
more fully described in Section 1.04 of this Agreement (“Property”); and 

WHEREAS, Developer has applied to County requesting that the Property be rezoned to 
Planned Development (PD); and 

WHEREAS, Developer and County have determined that it is in the best interests of County 
and Developer to enter this Agreement to set forth the terms and conditions of the development to 
achieve a well-coordinated, master planned development, reasonably mitigate any project impacts 
to the community and achieve predictability to County and Developer on the scope and terms of 
the development; and 

WHEREAS, Developer desires to obtain from County in connection with the development, 
and County is willing to provide, assurances: (1) that the Property will be zoned Planned 
Development (PD) for the duration of this Agreement, (2) that at receipt of Developer’s 
development and construction permits, Developer may proceed with the planned development and 
construction, and (3) that the Development Rights (defined below) will be vested for the duration 
of this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, in connection with the proposed development, Developer and County recognize 
that the scope and term of the planned development under this Agreement accomplish the statutory 
aims of comprehensive, orderly planning and development in County, thus providing benefits to 
the citizens of County and providing public benefits through, among other things, the donation of 
funds or financing of those public facilities and services described and identified in this 
Agreement: 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 2 OF 26 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the terms and conditions set forth 
in this Agreement, the receipt and sufficiency of such consideration being acknowledged by the 
parties, and pursuant to the South Carolina Local Government Development Agreement Act, 
codified in South Carolina Code Annotated sections 6-31-10 through and including -160, as 
amended (collectively, “Act”) and Chester County Ordinance No. 2021-12 (“Ordinance No. 2021-
12”), the parties to this Agreement, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
GENERAL 

Section 1.01. Incorporation. The above recitals are incorporated in this Agreement as if the 
recitals were set out in this Agreement in its entirety. The findings contained in the Act are 
incorporated into this Agreement as if it were set out in this Agreement in its entirety. 

Section 1.02. Definitions. 

(A) In addition to those vest pocket definitions contained throughout this Agreement, as used 
in this Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings: 

(1) “County Council” means the governing body of County. 

(2) “Development Rights” means the right of Developer to develop all or part of the 
Property in accordance with this Agreement. 

(3) “Ordinance No. 2021-12” means Ordinance No. 2021-12 of County which is cited 
as the Development Agreement Ordinance for Chester County, South Carolina. 

(4) “UDO” means the Land Development Ordinance, enacted June 3, 1996, as 
amended to be the most current adopted version on file with the County. 

(B) Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, terms not otherwise defined in this 
Agreement have the meanings set forth in the Act and Ordinance No. 2021-12 or the UDO. 

Section 1.03. Parties. The Parties to this Agreement are County and Developer. 

Section 1.04. Property. This Agreement applies to four parcels of land identified as Tax Map 
Nos. 135-00-00-019-00, 135-00-00-020-00, 135-00-00-032-00 and 136-00-00-042-000, which is 
reflected on Exhibit A, attached hereto, and incorporated herein by reference as if the exhibit were 
set out in this Agreement in its entirety. 

Section 1.05. Zoning. The Property is currently zoned Limited Industrial District (ID-2) and 
is anticipated to be rezoned Planned Development (PD) pursuant to Ordinance No. 2022-____. 

Section 1.06. Development Program.  

(A) The UDO provides for the development uses on the Property, including population 
densities, building intensities and height. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 3 OF 26 

 

(B) All lots for the Development must meet all standards contained in the most current version 
of the UDO unless otherwise modified by this Agreement. In the event of conflict between the 
standards contained in the UDO and this Agreement, the terms of this Agreement control. The 
Development Program for the Property is set forth in Exhibit B, attached hereto and incorporated 
herein by reference as if the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its entirety 

Section 1.07. Development Schedule. 

(A) The estimated development schedule for the Property is set forth on Exhibit C, attached 
hereto and incorporated herein by reference as if the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its 
entirety. 

(B) County and Developer acknowledge that the development schedule is an estimate. The 
failure of Developer to meet a commencement or completion date does not, in and of itself, 
constitute a material breach of this Agreement, but must be judged based on the totality of the 
circumstances. The development schedule is a planning and forecasting tool only. County and 
Developer acknowledge that actual development is likely to take place at a different pace than set 
forth in the development schedule because of future market forces. 

(C) County agrees that if Developer requests an adjustment to the development schedule, 
including commencement dates and interim completion dates, then the dates must be modified if 
Developer is able to demonstrate and establish that there is good cause to modify those dates. 
“Good cause” includes, but is not limited to, changes in market conditions, provided, however, 
under no circumstances shall (i) commencement of construction occur on or after a date that is two 
years from the Agreement Date.  Without modification, the Developer must apply for and be 
approved for the appropriate building permits within two years from the Agreement Date or the 
zoning will revert back to the original classification.   

(D) Periodic adjustments to the development schedule do not require a formal amendment to 
this Agreement and are not considered a major modification. To adjust the development schedule, 
Developer shall submit a proposed adjustment to the Clerk to Council who shall forward copies of 
the proposed adjustment to each member of County Council. The proposed adjustment must be 
accompanied by an explanation and justification. The proposed adjustment is effective 60 days 
from receipt by the Clerk to Council unless County Council has disapproved the proposed 
adjustment by adoption of a resolution to that effect within the 60-day period.  

Section 1.08. Relationship of Parties. This Agreement creates a contractual relationship 
between the Parties. This Agreement is not intended to create, and does not create the relationship 
of partnership, joint venture, or any other relationship wherein any one of the parties may be held 
responsible for the acts of any other party. This Agreement is not intended to create and does not 
create a relationship whereby any one of the parties may be rendered liable in any manner for the 
debts or obligations of any other party, to any person or entity whatsoever, whether the debt or 
obligation arises under this Agreement or outside of this Agreement. 

 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 4 OF 26 

 

Section 1.09. Benefits and Burdens.  

(A) The Parties agree that the burdens of this Agreement are binding upon, and the benefits of 
this Agreement shall inure to, all successors in interests to the Parties to this Agreement. 

(B) Except for the owners and lessees of completed residences on individual lots who are the 
end users and not developers thereof and the owners and lessees of individual lots, who are not 
developers and who intend to build a residence on the lot for the owner or lessee to occupy, any 
purchaser or other successor in title is responsible for performance of Developer’s obligations 
pursuant to this Agreement as to the portion of the Property so transferred. Developer must give 
notice to County of the transfer of property to a developer in the manner prescribed in section 3.05. 

(C) Developer acknowledges and agrees that it and its successors and assigns (i) are responsible 
for the development of the Property when Developer acquires title to or Development Rights for 
the Property, and (ii) will develop the Property in accordance with the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement, and (iii) acknowledge agricultural activities, including, but not limited to, production 
of crops, animal husbandry, land application of animal waste, the raising, breeding, and sale of 
livestock and poultry, including confinement feeding operations, use of farm machinery, and the 
sale of farm products may be practiced and take place in the area of the Property. The Developer 
stipulates and will include such notice of agricultural activities in the homeowners’ association 
documents and restrictive covenants, and more specifically in a standalone restrictive covenant, 
for the Property so all subsequent owners are aware of such agricultural activities. The Developer 
shall remain fully vested with all of the rights, benefits, and privileges arising out of this Agreement 
during the Term of this Agreement except as may be assigned for assumed from time to time 
consistent with this Agreement. 

Section 1.10. Term. The term of this Agreement commences on the Agreement Date and 
terminates ten (10) years thereafter, such that at the end of the 10-year term, Developer no longer 
has any Development Rights, vested rights, and/or any other rights in the Property that arise out 
of or relate to this Agreement. 

Section 1.11. Required Information. Ordinance No. 2021-12 requires a development 
agreement to include certain information. Exhibit D contains the required information or identifies 
where the information may be found in this Agreement. Exhibit D is attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by reference as if the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its entirety. 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.01. Representations and Warranties of County.  

(A) County has found that the development permitted by this Agreement is consistent with 
County’s comprehensive plan and UDO.  

(B) County has approved this Agreement by adoption of Ordinance No. 2022-___ in 
accordance with the procedural requirements of the Act, Ordinance No. ___ and any other  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 5 OF 26 

 

applicable state law. 

(C) County represents that prior to the final reading of Ordinance No. 2022-____ that at least 
two public hearings were held after publication of the required notice and the publication of a 
notice of intent to consider a proposed development agreement. 

Section 2.02. Representations and Warranties of Developer.  

(A) Developer represents that the number of acres of highland contained in the Property is 
greater than 250 acres. 

(B) Developer represents that, as of the Agreement Date, it has contractual rights to acquire the 
Property. 

(C) Developer represents and warrants that the execution, delivery, and performance by the 
respective individual or entity signing this Agreement on behalf of the party has been duly 
authorized and approved by all requisite action on the part of Developer. 

ARTICLE III 
DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS 

Section 3.01. Vested Right to Develop.  

(A) County agrees that Developer, upon receipt of its development permits as identified in 
section 3.04, may proceed to develop the Property according to this Agreement and the UDO. The 
right of Developer to develop the Property as set forth in this Agreement is deemed vested with 
Developer for the term of this Agreement when Developer has complied with all requirements of 
section 5.19 of this Agreement.  

(B) County agrees that the specific Laws and Land Development Regulations in force as of the 
Agreement Date as set forth in Exhibit E to this Agreement, attached hereto and incorporated 
herein by reference as if the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its entirety, shall govern all 
aspects of the development of the Property, according to this Agreement, for the term of this 
Agreement. 

(C) Developer has a vested right to proceed with the development of the Property in accordance 
with the zoning classification set forth in Ordinance No. 2022-_____, the UDO and the terms of 
this Agreement if and only if Developer has complied with all the requirements of section 5.19 of 
this Agreement.  

(D) To the extent that this Agreement may contain zoning and development standards which 
conflict with existing zoning and development standards, including zoning and development 
standards contained in the UDO, the standards contained in this Agreement supersede all other 
standards and this Agreement is deemed controlling. 

(E) Developer acknowledges that County shall not accept financial guarantees for water, sewer 
and storm water infrastructure and the water, sewer and storm water infrastructure must be  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 6 OF 26 

 

installed, tested and in acceptable condition before final plat approval.  

Section 3.02. Effect on Vested Rights Act and County Ordinance No. []. The Parties agree 
that vested rights conferred upon Developer in this Agreement are not affected by the provisions 
of the Vested Rights Act, codified as South Carolina Code Annotated sections 6-29-1510 through 
and included –1560, as amended, or the provisions of Ordinance No. [], County’s ordinance 
relating to the Vested Rights Act. 

Section 3.03. Applicability of Subsequently Adopted Laws and Land Development 
Regulations.  

(A) It is recognized that laws and regulations will periodically change. County may apply laws 
adopted after the execution of this Agreement to the development of the Property unless said 
adopted laws prevent development in the manner set forth in this Agreement.  

(B) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (A) of this Section, County agrees that if 
County imposes a moratorium or other similar restriction that would curtail or hinder the rate at 
which development can occur, then the moratorium or other similar restriction shall not apply to 
the Development of the Property. 

(C) Developer agrees to comply with any county-wide storm water regulations, building, 
housing, electrical, plumbing, and gas codes adopted by County after the Agreement Date and in 
force at the time plans for buildings are submitted to County for review. Nothing in this Agreement 
is intended to supersede or contravene the requirements of any storm water, building, housing, 
electrical, plumbing, or gas code adopted by County. 

Section 3.04. Development Permits.  

(A) Notwithstanding this Agreement, Developer shall obtain all local development permits for 
the development of the Property. Local development permits, approvals, and processes, some of 
which may have been obtained or complied with as of the Agreement Date, may include, but are 
not limited to: 

(1) Site Plan approval; 

(2) Preliminary plan approval 

(3) Final plat approval; 

(4) Zoning permits; 

(5) Building permits; and 

(6) Sign permits. 

(B) The failure of this Agreement to address a particular permit, condition, term, or restriction 
does not relieve Developer of the necessity of complying with the law governing the permitting 
requirements, conditions, terms, or restrictions. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 7 OF 26 

 

Section 3.05. Non-Transfer of Development Rights. Developer is not permitted to transfer 
its Development Rights to other developers. This provision does not apply to the purchaser or other 
successor in title to Developer who is the owner or lessee of a completed residence and is the end 
user and not Developer thereof or who is the owner or lessee of an individual lot, who is not a 
developer and who intends to build a residence on the lot for the owner or lessee to occupy. Any 
purported transfer of rights to a subsequent developer is a breach of, and voids, this Agreement. 

ARTICLE IV 
DEDICATIONS AND FEES AND RELATED AGREEMENTS 

Section 4.01. Purpose of Article. The Parties understand and agree that Development of the 
Property imposes certain burdens and costs on County, including those for certain services and 
infrastructure improvements. Eventually, ad valorem taxes collected from the property may, but 
are not necessarily guaranteed to, meet, or exceed the burdens and costs placed on County, but 
certain initial costs and capital expenditures are now required that are not to be funded by any 
increase in taxes paid by existing residents of County. The purpose of this article is to identify the 
matters agreed upon to be provided by Developer to mitigate such burdens and costs. 

Section 4.02. Other Charges or Fees. 

(A) The Property shall be subject to development and/or permit fees enacted by the County that 
are in effect on the Agreement Date, of County-wide application and that relate to the County’s 
costs of processing applications, issuing development permits, reviewing plans, conducting 
inspections, or similar type processing costs. The property shall not be subject to any additional 
development and/or permit fees enacted by the County after the Agreement Date, however 
characterized. 

(B) All units and attached dwellings shall be subject to a development fee in the amount of 
$5,000 per lot, payable by the building permit applicant to the County at the time of issuance of 
each respective building permit. 

Section 4.03. Infrastructure and Services. The Parties recognize that most of the direct costs 
associated with the Development of the Property will be borne by Developer, and many necessary 
infrastructure improvements and services will be provided by Developer or other governmental or 
quasi-governmental entities, and not by County. For clarification, the Parties make specific note 
of and acknowledge the following:  

(A) Roads. Developer is responsible for the construction and costs of all roads, whether for 
public or private use, within the Property including but not limited to any necessary entrance and 
intersection improvements as required by the South Carolina Department of Transportation related 
to the development of the Property. All roads must be constructed in accordance with County’s 
road standards. The road improvements are expected to be implemented on a schedule consistent 
with the development of the Property as contained in the development schedule and as necessary 
to serve the development. Developer is also responsible for maintenance of all roads that are not 
public roads. Developer acknowledges that County will only accept as public roads those roads 
constructed in full compliance with the UDO and providing connectivity to County road system  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 8 OF 26 

 

or serving as a necessary component for the proper development of County road system. County 
will not accept the roads within the Property into County road system for any other purpose, 
including, but not limited to, maintenance. Developer may transfer the ownership of the roads and 
its obligations for the roads to a homeowners’ or property owners’ association or similar 
organization. 

(B) Potable Water, Sewage Treatment, and Disposal. Potable water, sewage treatment and 
disposal will all be supplied to the Property by one or more of the following Chester Municipal 
District, Chester Wastewater Recovery, and/or some other public or private entity. Developer will 
construct, or cause to be constructed, all necessary water and sewer service infrastructure within 
the Property and the water and sewer service infrastructure will be maintained by the appropriate 
provider and not County. County is not responsible for any construction, treatment, maintenance, 
or costs associated with water or sewer service or water and sewer service infrastructure to or 
within the Property. The water and/or sewer service infrastructure is expected to be implemented 
on a schedule consistent with the development of the Property as contained in the development 
schedule and as necessary to serve the development. Developer acknowledges that County has no 
authority or responsibility for providing potable water services or sewer services in County and 
that each service provider is a separate apart and distinct from County over which County has no 
control. 

(C) Storm Water Management. Developer will construct or cause to be constructed all storm 
water runoff and drainage improvements within the Property required by the development of the 
Property and such infrastructure will be maintained by Developer or a homeowners’ association. 
County is not responsible for any construction, maintenance or costs associated with the storm 
water runoff and drainage for the Property. Storm water management improvements are expected 
to be implemented on a schedule consistent with the development of the Property as contained in 
the development schedule and as necessary to serve the development. 

(D) Solid Waste Collection. County shall provide solid waste collection to the Property on the 
same basis as is provided to other residents and businesses in County. It is understood and 
acknowledged that County does not presently provide solid waste disposal for single, multi-family 
or commercial developments. Residential units shall be served by a private waste hauling 
company. 

(E) Fire Services. The Property is in Richburg Fire Protection District service area and fire 
services will be provided by the Richburg Fire Protection District, or its successor entities. 

(F) School Services. Public school services are now provided by the Chester County School 
District. Developer acknowledges that County has no authority or responsibility for providing 
public school services in County. 

ARTICLE V 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 5.01. Notices. Any notice, election, demand, request or other communication to be 
provided under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be effective (i) when delivered to the  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 9 OF 26 

 

party named below, (ii) when deposited with the United States Postal Service, certified mail, return 
receipt requested, postage prepaid, or (iii) when deposited in Federal Express (or any other 
reputable national “next day” delivery service) addressed as follows (or addressed to such other 
address as any party shall have previously furnished in writing to the other party), except where 
the terms hereof require receipt rather than sending of any notice, in which case such provision 
shall control: 

To County:  Chester County, South Carolina 
Attn: Brian Hester, County Administrator 

   1476 J.A. Cochran Bypass (hand delivery/courier service) 
Post Office Box 580 

   Chester, South Carolina 29706 

With a Copy to (does not constitute notice): 

     Winters Law Firm 
   Attn: Joan E. Winters, Esq. 
   105 Main Street (hand delivery/courier service) 
   Post Office Box 127 
   Chester, South Carolina 29706 

And to Developer:  

D.R. Horton, Inc. 
    Attn: Troy Karski 
    8025 Arrowridge Blvd. 

Charlotte, NC 28273 
 

 
 
With a Copy to: Morton & Gettys, LLC 

    Daniel J. Ballou, Esquire 
    301 E. Main St., Suite 300 (29730) 
    P.O. Box 707 (29731) 
    Rock Hill, SC  
 

 

 

Section 5.02. Amendments.  

(A) This Agreement may be amended or cancelled by mutual consent of the parties to the 
Agreement. An amendment to this Agreement must be in writing. No statement, action or 
agreement made after the Agreement Date shall be effective to change, amend, waive, modify, 
discharge, terminate or effect an abandonment of this Agreement in whole or in part unless such  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 10 OF 26 

 

statement, action or agreement is in writing and signed by the party against whom the change, 
amendment, waiver, modification, discharge, termination, or abandonment is sought to be 
enforced.  

(B) An amendment to this Agreement with the exceptions identified for Exhibit B, must be 
processed, and considered in the same manner as set forth in Ordinance No. 2021-12 for a proposed 
development agreement. Any amendment to this Agreement constitutes a major modification and 
the major modification may occur only after public notice and a public hearing by County Council. 

(C) This Agreement must be modified or suspended as may be necessary to comply with any 
state or federal laws or regulations enacted after the Agreement Date which prevents or precludes 
compliance with one or more of the provisions of this Agreement but only to the extent necessary 
to effectuate compliance with the state or federal law. 

Section 5.03. Periodic Review. At least every 12 months, the Planning Director for County, 
or the designee of the Planning Director for County, must review compliance with this Agreement 
by Developer. At the time of review Developer must demonstrate good faith compliance with the 
terms of the Agreement. 

Section 5.04. Breach of Agreement. 

(A) If, as a result of the periodic review provided in section 5.03 of this Agreement or at any 
other time, the Planning Director for County, or the Planning Director’s designee, determines that 
Developer has committed a breach of the terms or conditions of this Agreement, then the Planning 
Director for County shall serve notice in writing, within a reasonable time after the periodic review, 
on Developer setting forth the nature of the breach and the information supporting the 
determination, and providing Developer a reasonable time in which to cure the breach. 

(B) If Developer fails to cure the breach within a reasonable time and is not proceeding 
expeditiously and with diligence to cure the breach, then County may unilaterally terminate or 
modify this Agreement. Prior to terminating or modifying this Agreement as provided in this 
section, County Council must first give Developer the opportunity (i) to rebut the determination, 
or (ii) to consent to amend the Agreement to meet the County’s concerns with respect to the 
determination. 

Section 5.05. Enforcement. The Parties shall each have the right to enforce this Agreement, 
if not cured within the applicable cure period, by any remedy available at law or in equity, 
including specific performance, and the right to recover attorney’s fees and costs associated with 
enforcement. 

Section 5.06. No Third-Party Beneficiary. The provisions of this Agreement may be 
enforced only by the Parties. No other persons, natural or corporate, shall have any rights 
hereunder. 

Section 5.07. Recording of Agreement. The Parties agree that Developer shall record this 
Agreement with County Clerk of Court within 14 days of the date of execution of this Agreement. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 11 OF 26 

 

Section 5.08. Administration of Agreement. County is the only local government that is a 
party to this Agreement and County is responsible for the Agreement’s administration. 

Section 5.09. Effect of Annexation and Incorporation. The Parties agree that this Agreement 
remains in effect if the Property is, in whole or in part, included in any municipality. The Parties 
acknowledge that upon incorporation or annexation the application and duration of this Agreement 
is controlled by section 6-31-110 of the Act. County reserves the right to enter into an agreement 
with the newly incorporated municipality or the annexing municipality for the administration and 
enforcement of this Agreement after the date of incorporation or annexation. 

Section 5.10. Estoppel Certificate. Any of the Parties may, at any time, and from time to time, 
deliver written notice to the other party requesting the party to certify in writing: (i) that this 
Agreement is in full force and effect, (ii) that this Agreement has not been amended or modified, 
or if so amended, identifying the amendments, and (iii) whether, to the knowledge of the party, 
without inquiry, the requesting party is in default or claimed default in the performance of its 
obligation under this Agreement, and, if so, describing the nature and amount, if any, of any such 
default or claimed default, and (iv) whether, to the knowledge of the party, without inquiry, any 
event has occurred or failed to occur which, with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or 
both, would constitute a default and, if so, specifying each such event. 

Section 5.11. Entire Agreement. This Agreement sets forth, and incorporates by reference all 
the agreements, conditions, and understandings among the Parties relative to the Property and its 
Development and there are no promises, agreements, conditions, or understandings, oral or written, 
expressed or implied, among the Parties relative to the matters addressed in this Agreement other 
than as set forth or as referred to in this Agreement. 

Section 5.12. Covenant to Sign other Documents. County and Developer acknowledge that 
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement may require the execution 
contemporaneously with the execution of this Agreement and thereafter of certain documents in 
addition to this Agreement and County and Developer agree to cooperate with the execution 
thereof. 
 

Section 5.13. Construction of Agreement. The Parties agree that each party and its counsel 
have reviewed and revised this Agreement and that any rule of construction to the effect that 
ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall not apply in the interpretation of this 
Agreement or any amendments or exhibits to this Agreement. 

Section 5.14. Assignment. The rights, obligations, duties, and responsibilities devolved by this 
Agreement on or to Developer are assignable to any other person, firm, corporation, or entity  
except that the assignment must conform to the requirements of section 1.09 and section 3.05. 
County may assign its rights, obligations, duties, and responsibilities devolved by this Agreement 
on or to County to any other person, firm, corporation, or entity. 

Section 5.15. Governing Law; Jurisdiction; and Venue.  

(A) This Agreement is governed by the laws of the State of South Carolina. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 12 OF 26 

 

(B) The Parties agree that jurisdiction and venue for disputes relating to this Agreement is the 
6th Judicial Circuit of the State of South Carolina. 

Section 5.16. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts in 
original, facsimile, or electronic means, provided such means of execution are sufficient for 
recording, each of which shall be deemed an original, and such counterparts shall constitute but 
one and the same instrument. 

Section 5.17. Eminent Domain. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall limit, impair, or 
restrict County’s right and power of eminent domain under the laws of the State. 

Section 5.18. Severability. If any provision in this Agreement or the application of any 
provision of this Agreement is unenforceable, then that unenforceability shall apply only to the 
unenforceable provision, and the remaining provisions of this Agreement, and the application of 
this Agreement or any other provision of this Agreement, shall remain in full force and effect. 
However, if the unenforceable provision would prevent or materially impair County’s and 
Developer’s right or ability to complete performance of this Agreement, then the Parties agree to 
use their best efforts to renegotiate that provision to provide the affected party with the ability 
completely to perform this Agreement. 

Section 5.19. When Agreement takes Effect. This Agreement is dated as of the Agreement Date 
and takes effect when (i) County and Developer have each executed the Agreement, and (ii) 
Developer has delivered to County Administrator clocked-in copies, with book and page numbers, 
of the recorded deeds conveying the Property to Developer. If County Administrator has not 
received clocked-in copies of the deeds conveying the Property to Developer by 5:00 p.m., June 
20, 2023, then this Agreement is automatically terminated without further action of either County  
or Developer. The obligation of Developer pursuant to section 4.02 is effective on the date the last 
Party to sign this Agreement executes this Agreement and the obligations imposed on Developer 
pursuant to section 4.02 survives the termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Section. 
 

(C) An Indemnified Party may not avail itself of the indemnification or reimbursement of costs 
provided in this Section unless it provides the Developer with prompt notice, reasonable under the 
circumstances, of the existence or threat of any claim or liability, including, without limitation, 
copies of any citations, orders, fines, charges, remediation requests, or other claims or threats of 
claims, in order to afford the Developer notice, reasonable under the circumstances, within which 
to defend or otherwise respond to a claim. 

Section 5.20. Indemnification Covenants. 
(A) Except as provided in paragraph (d) below, the Developer shall indemnify and save the 

County, its employees, elected officials, officers and agents (each, an “Indemnified Party”) 
harmless against and from all liability or claims arising from the County’s execution of this 
Agreement, performance of the County’s obligations under this Agreement or the 
administration of its duties pursuant to this Agreement, or otherwise by virtue of the County 
having entered into this Agreement. 

 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 13 OF 26 

 
(B) The County is entitled to use counsel of its choice and the Developer shall reimburse the 

County for all its costs, including attorneys’ fees, incurred in connection with the response to or 
defense against such liability or claims as described in paragraph (a), above. The County shall 
provide a statement of the costs incurred in the response or defense, and the Developer shall pay 
the County within 30 days of receipt of the statement. The Developer may request reasonable 
documentation evidencing the costs shown on the statement. However, the County is not 
required to provide any documentation which may be privileged or confidential to evidence the 
costs. 

 
(C) The County may request the Developer to resist or defend against any claim on 

behalf of an Indemnified Party. On such request, the Developer shall resist or defend against 
such claim on behalf of the Indemnified Party, at the Developer’s expense. The Developer is 
entitled to use counsel of its choice, manage, and control the defense of or response to such 
claim for the Indemnified Party; provided the Developer is not entitled to settle any such claim 
without the consent of that Indemnified Party. 

 
(D) Notwithstanding anything in this Section or this Agreement to the contrary, the 

Developer is not required to indemnify any Indemnified Party against or reimburse the County 
for costs arising from any claim or liability (i) occasioned by the acts of that Indemnified Party, 
which are unrelated to the execution of this Agreement, performance of the County’s obligations 
under this Agreement, or the administration of its duties under this Agreement, or otherwise by 
virtue of the County having entered into this Agreement; or 
(ii) resulting from that Indemnified Party’s own negligence, bad faith, fraud, deceit, or willful 
misconduct. 
 

(E) An Indemnified Party may not avail itself of the indemnification or reimbursement of 
costs provided in this Section unless it provides the Developer with prompt notice, reasonable 
under the circumstances, of the existence or threat of any claim or liability, including, without 
limitation, copies of any citations, orders, fines, charges, remediation requests, or other claims 
or threats of claims, in order to afford the Developer notice, reasonable under the 
circumstances, to defend or otherwise respond to a claim. 

Section 5.21.   General Terms and Conditions. 
 

(A) Agreements to Run with the Land.  This Agreement shall be recorded against the Property 
as described in Exhibit A.  The agreements contained herein shall be deemed to run with the land.   

 
(B) No Waiver.  Failure of a Party hereto to exercise any right hereunder shall not be deemed 

a waiver of any such right and shall not affect the right of such Party to exercise at some future 
time said right or any other right it may have hereunder.   

 
(C) Merger.  This Agreement, coupled with its Exhibits which are incorporated herein by 

reference, shall state the final and complete expression of the Parties’ intentions with respect to 
the matters set forth herein.  All prior negotiations and representations are superseded and merged 
herein. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 14 OF 26 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[TWO SIGNATURE PAGES AND [] EXHIBITS FOLLOW] 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 

  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 15 OF 26 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the first date 
written above. 

WITNESSES:      DEVELOPER: 
       D.R. HORTON 
       A Delaware Corporation 
Name: 

              
Name:       By: 
       Its: 

STATE OF      ) 
      )  ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
COUNTY OF     ) 

[], who personally appeared before me and proved to me through government-issued photo 
identification to be the above-named person and acknowledged the execution and delivery of the 
within name Development Agreement and that s/he executed and delivered the same as his/her 
own free act and deed. 

Dated:              

Notary Public for the State of     

My commission expires:     
[NOTARIAL SEAL] 

  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 16 OF 26 

 
WITNESSES:      COUNTY: 
       CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, 
       a political subdivision of the State of South 
Carolina 
 
Name: 

              
Name:       By: Brian Hester 
       Its: County Administrator 

[COUNTY SEAL] 
Attest: 

       
Karen Lee 
Clerk to County Council 

SOUTH CAROLINA   ) 
      )  ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
CHESTER COUNTY   ) 

Brian Hester, who personally appeared before me and proved to me through government-
issued photo identification to be the above-named person and acknowledged the execution and 
delivery of the within name Development Agreement and that s/he executed and delivered the 
same as his/her own free act and deed. 

Dated:              

Notary Public for the State of     

My commission expires:     
[NOTARIAL SEAL] 

  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 17 OF 26 

EXHIBIT A 
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

[TO BE COMPLETED PRIOR TO EXECUTION] 

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 
  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 18 OF 26 

EXHIBIT B 
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 

1. Master Plan: The Master Plan shall serve as the general guide for the location of roads, 
buildings, and other development features. The Property shall be generally developed consistent 
with the approved Master Plan and associated exhibits unless otherwise modified consistent with 
the terms of the Agreement. 

2. Zoning District: The Property, once rezoned, will be in the [] zoning district and shall be 
developed consistent with the provisions of the applicable zoning restrictions/requirements unless 
otherwise specified in the Agreement 

3. Permitted Uses: The Property shall be permitted to be developed with all uses permitted 
within the applicable zoning district(s) and not identified as being prohibited. The permitted 
location of said uses on the Property shall be identified on the approved Master Plan.  

4. Prohibited Uses: The following uses shall not be permitted on the Property regardless of 
the provisions contained in the UDO: gas station, vape lounge, and gaming.  

5. Dimensional Requirements: The Property shall comply with the dimensional requirements 
(i.e., building setbacks, height, and related provisions) specified in the UDO and noted in the table 
below.  

MODIFIED MINIMUM DIMENSIONAL STANDARDS* 

      

      

*In addition to the lot dimensions referenced above, the residential garage shall be set back a 
minimum of [] feet from the front façade of the house or [] from the edge of the right-of way for 
front-loaded single-family detached homes and townhomes, whichever is greater. Placement of 
single-family detached homes and townhome units shall be staggered. 

6. Maximum Development Intensity: The maximum number of residential units on the 
Property shall be limited as specified below in the table.  

  

  

  

7. Residential Section – Site Layout and Architecture  

a. General Site Layout: 

b. Architecture: Homes shall be constructed with a mix of materials including brick, 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 19 OF 26 

stone, and/or cementitious siding (i.e., Hardie). Vinyl siding shall not be permitted as a primary 
wall material but may be used for minor accent areas.  

8. Commercial Section-Site Layout and Architecture:  

a. General Site Layout: 

b. Architectural Design and Materials: 

9. Open Space and Landscaping 

a. Open Space Quantity and Design:  

b. Open Space Amenity Features (including timing):  

c. Tree Preservation and Protection:  

d. Buffers: 

e. Pump Station Screening:  

f. Landscaped Medians:  

g. BMP Design/Landscaping:  

10. Transportation:  

a. Offsite Improvements:  

b. Onsite Improvements: 

11. Modification of Development Program: It is recognized that periodic modifications to the 
Development Program may be needed to address market conditions, environmental challenges, 
and other elements. The following will outline the processes for Minor, Moderate, and Major 
Modifications to Exhibit B. Modifications to other sections of the Agreement will be processed in 
accordance with those provisions.  

a. Minor Modifications: Minor Modifications are defined as those modifications that reflect 
minor adjustments to the site layout caused by environmental features, adaptations to comply with 
regulatory requirements, and other changes considered incidental by County staff. Generally, 
Minor Modifications shall only be to the Master Plan and not to a specific development standard 
set forth within Exhibit B. The Planning Director shall determine what shall constitute a Minor 
Modification and have the authority to administratively approve such. 

b. Moderate Modifications: Moderate Modifications are those modification to the Master 
Plan that are not caused by environmental features, adaptations to comply with regulatory 
requirements, and are not considered by County staff to be incidental changes or are modifications 
to the text of Exhibit B that do not reflect the inclusion of new land use categories, increases to 
maximum dwelling units or square footage allowances. Moderate Modifications may be approved 
by the County Council after a review and recommendation is provided by County Staff. Approved 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 20 OF 26 

Moderate Modifications shall be recorded by Developer and made an amendment to Exhibit B. 

c. Major Modifications: Major Modifications are those that do not qualify as either a Minor 
or Moderate Modification, such as a substantive changes in the location of land uses or the addition 
of new external access point to the public road system. Major Modifications must be processed 
and considered in the same manner as set forth in Ordinance No. 2021-12 for a proposed 
development agreement.  

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 21 OF 26 

EXHIBIT C 
DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE 

[TO BE COMPLETED PRIOR TO EXECUTION] 

This estimated Development Schedule is subject to update according to section 1.07. 

Notwithstanding any other part of this Agreement, Property’s development is limited to [] 
residential units. 

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 22 OF 26 

EXHIBIT D 
REQUIRED INFORMATION 

The Act and Ordinance No. [] require a development agreement to include certain information. 
The following information is provided in conformance with the Act and Ordinance No. []. 

(A) a legal description of the property subject to the agreement and the names of the property’s 
legal and equitable owners. The legal description of the Property is set forth in Exhibit A. As of 
the Agreement Date, [owner], is the legal and equitable owner of the Property, except to the extent 
that Developer has contractual rights to acquire the Property. 

(B) the duration of the agreement which must comply with section 6-31-40 of the Act. See 
section 1.10. 

(C) a representation by Developer of the number of acres of highland contained in the property 
subject to the agreement. See section 2.02. 

(D) the then current zoning of the property and a statement, if applicable, of any proposed re-
zoning of the property. See section 1.05.  

(E) the development uses that would be permitted on the property pursuant to the agreement, 
including population densities, building intensities, and height. See section 1.06. 

(F) a description of the public facilities that will service the development, including who 
provides the facilities, the date any new facilities, if needed, will be constructed, and a schedule to 
assure public facilities are available concurrent with the impacts of the development construction 
timeline for those facilities. If the agreement provides that County shall provide certain public 
facilities, the agreement shall provide that the delivery date of the public facilities will be tied to 
defined completion percentages or other defined performance standards to be met by Developer. 
See article IV. 

(G) a description, where appropriate, of any reservation or dedication of land for public 
purposes and any provisions to protect environmentally sensitive property as may be required or 
permitted pursuant to laws in effect at the time of entering into the agreement. Developer shall 
comply with all applicable environmental laws. 

(H) a description of all local development permits approved or needed to be approved for the 
development of the property together with a statement indicating that the failure of the agreement 
to address a particular permit, condition, term, or restriction does not relieve Developer of the 
necessity of complying with the law governing the permitting requirements, conditions, terms, or 
restrictions. See section 3.04. 

(I) a finding that the development permitted or proposed is consistent or will be consistent by 
the time of execution of the agreement, with County’s comprehensive plan and land development 
regulations. See section 2.01(A). 

(J) a description, where appropriate, of any provisions for the preservation and restoration of 
historic structures. Developer shall comply with all laws applicable to the preservation and 
restoration of historic structures within the Property. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 23 OF 26 

(K) a development schedule including commencement dates and interim completion dates at 
no greater than five-year intervals. See section 1.07 and Exhibit C. 

(L) if more than one local government is made party to the agreement, a provision stating 
which local government is responsible for the overall administration of the agreement. See section 
5.08. 

(M) a listing of the laws and land development regulations that will apply to the development 
of the property subject to the agreement, including citation to specific ordinance numbers, portions 
of County Code of Ordinances, or both. See section 3.01(B) and Exhibit E. 

(N) a provision, consistent with section 6-31-80 of the Act, addressing the circumstances under 
which laws and land development regulations adopted after the execution of the agreement apply 
to the property subject to the agreement. See section 3.03. 

(O) a provision stating whether the agreement continues to apply to the property or portions 
of it that are annexed into a municipality or included in a newly incorporated area and, if so, that 
the provisions of section 6-31-110 of the Act apply. See section 5.09. 

(P) a provision relating to the amendment, cancellation, modification, or suspension of the 
agreement. See section 5.02. 

(Q) a provision for periodic review, consistent with the provisions of section 8 of Ordinance 
No. []. See section 5.03. 

(R) a provision addressing the effects of a material breach of the agreement, consistent with 
the provisions of section 9 of Ordinance No. []. See section 5.04. 

(S) a provision that Developer, within 14 days after County executes the Agreement, will 
record the Agreement with County Clerk of Court. See section 5.07. 

(T) a provision that the burdens of the Agreement are binding on, and the benefits of the 
Agreement shall inure to, County and Developer. See section 1.09(A). 

(U) a provision addressing the conditions and procedures by which the Agreement may be 
assigned, if applicable. See section 1.09(B), section 3.05, and section 5.14. 

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 24 OF 26 

EXHIBIT E 
LAWS AND LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

1. Ordinance No. 2022-[] zoning the Property as []. 

2. Ordinance No. 2022-[], approving this Development Agreement. 

3. Ordinance No. 2022-[], the Development Agreement Ordinance. 

4. Unified Development Ordinance of Chester County: Land Development Ordinance, 
enacted June 3, 1995, as amended as of the Agreement Date (“UDO”). The UDO includes 
Ordinance No. 2021-12, as amended, as of the Agreement Date and which is cited as the Land 
Development Regulations of Chester County. A copy of the UDO has been signed by the Parties 
and is on file in the office of County Planning Department.  

5. Land Development Regulations of Chester County: See Unified Development Ordinance 
of Chester County. 

6. Zoning Ordinance, enacted April 6, 1998, as amended. 

7. Article [], Chapter [], Chester County Code of Ordinances [] [] []. 

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 

 
  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 25 OF 26 

EXHIBIT F 
FORM REQUEST TO MODIFY DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE 

 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) ADDENDUM 
 ) TO 
COUNTY OF CHESTER ) DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

 
 

THIS ADDENDUM TO A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Addendum”) is made 
effective on the 

[insert recording date of Addendum] 

, by Chester County, a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina, and 

[insert Company Name, a ______________company, or its successor or assign] 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, [Company Name], a __________________ company (the “Property 
Owner”), is a party to that certain Development Agreement with CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH 
CAROLINA (the “County”), effective date of ______________, 20[], recorded on 
______________, 202[] in the office of Chester County Clerk of Court in Book _____, Page _____ 
(the “Development Agreement”); and 

[if applicable, insert successor or assign of ____________ as a Developer pursuant to an 
Assignment] 

WHEREAS, the Development Agreement is appurtenant to and runs with that certain real 
property situate in Chester County, South Carolina, as set forth on a legal description of the real 
property attached to the Development Agreement as Exhibit A (the “Property”); and 

WHEREAS, without limitation, Section 1.07. of the Development Agreement establishes 
a vested right in a Development Schedule, together with commencement, interim completion, and 
completion dates for development of the Property in accordance with the terms of the Development 
Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, without limitation, Section 1.07. of the Development Agreement provides 
that the 

[insert either Property Owner or Developer] 

(hereinafter the “Petitioner”) may request a modification in the Development Schedule of Section 
1.07. of the Development Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, Section 1.07. of the Development Agreement further provides that where the 
Petitioner demonstrates that there is good cause to modify the Development Schedule, the County 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 26 OF 26 

shall approve such request within 45 days of its submittal, and that such modification shall not 
constitute or require an amendment of the Development Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the Petitioner has requested, and the County has approved, a modification in 
the Development Schedule of Section 1.07. of the Development Agreement as more specifically 
set forth herein below with respect to the portion of the Property more specifically identified in the 
legal description attached hereto as Attachment A (the “Addendum Property”). 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Petitioner desires to execute and record this Addendum to the 
Development Agreement to modify the Development Schedule of Section 1.07. of the 
Development Agreement as follows: 

1. Modification of Development Phasing Schedule. The Development Schedule for the 
Addendum Property shall hereby be modified as follows: 

[insert description of the proposed modification, including a proposed schedule for the 
submittal of the Development Applications consistent with the proposed modification] 

2. Approval by County. This modification of the Development Schedule for the 
Addendum Property has been approved by the County as evidenced by the Planning Director’s 
signature and insignia imprinted below. This approval constitutes a finding by the County that the 
Petitioner has demonstrated good cause to modify the Development Schedule for the Addendum 
Property. 

  
[insert name] Planning Director’s Dated Stamp of Approval  
Chester County Planning Director 

3. Effect of Modification of Development Phasing Schedule. Except as specifically 
modified in this Addendum with respect to the Development Schedule for the Addendum Property, 
no other modification or amendment of the Development Agreement shall be effected by the 
recording of this Addendum, and all other terms and conditions of the Agreement shall remain in 
full force and effect. This Addendum shall be binding upon the County, the Petitioner, its 
successors and assigns, and shall run with the title to the Addendum Property. 

4. Recording Required. This Addendum shall be recorded by the Petitioner within 
fourteen (14) days of the date of County’s approval herein below. The modification of the 
Development Schedule shall be effective upon the recording of this Addendum, and this 
Addendum as recorded shall constitute conclusive evidence of the same. 

5. Authority. The Petitioner represents and warrants that this Addendum has been duly 
authorized by all necessary corporate action. 

[insert Section 6. only if Petitioner is not _______[company name]_______ or its  
successor in corporate interest] 

6. Consent by Property Owner. The undersigned Property Owner hereby consents to the 
modification of the Development Phasing Schedule for the Addendum Property:  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 27 OF 26 

 

Witness: Property Owner: 
  
    
Print Name:   By:   
 Print Name:   
  Its:   
Print Name:     

 
 
 
STATE OF   

COUNTY OF   

Personally appeared before me the undersigned witness who being duly sworn deposes and 
says that he/she saw the within named _______________, (name), the _______________ (title) of 
_______________ (Property Owner), _______________ (corporate form), sign, and as its act and 
deed deliver the foregoing instrument for the uses and purposes therein mentioned, and that he/she, 
together with _______________ (witness #2), the other witness subscribed above, witnessed the 
execution thereof. 

Sworn to before me this   
day of ________________, 20____ 
    
Notary Public for   (Witness #1 sign here) 
County, State of    

My Commission Expires:   

[NOTARIAL STAMP-SEAL] 

 

[Insert Signature Pages for Petitioner] 

[Insert Attachment A: Legal Description of Assignment Property] 

























Chester County Planning Commission Meeting August 16th, 2022 

CCMA22-21 D.R. Horton Inc request Tax Map# 135-00-00-032-000 on Lancaster Hwy to be rezoned from 

Limited Industrial District (ID-2) to Planned Development District (PD). 

No one spoke in favor or opposition to the rezoning request. Chairman Raines motioned to approve, 

second by Commissioner Grant. Vote 6-0 Approved. 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
--------------------------------(SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDING USE)--------------------------- 

SOUTH CAROLINA  ) DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
      ) MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPMENT 
CHESTER COUNTY   ) 

This DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered as of May ___, 2023 
(“Agreement Date”), by and among D.R. HORTON, INC., a Delaware corporation 
(“Developer”), and the CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (“County”), a body politic 
and corporate, a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (“State”), each a “Party,” 
collectively “Parties.” 

R E C I T A L S 

WHEREAS, Developer has obtained the right to acquire certain real property consisting of 
approximately 494 acres, located in County and known as the Magnolia Trace development and 
more fully described in Section 1.04 of this Agreement (“Property”); and 

WHEREAS, Developer has applied to County requesting that the Property be rezoned to 
Planned Development (PD); and 

WHEREAS, Developer and County have determined that it is in the best interests of County 
and Developer to enter this Agreement to set forth the terms and conditions of the development to 
achieve a well-coordinated, master planned development, reasonably mitigate any project impacts 
to the community and achieve predictability to County and Developer on the scope and terms of 
the development; and 

WHEREAS, Developer desires to obtain from County in connection with the development, 
and County is willing to provide, assurances: (1) that the Property will be zoned Planned 
Development (PD) for the duration of this Agreement, (2) that at receipt of Developer’s 
development and construction permits, Developer may proceed with the planned development and 
construction, and (3) that the Development Rights (defined below) will be vested for the duration 
of this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, in connection with the proposed development, Developer and County recognize 
that the scope and term of the planned development under this Agreement accomplish the statutory 
aims of comprehensive, orderly planning and development in County, thus providing benefits to 
the citizens of County and providing public benefits through, among other things, the donation of 
funds or financing of those public facilities and services described and identified in this 
Agreement: 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 2 OF 26 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the terms and conditions set forth 
in this Agreement, the receipt and sufficiency of such consideration being acknowledged by the 
parties, and pursuant to the South Carolina Local Government Development Agreement Act, 
codified in South Carolina Code Annotated sections 6-31-10 through and including -160, as 
amended (collectively, “Act”) and Chester County Ordinance No. 2021-12 (“Ordinance No. 2021-
12”), the parties to this Agreement, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
GENERAL 

Section 1.01. Incorporation. The above recitals are incorporated in this Agreement as if the 
recitals were set out in this Agreement in its entirety. The findings contained in the Act are 
incorporated into this Agreement as if it were set out in this Agreement in its entirety. 

Section 1.02. Definitions. 

(A) In addition to those vest pocket definitions contained throughout this Agreement, as used 
in this Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings: 

(1) “County Council” means the governing body of County. 

(2) “Development Rights” means the right of Developer to develop all or part of the 
Property in accordance with this Agreement. 

(3) “Ordinance No. 2021-12” means Ordinance No. 2021-12 of County which is cited 
as the Development Agreement Ordinance for Chester County, South Carolina. 

(4) “UDO” means the Land Development Ordinance, enacted June 3, 1996, as 
amended to be the most current adopted version on file with the County. 

(B) Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, terms not otherwise defined in this 
Agreement have the meanings set forth in the Act and Ordinance No. 2021-12 or the UDO. 

Section 1.03. Parties. The Parties to this Agreement are County and Developer. 

Section 1.04. Property. This Agreement applies to four parcels of land identified as Tax Map 
Nos. 135-00-00-019-00, 135-00-00-020-00, 135-00-00-032-00 and 136-00-00-042-000, which is 
reflected on Exhibit A, attached hereto, and incorporated herein by reference as if the exhibit were 
set out in this Agreement in its entirety. 

Section 1.05. Zoning. The Property is currently zoned Limited Industrial District (ID-2) and 
is anticipated to be rezoned Planned Development (PD) pursuant to Ordinance No. 2022-____. 

Section 1.06. Development Program.  

(A) The UDO provides for the development uses on the Property, including population 
densities, building intensities and height. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 3 OF 26 

 

(B) All lots for the Development must meet all standards contained in the most current version 
of the UDO unless otherwise modified by this Agreement. In the event of conflict between the 
standards contained in the UDO and this Agreement, the terms of this Agreement control. The 
Development Program for the Property is set forth in Exhibit B, attached hereto and incorporated 
herein by reference as if the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its entirety 

Section 1.07. Development Schedule. 

(A) The estimated development schedule for the Property is set forth on Exhibit C, attached 
hereto and incorporated herein by reference as if the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its 
entirety. 

(B) County and Developer acknowledge that the development schedule is an estimate. The 
failure of Developer to meet a commencement or completion date does not, in and of itself, 
constitute a material breach of this Agreement, but must be judged based on the totality of the 
circumstances. The development schedule is a planning and forecasting tool only. County and 
Developer acknowledge that actual development is likely to take place at a different pace than set 
forth in the development schedule because of future market forces. 

(C) County agrees that if Developer requests an adjustment to the development schedule, 
including commencement dates and interim completion dates, then the dates must be modified if 
Developer is able to demonstrate and establish that there is good cause to modify those dates. 
“Good cause” includes, but is not limited to, changes in market conditions, provided, however, 
under no circumstances shall (i) commencement of construction occur on or after a date that is two 
years from the Agreement Date.  Without modification, the Developer must apply for and be 
approved for the appropriate building permits within two years from the Agreement Date or the 
zoning will revert back to the original classification.   

(D) Periodic adjustments to the development schedule do not require a formal amendment to 
this Agreement and are not considered a major modification. To adjust the development schedule, 
Developer shall submit a proposed adjustment to the Clerk to Council who shall forward copies of 
the proposed adjustment to each member of County Council. The proposed adjustment must be 
accompanied by an explanation and justification. The proposed adjustment is effective 60 days 
from receipt by the Clerk to Council unless County Council has disapproved the proposed 
adjustment by adoption of a resolution to that effect within the 60-day period.  

Section 1.08. Relationship of Parties. This Agreement creates a contractual relationship 
between the Parties. This Agreement is not intended to create, and does not create the relationship 
of partnership, joint venture, or any other relationship wherein any one of the parties may be held 
responsible for the acts of any other party. This Agreement is not intended to create and does not 
create a relationship whereby any one of the parties may be rendered liable in any manner for the 
debts or obligations of any other party, to any person or entity whatsoever, whether the debt or 
obligation arises under this Agreement or outside of this Agreement. 

 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 4 OF 26 

 

Section 1.09. Benefits and Burdens.  

(A) The Parties agree that the burdens of this Agreement are binding upon, and the benefits of 
this Agreement shall inure to, all successors in interests to the Parties to this Agreement. 

(B) Except for the owners and lessees of completed residences on individual lots who are the 
end users and not developers thereof and the owners and lessees of individual lots, who are not 
developers and who intend to build a residence on the lot for the owner or lessee to occupy, any 
purchaser or other successor in title is responsible for performance of Developer’s obligations 
pursuant to this Agreement as to the portion of the Property so transferred. Developer must give 
notice to County of the transfer of property to a developer in the manner prescribed in section 3.05. 

(C) Developer acknowledges and agrees that it and its successors and assigns (i) are responsible 
for the development of the Property when Developer acquires title to or Development Rights for 
the Property, and (ii) will develop the Property in accordance with the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement, and (iii) acknowledge agricultural activities, including, but not limited to, production 
of crops, animal husbandry, land application of animal waste, the raising, breeding, and sale of 
livestock and poultry, including confinement feeding operations, use of farm machinery, and the 
sale of farm products may be practiced and take place in the area of the Property. The Developer 
stipulates and will include such notice of agricultural activities in the homeowners’ association 
documents and restrictive covenants, and more specifically in a standalone restrictive covenant, 
for the Property so all subsequent owners are aware of such agricultural activities. The Developer 
shall remain fully vested with all of the rights, benefits, and privileges arising out of this Agreement 
during the Term of this Agreement except as may be assigned for assumed from time to time 
consistent with this Agreement. 

Section 1.10. Term. The term of this Agreement commences on the Agreement Date and 
terminates ten (10) years thereafter, such that at the end of the 10-year term, Developer no longer 
has any Development Rights, vested rights, and/or any other rights in the Property that arise out 
of or relate to this Agreement. 

Section 1.11. Required Information. Ordinance No. 2021-12 requires a development 
agreement to include certain information. Exhibit D contains the required information or identifies 
where the information may be found in this Agreement. Exhibit D is attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by reference as if the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its entirety. 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.01. Representations and Warranties of County.  

(A) County has found that the development permitted by this Agreement is consistent with 
County’s comprehensive plan and UDO.  

(B) County has approved this Agreement by adoption of Ordinance No. 2022-___ in 
accordance with the procedural requirements of the Act, Ordinance No. ___ and any other  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 5 OF 26 

 

applicable state law. 

(C) County represents that prior to the final reading of Ordinance No. 2022-____ that at least 
two public hearings were held after publication of the required notice and the publication of a 
notice of intent to consider a proposed development agreement. 

Section 2.02. Representations and Warranties of Developer.  

(A) Developer represents that the number of acres of highland contained in the Property is 
greater than 250 acres. 

(B) Developer represents that, as of the Agreement Date, it has contractual rights to acquire the 
Property. 

(C) Developer represents and warrants that the execution, delivery, and performance by the 
respective individual or entity signing this Agreement on behalf of the party has been duly 
authorized and approved by all requisite action on the part of Developer. 

ARTICLE III 
DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS 

Section 3.01. Vested Right to Develop.  

(A) County agrees that Developer, upon receipt of its development permits as identified in 
section 3.04, may proceed to develop the Property according to this Agreement and the UDO. The 
right of Developer to develop the Property as set forth in this Agreement is deemed vested with 
Developer for the term of this Agreement when Developer has complied with all requirements of 
section 5.19 of this Agreement.  

(B) County agrees that the specific Laws and Land Development Regulations in force as of the 
Agreement Date as set forth in Exhibit E to this Agreement, attached hereto and incorporated 
herein by reference as if the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its entirety, shall govern all 
aspects of the development of the Property, according to this Agreement, for the term of this 
Agreement. 

(C) Developer has a vested right to proceed with the development of the Property in accordance 
with the zoning classification set forth in Ordinance No. 2022-_____, the UDO and the terms of 
this Agreement if and only if Developer has complied with all the requirements of section 5.19 of 
this Agreement.  

(D) To the extent that this Agreement may contain zoning and development standards which 
conflict with existing zoning and development standards, including zoning and development 
standards contained in the UDO, the standards contained in this Agreement supersede all other 
standards and this Agreement is deemed controlling. 

(E) Developer acknowledges that County shall not accept financial guarantees for water, sewer 
and storm water infrastructure and the water, sewer and storm water infrastructure must be  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 6 OF 26 

 

installed, tested and in acceptable condition before final plat approval.  

Section 3.02. Effect on Vested Rights Act and County Ordinance No. []. The Parties agree 
that vested rights conferred upon Developer in this Agreement are not affected by the provisions 
of the Vested Rights Act, codified as South Carolina Code Annotated sections 6-29-1510 through 
and included –1560, as amended, or the provisions of Ordinance No. [], County’s ordinance 
relating to the Vested Rights Act. 

Section 3.03. Applicability of Subsequently Adopted Laws and Land Development 
Regulations.  

(A) It is recognized that laws and regulations will periodically change. County may apply laws 
adopted after the execution of this Agreement to the development of the Property unless said 
adopted laws prevent development in the manner set forth in this Agreement.  

(B) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (A) of this Section, County agrees that if 
County imposes a moratorium or other similar restriction that would curtail or hinder the rate at 
which development can occur, then the moratorium or other similar restriction shall not apply to 
the Development of the Property. 

(C) Developer agrees to comply with any county-wide storm water regulations, building, 
housing, electrical, plumbing, and gas codes adopted by County after the Agreement Date and in 
force at the time plans for buildings are submitted to County for review. Nothing in this Agreement 
is intended to supersede or contravene the requirements of any storm water, building, housing, 
electrical, plumbing, or gas code adopted by County. 

Section 3.04. Development Permits.  

(A) Notwithstanding this Agreement, Developer shall obtain all local development permits for 
the development of the Property. Local development permits, approvals, and processes, some of 
which may have been obtained or complied with as of the Agreement Date, may include, but are 
not limited to: 

(1) Site Plan approval; 

(2) Preliminary plan approval 

(3) Final plat approval; 

(4) Zoning permits; 

(5) Building permits; and 

(6) Sign permits. 

(B) The failure of this Agreement to address a particular permit, condition, term, or restriction 
does not relieve Developer of the necessity of complying with the law governing the permitting 
requirements, conditions, terms, or restrictions. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 7 OF 26 

 

Section 3.05. Non-Transfer of Development Rights. Developer is not permitted to transfer 
its Development Rights to other developers. This provision does not apply to the purchaser or other 
successor in title to Developer who is the owner or lessee of a completed residence and is the end 
user and not Developer thereof or who is the owner or lessee of an individual lot, who is not a 
developer and who intends to build a residence on the lot for the owner or lessee to occupy. Any 
purported transfer of rights to a subsequent developer is a breach of, and voids, this Agreement. 

ARTICLE IV 
DEDICATIONS AND FEES AND RELATED AGREEMENTS 

Section 4.01. Purpose of Article. The Parties understand and agree that Development of the 
Property imposes certain burdens and costs on County, including those for certain services and 
infrastructure improvements. Eventually, ad valorem taxes collected from the property may, but 
are not necessarily guaranteed to, meet, or exceed the burdens and costs placed on County, but 
certain initial costs and capital expenditures are now required that are not to be funded by any 
increase in taxes paid by existing residents of County. The purpose of this article is to identify the 
matters agreed upon to be provided by Developer to mitigate such burdens and costs. 

Section 4.02. Other Charges or Fees. 

(A) The Property shall be subject to development and/or permit fees enacted by the County that 
are in effect on the Agreement Date, of County-wide application and that relate to the County’s 
costs of processing applications, issuing development permits, reviewing plans, conducting 
inspections, or similar type processing costs. The property shall not be subject to any additional 
development and/or permit fees enacted by the County after the Agreement Date, however 
characterized. 

(B) All units and attached dwellings shall be subject to a development fee in the amount of 
$5,000 per lot, payable by the building permit applicant to the County at the time of issuance of 
each respective building permit. 

Section 4.03. Infrastructure and Services. The Parties recognize that most of the direct costs 
associated with the Development of the Property will be borne by Developer, and many necessary 
infrastructure improvements and services will be provided by Developer or other governmental or 
quasi-governmental entities, and not by County. For clarification, the Parties make specific note 
of and acknowledge the following:  

(A) Roads. Developer is responsible for the construction and costs of all roads, whether for 
public or private use, within the Property including but not limited to any necessary entrance and 
intersection improvements as required by the South Carolina Department of Transportation related 
to the development of the Property. All roads must be constructed in accordance with County’s 
road standards. The road improvements are expected to be implemented on a schedule consistent 
with the development of the Property as contained in the development schedule and as necessary 
to serve the development. Developer is also responsible for maintenance of all roads that are not 
public roads. Developer acknowledges that County will only accept as public roads those roads 
constructed in full compliance with the UDO and providing connectivity to County road system  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 8 OF 26 

 

or serving as a necessary component for the proper development of County road system. County 
will not accept the roads within the Property into County road system for any other purpose, 
including, but not limited to, maintenance. Developer may transfer the ownership of the roads and 
its obligations for the roads to a homeowners’ or property owners’ association or similar 
organization. 

(B) Potable Water, Sewage Treatment, and Disposal. Potable water, sewage treatment and 
disposal will all be supplied to the Property by one or more of the following Chester Municipal 
District, Chester Wastewater Recovery, and/or some other public or private entity. Developer will 
construct, or cause to be constructed, all necessary water and sewer service infrastructure within 
the Property and the water and sewer service infrastructure will be maintained by the appropriate 
provider and not County. County is not responsible for any construction, treatment, maintenance, 
or costs associated with water or sewer service or water and sewer service infrastructure to or 
within the Property. The water and/or sewer service infrastructure is expected to be implemented 
on a schedule consistent with the development of the Property as contained in the development 
schedule and as necessary to serve the development. Developer acknowledges that County has no 
authority or responsibility for providing potable water services or sewer services in County and 
that each service provider is a separate apart and distinct from County over which County has no 
control. 

(C) Storm Water Management. Developer will construct or cause to be constructed all storm 
water runoff and drainage improvements within the Property required by the development of the 
Property and such infrastructure will be maintained by Developer or a homeowners’ association. 
County is not responsible for any construction, maintenance or costs associated with the storm 
water runoff and drainage for the Property. Storm water management improvements are expected 
to be implemented on a schedule consistent with the development of the Property as contained in 
the development schedule and as necessary to serve the development. 

(D) Solid Waste Collection. County shall provide solid waste collection to the Property on the 
same basis as is provided to other residents and businesses in County. It is understood and 
acknowledged that County does not presently provide solid waste disposal for single, multi-family 
or commercial developments. Residential units shall be served by a private waste hauling 
company. 

(E) Fire Services. The Property is in Richburg Fire Protection District service area and fire 
services will be provided by the Richburg Fire Protection District, or its successor entities. 

(F) School Services. Public school services are now provided by the Chester County School 
District. Developer acknowledges that County has no authority or responsibility for providing 
public school services in County. 

ARTICLE V 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 5.01. Notices. Any notice, election, demand, request or other communication to be 
provided under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be effective (i) when delivered to the  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 9 OF 26 

 

party named below, (ii) when deposited with the United States Postal Service, certified mail, return 
receipt requested, postage prepaid, or (iii) when deposited in Federal Express (or any other 
reputable national “next day” delivery service) addressed as follows (or addressed to such other 
address as any party shall have previously furnished in writing to the other party), except where 
the terms hereof require receipt rather than sending of any notice, in which case such provision 
shall control: 

To County:  Chester County, South Carolina 
Attn: Brian Hester, County Administrator 

   1476 J.A. Cochran Bypass (hand delivery/courier service) 
Post Office Box 580 

   Chester, South Carolina 29706 

With a Copy to (does not constitute notice): 

     Winters Law Firm 
   Attn: Joan E. Winters, Esq. 
   105 Main Street (hand delivery/courier service) 
   Post Office Box 127 
   Chester, South Carolina 29706 

And to Developer:  

D.R. Horton, Inc. 
    Attn: Troy Karski 
    8025 Arrowridge Blvd. 

Charlotte, NC 28273 
 

 
 
With a Copy to: Morton & Gettys, LLC 

    Daniel J. Ballou, Esquire 
    301 E. Main St., Suite 300 (29730) 
    P.O. Box 707 (29731) 
    Rock Hill, SC  
 

 

 

Section 5.02. Amendments.  

(A) This Agreement may be amended or cancelled by mutual consent of the parties to the 
Agreement. An amendment to this Agreement must be in writing. No statement, action or 
agreement made after the Agreement Date shall be effective to change, amend, waive, modify, 
discharge, terminate or effect an abandonment of this Agreement in whole or in part unless such  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 10 OF 26 

 

statement, action or agreement is in writing and signed by the party against whom the change, 
amendment, waiver, modification, discharge, termination, or abandonment is sought to be 
enforced.  

(B) An amendment to this Agreement with the exceptions identified for Exhibit B, must be 
processed, and considered in the same manner as set forth in Ordinance No. 2021-12 for a proposed 
development agreement. Any amendment to this Agreement constitutes a major modification and 
the major modification may occur only after public notice and a public hearing by County Council. 

(C) This Agreement must be modified or suspended as may be necessary to comply with any 
state or federal laws or regulations enacted after the Agreement Date which prevents or precludes 
compliance with one or more of the provisions of this Agreement but only to the extent necessary 
to effectuate compliance with the state or federal law. 

Section 5.03. Periodic Review. At least every 12 months, the Planning Director for County, 
or the designee of the Planning Director for County, must review compliance with this Agreement 
by Developer. At the time of review Developer must demonstrate good faith compliance with the 
terms of the Agreement. 

Section 5.04. Breach of Agreement. 

(A) If, as a result of the periodic review provided in section 5.03 of this Agreement or at any 
other time, the Planning Director for County, or the Planning Director’s designee, determines that 
Developer has committed a breach of the terms or conditions of this Agreement, then the Planning 
Director for County shall serve notice in writing, within a reasonable time after the periodic review, 
on Developer setting forth the nature of the breach and the information supporting the 
determination, and providing Developer a reasonable time in which to cure the breach. 

(B) If Developer fails to cure the breach within a reasonable time and is not proceeding 
expeditiously and with diligence to cure the breach, then County may unilaterally terminate or 
modify this Agreement. Prior to terminating or modifying this Agreement as provided in this 
section, County Council must first give Developer the opportunity (i) to rebut the determination, 
or (ii) to consent to amend the Agreement to meet the County’s concerns with respect to the 
determination. 

Section 5.05. Enforcement. The Parties shall each have the right to enforce this Agreement, 
if not cured within the applicable cure period, by any remedy available at law or in equity, 
including specific performance, and the right to recover attorney’s fees and costs associated with 
enforcement. 

Section 5.06. No Third-Party Beneficiary. The provisions of this Agreement may be 
enforced only by the Parties. No other persons, natural or corporate, shall have any rights 
hereunder. 

Section 5.07. Recording of Agreement. The Parties agree that Developer shall record this 
Agreement with County Clerk of Court within 14 days of the date of execution of this Agreement. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 11 OF 26 

 

Section 5.08. Administration of Agreement. County is the only local government that is a 
party to this Agreement and County is responsible for the Agreement’s administration. 

Section 5.09. Effect of Annexation and Incorporation. The Parties agree that this Agreement 
remains in effect if the Property is, in whole or in part, included in any municipality. The Parties 
acknowledge that upon incorporation or annexation the application and duration of this Agreement 
is controlled by section 6-31-110 of the Act. County reserves the right to enter into an agreement 
with the newly incorporated municipality or the annexing municipality for the administration and 
enforcement of this Agreement after the date of incorporation or annexation. 

Section 5.10. Estoppel Certificate. Any of the Parties may, at any time, and from time to time, 
deliver written notice to the other party requesting the party to certify in writing: (i) that this 
Agreement is in full force and effect, (ii) that this Agreement has not been amended or modified, 
or if so amended, identifying the amendments, and (iii) whether, to the knowledge of the party, 
without inquiry, the requesting party is in default or claimed default in the performance of its 
obligation under this Agreement, and, if so, describing the nature and amount, if any, of any such 
default or claimed default, and (iv) whether, to the knowledge of the party, without inquiry, any 
event has occurred or failed to occur which, with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or 
both, would constitute a default and, if so, specifying each such event. 

Section 5.11. Entire Agreement. This Agreement sets forth, and incorporates by reference all 
the agreements, conditions, and understandings among the Parties relative to the Property and its 
Development and there are no promises, agreements, conditions, or understandings, oral or written, 
expressed or implied, among the Parties relative to the matters addressed in this Agreement other 
than as set forth or as referred to in this Agreement. 

Section 5.12. Covenant to Sign other Documents. County and Developer acknowledge that 
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement may require the execution 
contemporaneously with the execution of this Agreement and thereafter of certain documents in 
addition to this Agreement and County and Developer agree to cooperate with the execution 
thereof. 
 

Section 5.13. Construction of Agreement. The Parties agree that each party and its counsel 
have reviewed and revised this Agreement and that any rule of construction to the effect that 
ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall not apply in the interpretation of this 
Agreement or any amendments or exhibits to this Agreement. 

Section 5.14. Assignment. The rights, obligations, duties, and responsibilities devolved by this 
Agreement on or to Developer are assignable to any other person, firm, corporation, or entity  
except that the assignment must conform to the requirements of section 1.09 and section 3.05. 
County may assign its rights, obligations, duties, and responsibilities devolved by this Agreement 
on or to County to any other person, firm, corporation, or entity. 

Section 5.15. Governing Law; Jurisdiction; and Venue.  

(A) This Agreement is governed by the laws of the State of South Carolina. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 12 OF 26 

 

(B) The Parties agree that jurisdiction and venue for disputes relating to this Agreement is the 
6th Judicial Circuit of the State of South Carolina. 

Section 5.16. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts in 
original, facsimile, or electronic means, provided such means of execution are sufficient for 
recording, each of which shall be deemed an original, and such counterparts shall constitute but 
one and the same instrument. 

Section 5.17. Eminent Domain. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall limit, impair, or 
restrict County’s right and power of eminent domain under the laws of the State. 

Section 5.18. Severability. If any provision in this Agreement or the application of any 
provision of this Agreement is unenforceable, then that unenforceability shall apply only to the 
unenforceable provision, and the remaining provisions of this Agreement, and the application of 
this Agreement or any other provision of this Agreement, shall remain in full force and effect. 
However, if the unenforceable provision would prevent or materially impair County’s and 
Developer’s right or ability to complete performance of this Agreement, then the Parties agree to 
use their best efforts to renegotiate that provision to provide the affected party with the ability 
completely to perform this Agreement. 

Section 5.19. When Agreement takes Effect. This Agreement is dated as of the Agreement Date 
and takes effect when (i) County and Developer have each executed the Agreement, and (ii) 
Developer has delivered to County Administrator clocked-in copies, with book and page numbers, 
of the recorded deeds conveying the Property to Developer. If County Administrator has not 
received clocked-in copies of the deeds conveying the Property to Developer by 5:00 p.m., June 
20, 2023, then this Agreement is automatically terminated without further action of either County  
or Developer. The obligation of Developer pursuant to section 4.02 is effective on the date the last 
Party to sign this Agreement executes this Agreement and the obligations imposed on Developer 
pursuant to section 4.02 survives the termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Section. 
 

(C) An Indemnified Party may not avail itself of the indemnification or reimbursement of costs 
provided in this Section unless it provides the Developer with prompt notice, reasonable under the 
circumstances, of the existence or threat of any claim or liability, including, without limitation, 
copies of any citations, orders, fines, charges, remediation requests, or other claims or threats of 
claims, in order to afford the Developer notice, reasonable under the circumstances, within which 
to defend or otherwise respond to a claim. 

Section 5.20. Indemnification Covenants. 
(A) Except as provided in paragraph (d) below, the Developer shall indemnify and save the 

County, its employees, elected officials, officers and agents (each, an “Indemnified Party”) 
harmless against and from all liability or claims arising from the County’s execution of this 
Agreement, performance of the County’s obligations under this Agreement or the 
administration of its duties pursuant to this Agreement, or otherwise by virtue of the County 
having entered into this Agreement. 

 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 13 OF 26 

 
(B) The County is entitled to use counsel of its choice and the Developer shall reimburse the 

County for all its costs, including attorneys’ fees, incurred in connection with the response to or 
defense against such liability or claims as described in paragraph (a), above. The County shall 
provide a statement of the costs incurred in the response or defense, and the Developer shall pay 
the County within 30 days of receipt of the statement. The Developer may request reasonable 
documentation evidencing the costs shown on the statement. However, the County is not 
required to provide any documentation which may be privileged or confidential to evidence the 
costs. 

 
(C) The County may request the Developer to resist or defend against any claim on 

behalf of an Indemnified Party. On such request, the Developer shall resist or defend against 
such claim on behalf of the Indemnified Party, at the Developer’s expense. The Developer is 
entitled to use counsel of its choice, manage, and control the defense of or response to such 
claim for the Indemnified Party; provided the Developer is not entitled to settle any such claim 
without the consent of that Indemnified Party. 

 
(D) Notwithstanding anything in this Section or this Agreement to the contrary, the 

Developer is not required to indemnify any Indemnified Party against or reimburse the County 
for costs arising from any claim or liability (i) occasioned by the acts of that Indemnified Party, 
which are unrelated to the execution of this Agreement, performance of the County’s obligations 
under this Agreement, or the administration of its duties under this Agreement, or otherwise by 
virtue of the County having entered into this Agreement; or 
(ii) resulting from that Indemnified Party’s own negligence, bad faith, fraud, deceit, or willful 
misconduct. 
 

(E) An Indemnified Party may not avail itself of the indemnification or reimbursement of 
costs provided in this Section unless it provides the Developer with prompt notice, reasonable 
under the circumstances, of the existence or threat of any claim or liability, including, without 
limitation, copies of any citations, orders, fines, charges, remediation requests, or other claims 
or threats of claims, in order to afford the Developer notice, reasonable under the 
circumstances, to defend or otherwise respond to a claim. 

Section 5.21.   General Terms and Conditions. 
 

(A) Agreements to Run with the Land.  This Agreement shall be recorded against the Property 
as described in Exhibit A.  The agreements contained herein shall be deemed to run with the land.   

 
(B) No Waiver.  Failure of a Party hereto to exercise any right hereunder shall not be deemed 

a waiver of any such right and shall not affect the right of such Party to exercise at some future 
time said right or any other right it may have hereunder.   

 
(C) Merger.  This Agreement, coupled with its Exhibits which are incorporated herein by 

reference, shall state the final and complete expression of the Parties’ intentions with respect to 
the matters set forth herein.  All prior negotiations and representations are superseded and merged 
herein. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 14 OF 26 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[TWO SIGNATURE PAGES AND [] EXHIBITS FOLLOW] 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 

  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 15 OF 26 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the first date 
written above. 

WITNESSES:      DEVELOPER: 
       D.R. HORTON 
       A Delaware Corporation 
Name: 

              
Name:       By: 
       Its: 

STATE OF      ) 
      )  ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
COUNTY OF     ) 

[], who personally appeared before me and proved to me through government-issued photo 
identification to be the above-named person and acknowledged the execution and delivery of the 
within name Development Agreement and that s/he executed and delivered the same as his/her 
own free act and deed. 

Dated:              

Notary Public for the State of     

My commission expires:     
[NOTARIAL SEAL] 

  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 16 OF 26 

 
WITNESSES:      COUNTY: 
       CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, 
       a political subdivision of the State of South 
Carolina 
 
Name: 

              
Name:       By: Brian Hester 
       Its: County Administrator 

[COUNTY SEAL] 
Attest: 

       
Karen Lee 
Clerk to County Council 

SOUTH CAROLINA   ) 
      )  ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
CHESTER COUNTY   ) 

Brian Hester, who personally appeared before me and proved to me through government-
issued photo identification to be the above-named person and acknowledged the execution and 
delivery of the within name Development Agreement and that s/he executed and delivered the 
same as his/her own free act and deed. 

Dated:              

Notary Public for the State of     

My commission expires:     
[NOTARIAL SEAL] 

  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 17 OF 26 

EXHIBIT A 
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

[TO BE COMPLETED PRIOR TO EXECUTION] 

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 
  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 18 OF 26 

EXHIBIT B 
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 

1. Master Plan: The Master Plan shall serve as the general guide for the location of roads, 
buildings, and other development features. The Property shall be generally developed consistent 
with the approved Master Plan and associated exhibits unless otherwise modified consistent with 
the terms of the Agreement. 

2. Zoning District: The Property, once rezoned, will be in the [] zoning district and shall be 
developed consistent with the provisions of the applicable zoning restrictions/requirements unless 
otherwise specified in the Agreement 

3. Permitted Uses: The Property shall be permitted to be developed with all uses permitted 
within the applicable zoning district(s) and not identified as being prohibited. The permitted 
location of said uses on the Property shall be identified on the approved Master Plan.  

4. Prohibited Uses: The following uses shall not be permitted on the Property regardless of 
the provisions contained in the UDO: gas station, vape lounge, and gaming.  

5. Dimensional Requirements: The Property shall comply with the dimensional requirements 
(i.e., building setbacks, height, and related provisions) specified in the UDO and noted in the table 
below.  

MODIFIED MINIMUM DIMENSIONAL STANDARDS* 

      

      

*In addition to the lot dimensions referenced above, the residential garage shall be set back a 
minimum of [] feet from the front façade of the house or [] from the edge of the right-of way for 
front-loaded single-family detached homes and townhomes, whichever is greater. Placement of 
single-family detached homes and townhome units shall be staggered. 

6. Maximum Development Intensity: The maximum number of residential units on the 
Property shall be limited as specified below in the table.  

  

  

  

7. Residential Section – Site Layout and Architecture  

a. General Site Layout: 

b. Architecture: Homes shall be constructed with a mix of materials including brick, 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 19 OF 26 

stone, and/or cementitious siding (i.e., Hardie). Vinyl siding shall not be permitted as a primary 
wall material but may be used for minor accent areas.  

8. Commercial Section-Site Layout and Architecture:  

a. General Site Layout: 

b. Architectural Design and Materials: 

9. Open Space and Landscaping 

a. Open Space Quantity and Design:  

b. Open Space Amenity Features (including timing):  

c. Tree Preservation and Protection:  

d. Buffers: 

e. Pump Station Screening:  

f. Landscaped Medians:  

g. BMP Design/Landscaping:  

10. Transportation:  

a. Offsite Improvements:  

b. Onsite Improvements: 

11. Modification of Development Program: It is recognized that periodic modifications to the 
Development Program may be needed to address market conditions, environmental challenges, 
and other elements. The following will outline the processes for Minor, Moderate, and Major 
Modifications to Exhibit B. Modifications to other sections of the Agreement will be processed in 
accordance with those provisions.  

a. Minor Modifications: Minor Modifications are defined as those modifications that reflect 
minor adjustments to the site layout caused by environmental features, adaptations to comply with 
regulatory requirements, and other changes considered incidental by County staff. Generally, 
Minor Modifications shall only be to the Master Plan and not to a specific development standard 
set forth within Exhibit B. The Planning Director shall determine what shall constitute a Minor 
Modification and have the authority to administratively approve such. 

b. Moderate Modifications: Moderate Modifications are those modification to the Master 
Plan that are not caused by environmental features, adaptations to comply with regulatory 
requirements, and are not considered by County staff to be incidental changes or are modifications 
to the text of Exhibit B that do not reflect the inclusion of new land use categories, increases to 
maximum dwelling units or square footage allowances. Moderate Modifications may be approved 
by the County Council after a review and recommendation is provided by County Staff. Approved 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 20 OF 26 

Moderate Modifications shall be recorded by Developer and made an amendment to Exhibit B. 

c. Major Modifications: Major Modifications are those that do not qualify as either a Minor 
or Moderate Modification, such as a substantive changes in the location of land uses or the addition 
of new external access point to the public road system. Major Modifications must be processed 
and considered in the same manner as set forth in Ordinance No. 2021-12 for a proposed 
development agreement.  

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 21 OF 26 

EXHIBIT C 
DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE 

[TO BE COMPLETED PRIOR TO EXECUTION] 

This estimated Development Schedule is subject to update according to section 1.07. 

Notwithstanding any other part of this Agreement, Property’s development is limited to [] 
residential units. 

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 22 OF 26 

EXHIBIT D 
REQUIRED INFORMATION 

The Act and Ordinance No. [] require a development agreement to include certain information. 
The following information is provided in conformance with the Act and Ordinance No. []. 

(A) a legal description of the property subject to the agreement and the names of the property’s 
legal and equitable owners. The legal description of the Property is set forth in Exhibit A. As of 
the Agreement Date, [owner], is the legal and equitable owner of the Property, except to the extent 
that Developer has contractual rights to acquire the Property. 

(B) the duration of the agreement which must comply with section 6-31-40 of the Act. See 
section 1.10. 

(C) a representation by Developer of the number of acres of highland contained in the property 
subject to the agreement. See section 2.02. 

(D) the then current zoning of the property and a statement, if applicable, of any proposed re-
zoning of the property. See section 1.05.  

(E) the development uses that would be permitted on the property pursuant to the agreement, 
including population densities, building intensities, and height. See section 1.06. 

(F) a description of the public facilities that will service the development, including who 
provides the facilities, the date any new facilities, if needed, will be constructed, and a schedule to 
assure public facilities are available concurrent with the impacts of the development construction 
timeline for those facilities. If the agreement provides that County shall provide certain public 
facilities, the agreement shall provide that the delivery date of the public facilities will be tied to 
defined completion percentages or other defined performance standards to be met by Developer. 
See article IV. 

(G) a description, where appropriate, of any reservation or dedication of land for public 
purposes and any provisions to protect environmentally sensitive property as may be required or 
permitted pursuant to laws in effect at the time of entering into the agreement. Developer shall 
comply with all applicable environmental laws. 

(H) a description of all local development permits approved or needed to be approved for the 
development of the property together with a statement indicating that the failure of the agreement 
to address a particular permit, condition, term, or restriction does not relieve Developer of the 
necessity of complying with the law governing the permitting requirements, conditions, terms, or 
restrictions. See section 3.04. 

(I) a finding that the development permitted or proposed is consistent or will be consistent by 
the time of execution of the agreement, with County’s comprehensive plan and land development 
regulations. See section 2.01(A). 

(J) a description, where appropriate, of any provisions for the preservation and restoration of 
historic structures. Developer shall comply with all laws applicable to the preservation and 
restoration of historic structures within the Property. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 23 OF 26 

(K) a development schedule including commencement dates and interim completion dates at 
no greater than five-year intervals. See section 1.07 and Exhibit C. 

(L) if more than one local government is made party to the agreement, a provision stating 
which local government is responsible for the overall administration of the agreement. See section 
5.08. 

(M) a listing of the laws and land development regulations that will apply to the development 
of the property subject to the agreement, including citation to specific ordinance numbers, portions 
of County Code of Ordinances, or both. See section 3.01(B) and Exhibit E. 

(N) a provision, consistent with section 6-31-80 of the Act, addressing the circumstances under 
which laws and land development regulations adopted after the execution of the agreement apply 
to the property subject to the agreement. See section 3.03. 

(O) a provision stating whether the agreement continues to apply to the property or portions 
of it that are annexed into a municipality or included in a newly incorporated area and, if so, that 
the provisions of section 6-31-110 of the Act apply. See section 5.09. 

(P) a provision relating to the amendment, cancellation, modification, or suspension of the 
agreement. See section 5.02. 

(Q) a provision for periodic review, consistent with the provisions of section 8 of Ordinance 
No. []. See section 5.03. 

(R) a provision addressing the effects of a material breach of the agreement, consistent with 
the provisions of section 9 of Ordinance No. []. See section 5.04. 

(S) a provision that Developer, within 14 days after County executes the Agreement, will 
record the Agreement with County Clerk of Court. See section 5.07. 

(T) a provision that the burdens of the Agreement are binding on, and the benefits of the 
Agreement shall inure to, County and Developer. See section 1.09(A). 

(U) a provision addressing the conditions and procedures by which the Agreement may be 
assigned, if applicable. See section 1.09(B), section 3.05, and section 5.14. 

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 24 OF 26 

EXHIBIT E 
LAWS AND LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

1. Ordinance No. 2022-[] zoning the Property as []. 

2. Ordinance No. 2022-[], approving this Development Agreement. 

3. Ordinance No. 2022-[], the Development Agreement Ordinance. 

4. Unified Development Ordinance of Chester County: Land Development Ordinance, 
enacted June 3, 1995, as amended as of the Agreement Date (“UDO”). The UDO includes 
Ordinance No. 2021-12, as amended, as of the Agreement Date and which is cited as the Land 
Development Regulations of Chester County. A copy of the UDO has been signed by the Parties 
and is on file in the office of County Planning Department.  

5. Land Development Regulations of Chester County: See Unified Development Ordinance 
of Chester County. 

6. Zoning Ordinance, enacted April 6, 1998, as amended. 

7. Article [], Chapter [], Chester County Code of Ordinances [] [] []. 

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 

 
  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 25 OF 26 

EXHIBIT F 
FORM REQUEST TO MODIFY DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE 

 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) ADDENDUM 
 ) TO 
COUNTY OF CHESTER ) DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

 
 

THIS ADDENDUM TO A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Addendum”) is made 
effective on the 

[insert recording date of Addendum] 

, by Chester County, a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina, and 

[insert Company Name, a ______________company, or its successor or assign] 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, [Company Name], a __________________ company (the “Property 
Owner”), is a party to that certain Development Agreement with CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH 
CAROLINA (the “County”), effective date of ______________, 20[], recorded on 
______________, 202[] in the office of Chester County Clerk of Court in Book _____, Page _____ 
(the “Development Agreement”); and 

[if applicable, insert successor or assign of ____________ as a Developer pursuant to an 
Assignment] 

WHEREAS, the Development Agreement is appurtenant to and runs with that certain real 
property situate in Chester County, South Carolina, as set forth on a legal description of the real 
property attached to the Development Agreement as Exhibit A (the “Property”); and 

WHEREAS, without limitation, Section 1.07. of the Development Agreement establishes 
a vested right in a Development Schedule, together with commencement, interim completion, and 
completion dates for development of the Property in accordance with the terms of the Development 
Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, without limitation, Section 1.07. of the Development Agreement provides 
that the 

[insert either Property Owner or Developer] 

(hereinafter the “Petitioner”) may request a modification in the Development Schedule of Section 
1.07. of the Development Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, Section 1.07. of the Development Agreement further provides that where the 
Petitioner demonstrates that there is good cause to modify the Development Schedule, the County 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 26 OF 26 

shall approve such request within 45 days of its submittal, and that such modification shall not 
constitute or require an amendment of the Development Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the Petitioner has requested, and the County has approved, a modification in 
the Development Schedule of Section 1.07. of the Development Agreement as more specifically 
set forth herein below with respect to the portion of the Property more specifically identified in the 
legal description attached hereto as Attachment A (the “Addendum Property”). 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Petitioner desires to execute and record this Addendum to the 
Development Agreement to modify the Development Schedule of Section 1.07. of the 
Development Agreement as follows: 

1. Modification of Development Phasing Schedule. The Development Schedule for the 
Addendum Property shall hereby be modified as follows: 

[insert description of the proposed modification, including a proposed schedule for the 
submittal of the Development Applications consistent with the proposed modification] 

2. Approval by County. This modification of the Development Schedule for the 
Addendum Property has been approved by the County as evidenced by the Planning Director’s 
signature and insignia imprinted below. This approval constitutes a finding by the County that the 
Petitioner has demonstrated good cause to modify the Development Schedule for the Addendum 
Property. 

  
[insert name] Planning Director’s Dated Stamp of Approval  
Chester County Planning Director 

3. Effect of Modification of Development Phasing Schedule. Except as specifically 
modified in this Addendum with respect to the Development Schedule for the Addendum Property, 
no other modification or amendment of the Development Agreement shall be effected by the 
recording of this Addendum, and all other terms and conditions of the Agreement shall remain in 
full force and effect. This Addendum shall be binding upon the County, the Petitioner, its 
successors and assigns, and shall run with the title to the Addendum Property. 

4. Recording Required. This Addendum shall be recorded by the Petitioner within 
fourteen (14) days of the date of County’s approval herein below. The modification of the 
Development Schedule shall be effective upon the recording of this Addendum, and this 
Addendum as recorded shall constitute conclusive evidence of the same. 

5. Authority. The Petitioner represents and warrants that this Addendum has been duly 
authorized by all necessary corporate action. 

[insert Section 6. only if Petitioner is not _______[company name]_______ or its  
successor in corporate interest] 

6. Consent by Property Owner. The undersigned Property Owner hereby consents to the 
modification of the Development Phasing Schedule for the Addendum Property:  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 27 OF 26 

 

Witness: Property Owner: 
  
    
Print Name:   By:   
 Print Name:   
  Its:   
Print Name:     

 
 
 
STATE OF   

COUNTY OF   

Personally appeared before me the undersigned witness who being duly sworn deposes and 
says that he/she saw the within named _______________, (name), the _______________ (title) of 
_______________ (Property Owner), _______________ (corporate form), sign, and as its act and 
deed deliver the foregoing instrument for the uses and purposes therein mentioned, and that he/she, 
together with _______________ (witness #2), the other witness subscribed above, witnessed the 
execution thereof. 

Sworn to before me this   
day of ________________, 20____ 
    
Notary Public for   (Witness #1 sign here) 
County, State of    

My Commission Expires:   

[NOTARIAL STAMP-SEAL] 

 

[Insert Signature Pages for Petitioner] 

[Insert Attachment A: Legal Description of Assignment Property] 

























Chester County Planning Commission Meeting August 16th
, 2022 

CCMA22-22 D.R. Horton Inc request Tax Map # 136-00-00-042-000 (PORTION) on Lancaster Hwy to be 

rezoned from Restricted Industrial District (ID-1) to Planned Development District (PD). No one spoke in 

favor or opposition to the rezoning request. Chairman Raines motioned to approve. second by 

Commissioner Howell and Commissioner Howell. Vote 6-0 Approved. 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
--------------------------------(SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDING USE)--------------------------- 

SOUTH CAROLINA  ) DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
      ) MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPMENT 
CHESTER COUNTY   ) 

This DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered as of May ___, 2023 
(“Agreement Date”), by and among D.R. HORTON, INC., a Delaware corporation 
(“Developer”), and the CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (“County”), a body politic 
and corporate, a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (“State”), each a “Party,” 
collectively “Parties.” 

R E C I T A L S 

WHEREAS, Developer has obtained the right to acquire certain real property consisting of 
approximately 494 acres, located in County and known as the Magnolia Trace development and 
more fully described in Section 1.04 of this Agreement (“Property”); and 

WHEREAS, Developer has applied to County requesting that the Property be rezoned to 
Planned Development (PD); and 

WHEREAS, Developer and County have determined that it is in the best interests of County 
and Developer to enter this Agreement to set forth the terms and conditions of the development to 
achieve a well-coordinated, master planned development, reasonably mitigate any project impacts 
to the community and achieve predictability to County and Developer on the scope and terms of 
the development; and 

WHEREAS, Developer desires to obtain from County in connection with the development, 
and County is willing to provide, assurances: (1) that the Property will be zoned Planned 
Development (PD) for the duration of this Agreement, (2) that at receipt of Developer’s 
development and construction permits, Developer may proceed with the planned development and 
construction, and (3) that the Development Rights (defined below) will be vested for the duration 
of this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, in connection with the proposed development, Developer and County recognize 
that the scope and term of the planned development under this Agreement accomplish the statutory 
aims of comprehensive, orderly planning and development in County, thus providing benefits to 
the citizens of County and providing public benefits through, among other things, the donation of 
funds or financing of those public facilities and services described and identified in this 
Agreement: 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 2 OF 26 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the terms and conditions set forth 
in this Agreement, the receipt and sufficiency of such consideration being acknowledged by the 
parties, and pursuant to the South Carolina Local Government Development Agreement Act, 
codified in South Carolina Code Annotated sections 6-31-10 through and including -160, as 
amended (collectively, “Act”) and Chester County Ordinance No. 2021-12 (“Ordinance No. 2021-
12”), the parties to this Agreement, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
GENERAL 

Section 1.01. Incorporation. The above recitals are incorporated in this Agreement as if the 
recitals were set out in this Agreement in its entirety. The findings contained in the Act are 
incorporated into this Agreement as if it were set out in this Agreement in its entirety. 

Section 1.02. Definitions. 

(A) In addition to those vest pocket definitions contained throughout this Agreement, as used 
in this Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings: 

(1) “County Council” means the governing body of County. 

(2) “Development Rights” means the right of Developer to develop all or part of the 
Property in accordance with this Agreement. 

(3) “Ordinance No. 2021-12” means Ordinance No. 2021-12 of County which is cited 
as the Development Agreement Ordinance for Chester County, South Carolina. 

(4) “UDO” means the Land Development Ordinance, enacted June 3, 1996, as 
amended to be the most current adopted version on file with the County. 

(B) Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, terms not otherwise defined in this 
Agreement have the meanings set forth in the Act and Ordinance No. 2021-12 or the UDO. 

Section 1.03. Parties. The Parties to this Agreement are County and Developer. 

Section 1.04. Property. This Agreement applies to four parcels of land identified as Tax Map 
Nos. 135-00-00-019-00, 135-00-00-020-00, 135-00-00-032-00 and 136-00-00-042-000, which is 
reflected on Exhibit A, attached hereto, and incorporated herein by reference as if the exhibit were 
set out in this Agreement in its entirety. 

Section 1.05. Zoning. The Property is currently zoned Limited Industrial District (ID-2) and 
is anticipated to be rezoned Planned Development (PD) pursuant to Ordinance No. 2022-____. 

Section 1.06. Development Program.  

(A) The UDO provides for the development uses on the Property, including population 
densities, building intensities and height. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 3 OF 26 

 

(B) All lots for the Development must meet all standards contained in the most current version 
of the UDO unless otherwise modified by this Agreement. In the event of conflict between the 
standards contained in the UDO and this Agreement, the terms of this Agreement control. The 
Development Program for the Property is set forth in Exhibit B, attached hereto and incorporated 
herein by reference as if the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its entirety 

Section 1.07. Development Schedule. 

(A) The estimated development schedule for the Property is set forth on Exhibit C, attached 
hereto and incorporated herein by reference as if the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its 
entirety. 

(B) County and Developer acknowledge that the development schedule is an estimate. The 
failure of Developer to meet a commencement or completion date does not, in and of itself, 
constitute a material breach of this Agreement, but must be judged based on the totality of the 
circumstances. The development schedule is a planning and forecasting tool only. County and 
Developer acknowledge that actual development is likely to take place at a different pace than set 
forth in the development schedule because of future market forces. 

(C) County agrees that if Developer requests an adjustment to the development schedule, 
including commencement dates and interim completion dates, then the dates must be modified if 
Developer is able to demonstrate and establish that there is good cause to modify those dates. 
“Good cause” includes, but is not limited to, changes in market conditions, provided, however, 
under no circumstances shall (i) commencement of construction occur on or after a date that is two 
years from the Agreement Date.  Without modification, the Developer must apply for and be 
approved for the appropriate building permits within two years from the Agreement Date or the 
zoning will revert back to the original classification.   

(D) Periodic adjustments to the development schedule do not require a formal amendment to 
this Agreement and are not considered a major modification. To adjust the development schedule, 
Developer shall submit a proposed adjustment to the Clerk to Council who shall forward copies of 
the proposed adjustment to each member of County Council. The proposed adjustment must be 
accompanied by an explanation and justification. The proposed adjustment is effective 60 days 
from receipt by the Clerk to Council unless County Council has disapproved the proposed 
adjustment by adoption of a resolution to that effect within the 60-day period.  

Section 1.08. Relationship of Parties. This Agreement creates a contractual relationship 
between the Parties. This Agreement is not intended to create, and does not create the relationship 
of partnership, joint venture, or any other relationship wherein any one of the parties may be held 
responsible for the acts of any other party. This Agreement is not intended to create and does not 
create a relationship whereby any one of the parties may be rendered liable in any manner for the 
debts or obligations of any other party, to any person or entity whatsoever, whether the debt or 
obligation arises under this Agreement or outside of this Agreement. 

 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 4 OF 26 

 

Section 1.09. Benefits and Burdens.  

(A) The Parties agree that the burdens of this Agreement are binding upon, and the benefits of 
this Agreement shall inure to, all successors in interests to the Parties to this Agreement. 

(B) Except for the owners and lessees of completed residences on individual lots who are the 
end users and not developers thereof and the owners and lessees of individual lots, who are not 
developers and who intend to build a residence on the lot for the owner or lessee to occupy, any 
purchaser or other successor in title is responsible for performance of Developer’s obligations 
pursuant to this Agreement as to the portion of the Property so transferred. Developer must give 
notice to County of the transfer of property to a developer in the manner prescribed in section 3.05. 

(C) Developer acknowledges and agrees that it and its successors and assigns (i) are responsible 
for the development of the Property when Developer acquires title to or Development Rights for 
the Property, and (ii) will develop the Property in accordance with the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement, and (iii) acknowledge agricultural activities, including, but not limited to, production 
of crops, animal husbandry, land application of animal waste, the raising, breeding, and sale of 
livestock and poultry, including confinement feeding operations, use of farm machinery, and the 
sale of farm products may be practiced and take place in the area of the Property. The Developer 
stipulates and will include such notice of agricultural activities in the homeowners’ association 
documents and restrictive covenants, and more specifically in a standalone restrictive covenant, 
for the Property so all subsequent owners are aware of such agricultural activities. The Developer 
shall remain fully vested with all of the rights, benefits, and privileges arising out of this Agreement 
during the Term of this Agreement except as may be assigned for assumed from time to time 
consistent with this Agreement. 

Section 1.10. Term. The term of this Agreement commences on the Agreement Date and 
terminates ten (10) years thereafter, such that at the end of the 10-year term, Developer no longer 
has any Development Rights, vested rights, and/or any other rights in the Property that arise out 
of or relate to this Agreement. 

Section 1.11. Required Information. Ordinance No. 2021-12 requires a development 
agreement to include certain information. Exhibit D contains the required information or identifies 
where the information may be found in this Agreement. Exhibit D is attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by reference as if the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its entirety. 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.01. Representations and Warranties of County.  

(A) County has found that the development permitted by this Agreement is consistent with 
County’s comprehensive plan and UDO.  

(B) County has approved this Agreement by adoption of Ordinance No. 2022-___ in 
accordance with the procedural requirements of the Act, Ordinance No. ___ and any other  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 5 OF 26 

 

applicable state law. 

(C) County represents that prior to the final reading of Ordinance No. 2022-____ that at least 
two public hearings were held after publication of the required notice and the publication of a 
notice of intent to consider a proposed development agreement. 

Section 2.02. Representations and Warranties of Developer.  

(A) Developer represents that the number of acres of highland contained in the Property is 
greater than 250 acres. 

(B) Developer represents that, as of the Agreement Date, it has contractual rights to acquire the 
Property. 

(C) Developer represents and warrants that the execution, delivery, and performance by the 
respective individual or entity signing this Agreement on behalf of the party has been duly 
authorized and approved by all requisite action on the part of Developer. 

ARTICLE III 
DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS 

Section 3.01. Vested Right to Develop.  

(A) County agrees that Developer, upon receipt of its development permits as identified in 
section 3.04, may proceed to develop the Property according to this Agreement and the UDO. The 
right of Developer to develop the Property as set forth in this Agreement is deemed vested with 
Developer for the term of this Agreement when Developer has complied with all requirements of 
section 5.19 of this Agreement.  

(B) County agrees that the specific Laws and Land Development Regulations in force as of the 
Agreement Date as set forth in Exhibit E to this Agreement, attached hereto and incorporated 
herein by reference as if the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its entirety, shall govern all 
aspects of the development of the Property, according to this Agreement, for the term of this 
Agreement. 

(C) Developer has a vested right to proceed with the development of the Property in accordance 
with the zoning classification set forth in Ordinance No. 2022-_____, the UDO and the terms of 
this Agreement if and only if Developer has complied with all the requirements of section 5.19 of 
this Agreement.  

(D) To the extent that this Agreement may contain zoning and development standards which 
conflict with existing zoning and development standards, including zoning and development 
standards contained in the UDO, the standards contained in this Agreement supersede all other 
standards and this Agreement is deemed controlling. 

(E) Developer acknowledges that County shall not accept financial guarantees for water, sewer 
and storm water infrastructure and the water, sewer and storm water infrastructure must be  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 6 OF 26 

 

installed, tested and in acceptable condition before final plat approval.  

Section 3.02. Effect on Vested Rights Act and County Ordinance No. []. The Parties agree 
that vested rights conferred upon Developer in this Agreement are not affected by the provisions 
of the Vested Rights Act, codified as South Carolina Code Annotated sections 6-29-1510 through 
and included –1560, as amended, or the provisions of Ordinance No. [], County’s ordinance 
relating to the Vested Rights Act. 

Section 3.03. Applicability of Subsequently Adopted Laws and Land Development 
Regulations.  

(A) It is recognized that laws and regulations will periodically change. County may apply laws 
adopted after the execution of this Agreement to the development of the Property unless said 
adopted laws prevent development in the manner set forth in this Agreement.  

(B) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (A) of this Section, County agrees that if 
County imposes a moratorium or other similar restriction that would curtail or hinder the rate at 
which development can occur, then the moratorium or other similar restriction shall not apply to 
the Development of the Property. 

(C) Developer agrees to comply with any county-wide storm water regulations, building, 
housing, electrical, plumbing, and gas codes adopted by County after the Agreement Date and in 
force at the time plans for buildings are submitted to County for review. Nothing in this Agreement 
is intended to supersede or contravene the requirements of any storm water, building, housing, 
electrical, plumbing, or gas code adopted by County. 

Section 3.04. Development Permits.  

(A) Notwithstanding this Agreement, Developer shall obtain all local development permits for 
the development of the Property. Local development permits, approvals, and processes, some of 
which may have been obtained or complied with as of the Agreement Date, may include, but are 
not limited to: 

(1) Site Plan approval; 

(2) Preliminary plan approval 

(3) Final plat approval; 

(4) Zoning permits; 

(5) Building permits; and 

(6) Sign permits. 

(B) The failure of this Agreement to address a particular permit, condition, term, or restriction 
does not relieve Developer of the necessity of complying with the law governing the permitting 
requirements, conditions, terms, or restrictions. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 7 OF 26 

 

Section 3.05. Non-Transfer of Development Rights. Developer is not permitted to transfer 
its Development Rights to other developers. This provision does not apply to the purchaser or other 
successor in title to Developer who is the owner or lessee of a completed residence and is the end 
user and not Developer thereof or who is the owner or lessee of an individual lot, who is not a 
developer and who intends to build a residence on the lot for the owner or lessee to occupy. Any 
purported transfer of rights to a subsequent developer is a breach of, and voids, this Agreement. 

ARTICLE IV 
DEDICATIONS AND FEES AND RELATED AGREEMENTS 

Section 4.01. Purpose of Article. The Parties understand and agree that Development of the 
Property imposes certain burdens and costs on County, including those for certain services and 
infrastructure improvements. Eventually, ad valorem taxes collected from the property may, but 
are not necessarily guaranteed to, meet, or exceed the burdens and costs placed on County, but 
certain initial costs and capital expenditures are now required that are not to be funded by any 
increase in taxes paid by existing residents of County. The purpose of this article is to identify the 
matters agreed upon to be provided by Developer to mitigate such burdens and costs. 

Section 4.02. Other Charges or Fees. 

(A) The Property shall be subject to development and/or permit fees enacted by the County that 
are in effect on the Agreement Date, of County-wide application and that relate to the County’s 
costs of processing applications, issuing development permits, reviewing plans, conducting 
inspections, or similar type processing costs. The property shall not be subject to any additional 
development and/or permit fees enacted by the County after the Agreement Date, however 
characterized. 

(B) All units and attached dwellings shall be subject to a development fee in the amount of 
$5,000 per lot, payable by the building permit applicant to the County at the time of issuance of 
each respective building permit. 

Section 4.03. Infrastructure and Services. The Parties recognize that most of the direct costs 
associated with the Development of the Property will be borne by Developer, and many necessary 
infrastructure improvements and services will be provided by Developer or other governmental or 
quasi-governmental entities, and not by County. For clarification, the Parties make specific note 
of and acknowledge the following:  

(A) Roads. Developer is responsible for the construction and costs of all roads, whether for 
public or private use, within the Property including but not limited to any necessary entrance and 
intersection improvements as required by the South Carolina Department of Transportation related 
to the development of the Property. All roads must be constructed in accordance with County’s 
road standards. The road improvements are expected to be implemented on a schedule consistent 
with the development of the Property as contained in the development schedule and as necessary 
to serve the development. Developer is also responsible for maintenance of all roads that are not 
public roads. Developer acknowledges that County will only accept as public roads those roads 
constructed in full compliance with the UDO and providing connectivity to County road system  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 8 OF 26 

 

or serving as a necessary component for the proper development of County road system. County 
will not accept the roads within the Property into County road system for any other purpose, 
including, but not limited to, maintenance. Developer may transfer the ownership of the roads and 
its obligations for the roads to a homeowners’ or property owners’ association or similar 
organization. 

(B) Potable Water, Sewage Treatment, and Disposal. Potable water, sewage treatment and 
disposal will all be supplied to the Property by one or more of the following Chester Municipal 
District, Chester Wastewater Recovery, and/or some other public or private entity. Developer will 
construct, or cause to be constructed, all necessary water and sewer service infrastructure within 
the Property and the water and sewer service infrastructure will be maintained by the appropriate 
provider and not County. County is not responsible for any construction, treatment, maintenance, 
or costs associated with water or sewer service or water and sewer service infrastructure to or 
within the Property. The water and/or sewer service infrastructure is expected to be implemented 
on a schedule consistent with the development of the Property as contained in the development 
schedule and as necessary to serve the development. Developer acknowledges that County has no 
authority or responsibility for providing potable water services or sewer services in County and 
that each service provider is a separate apart and distinct from County over which County has no 
control. 

(C) Storm Water Management. Developer will construct or cause to be constructed all storm 
water runoff and drainage improvements within the Property required by the development of the 
Property and such infrastructure will be maintained by Developer or a homeowners’ association. 
County is not responsible for any construction, maintenance or costs associated with the storm 
water runoff and drainage for the Property. Storm water management improvements are expected 
to be implemented on a schedule consistent with the development of the Property as contained in 
the development schedule and as necessary to serve the development. 

(D) Solid Waste Collection. County shall provide solid waste collection to the Property on the 
same basis as is provided to other residents and businesses in County. It is understood and 
acknowledged that County does not presently provide solid waste disposal for single, multi-family 
or commercial developments. Residential units shall be served by a private waste hauling 
company. 

(E) Fire Services. The Property is in Richburg Fire Protection District service area and fire 
services will be provided by the Richburg Fire Protection District, or its successor entities. 

(F) School Services. Public school services are now provided by the Chester County School 
District. Developer acknowledges that County has no authority or responsibility for providing 
public school services in County. 

ARTICLE V 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 5.01. Notices. Any notice, election, demand, request or other communication to be 
provided under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be effective (i) when delivered to the  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 9 OF 26 

 

party named below, (ii) when deposited with the United States Postal Service, certified mail, return 
receipt requested, postage prepaid, or (iii) when deposited in Federal Express (or any other 
reputable national “next day” delivery service) addressed as follows (or addressed to such other 
address as any party shall have previously furnished in writing to the other party), except where 
the terms hereof require receipt rather than sending of any notice, in which case such provision 
shall control: 

To County:  Chester County, South Carolina 
Attn: Brian Hester, County Administrator 

   1476 J.A. Cochran Bypass (hand delivery/courier service) 
Post Office Box 580 

   Chester, South Carolina 29706 

With a Copy to (does not constitute notice): 

     Winters Law Firm 
   Attn: Joan E. Winters, Esq. 
   105 Main Street (hand delivery/courier service) 
   Post Office Box 127 
   Chester, South Carolina 29706 

And to Developer:  

D.R. Horton, Inc. 
    Attn: Troy Karski 
    8025 Arrowridge Blvd. 

Charlotte, NC 28273 
 

 
 
With a Copy to: Morton & Gettys, LLC 

    Daniel J. Ballou, Esquire 
    301 E. Main St., Suite 300 (29730) 
    P.O. Box 707 (29731) 
    Rock Hill, SC  
 

 

 

Section 5.02. Amendments.  

(A) This Agreement may be amended or cancelled by mutual consent of the parties to the 
Agreement. An amendment to this Agreement must be in writing. No statement, action or 
agreement made after the Agreement Date shall be effective to change, amend, waive, modify, 
discharge, terminate or effect an abandonment of this Agreement in whole or in part unless such  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 10 OF 26 

 

statement, action or agreement is in writing and signed by the party against whom the change, 
amendment, waiver, modification, discharge, termination, or abandonment is sought to be 
enforced.  

(B) An amendment to this Agreement with the exceptions identified for Exhibit B, must be 
processed, and considered in the same manner as set forth in Ordinance No. 2021-12 for a proposed 
development agreement. Any amendment to this Agreement constitutes a major modification and 
the major modification may occur only after public notice and a public hearing by County Council. 

(C) This Agreement must be modified or suspended as may be necessary to comply with any 
state or federal laws or regulations enacted after the Agreement Date which prevents or precludes 
compliance with one or more of the provisions of this Agreement but only to the extent necessary 
to effectuate compliance with the state or federal law. 

Section 5.03. Periodic Review. At least every 12 months, the Planning Director for County, 
or the designee of the Planning Director for County, must review compliance with this Agreement 
by Developer. At the time of review Developer must demonstrate good faith compliance with the 
terms of the Agreement. 

Section 5.04. Breach of Agreement. 

(A) If, as a result of the periodic review provided in section 5.03 of this Agreement or at any 
other time, the Planning Director for County, or the Planning Director’s designee, determines that 
Developer has committed a breach of the terms or conditions of this Agreement, then the Planning 
Director for County shall serve notice in writing, within a reasonable time after the periodic review, 
on Developer setting forth the nature of the breach and the information supporting the 
determination, and providing Developer a reasonable time in which to cure the breach. 

(B) If Developer fails to cure the breach within a reasonable time and is not proceeding 
expeditiously and with diligence to cure the breach, then County may unilaterally terminate or 
modify this Agreement. Prior to terminating or modifying this Agreement as provided in this 
section, County Council must first give Developer the opportunity (i) to rebut the determination, 
or (ii) to consent to amend the Agreement to meet the County’s concerns with respect to the 
determination. 

Section 5.05. Enforcement. The Parties shall each have the right to enforce this Agreement, 
if not cured within the applicable cure period, by any remedy available at law or in equity, 
including specific performance, and the right to recover attorney’s fees and costs associated with 
enforcement. 

Section 5.06. No Third-Party Beneficiary. The provisions of this Agreement may be 
enforced only by the Parties. No other persons, natural or corporate, shall have any rights 
hereunder. 

Section 5.07. Recording of Agreement. The Parties agree that Developer shall record this 
Agreement with County Clerk of Court within 14 days of the date of execution of this Agreement. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 11 OF 26 

 

Section 5.08. Administration of Agreement. County is the only local government that is a 
party to this Agreement and County is responsible for the Agreement’s administration. 

Section 5.09. Effect of Annexation and Incorporation. The Parties agree that this Agreement 
remains in effect if the Property is, in whole or in part, included in any municipality. The Parties 
acknowledge that upon incorporation or annexation the application and duration of this Agreement 
is controlled by section 6-31-110 of the Act. County reserves the right to enter into an agreement 
with the newly incorporated municipality or the annexing municipality for the administration and 
enforcement of this Agreement after the date of incorporation or annexation. 

Section 5.10. Estoppel Certificate. Any of the Parties may, at any time, and from time to time, 
deliver written notice to the other party requesting the party to certify in writing: (i) that this 
Agreement is in full force and effect, (ii) that this Agreement has not been amended or modified, 
or if so amended, identifying the amendments, and (iii) whether, to the knowledge of the party, 
without inquiry, the requesting party is in default or claimed default in the performance of its 
obligation under this Agreement, and, if so, describing the nature and amount, if any, of any such 
default or claimed default, and (iv) whether, to the knowledge of the party, without inquiry, any 
event has occurred or failed to occur which, with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or 
both, would constitute a default and, if so, specifying each such event. 

Section 5.11. Entire Agreement. This Agreement sets forth, and incorporates by reference all 
the agreements, conditions, and understandings among the Parties relative to the Property and its 
Development and there are no promises, agreements, conditions, or understandings, oral or written, 
expressed or implied, among the Parties relative to the matters addressed in this Agreement other 
than as set forth or as referred to in this Agreement. 

Section 5.12. Covenant to Sign other Documents. County and Developer acknowledge that 
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement may require the execution 
contemporaneously with the execution of this Agreement and thereafter of certain documents in 
addition to this Agreement and County and Developer agree to cooperate with the execution 
thereof. 
 

Section 5.13. Construction of Agreement. The Parties agree that each party and its counsel 
have reviewed and revised this Agreement and that any rule of construction to the effect that 
ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall not apply in the interpretation of this 
Agreement or any amendments or exhibits to this Agreement. 

Section 5.14. Assignment. The rights, obligations, duties, and responsibilities devolved by this 
Agreement on or to Developer are assignable to any other person, firm, corporation, or entity  
except that the assignment must conform to the requirements of section 1.09 and section 3.05. 
County may assign its rights, obligations, duties, and responsibilities devolved by this Agreement 
on or to County to any other person, firm, corporation, or entity. 

Section 5.15. Governing Law; Jurisdiction; and Venue.  

(A) This Agreement is governed by the laws of the State of South Carolina. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 12 OF 26 

 

(B) The Parties agree that jurisdiction and venue for disputes relating to this Agreement is the 
6th Judicial Circuit of the State of South Carolina. 

Section 5.16. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts in 
original, facsimile, or electronic means, provided such means of execution are sufficient for 
recording, each of which shall be deemed an original, and such counterparts shall constitute but 
one and the same instrument. 

Section 5.17. Eminent Domain. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall limit, impair, or 
restrict County’s right and power of eminent domain under the laws of the State. 

Section 5.18. Severability. If any provision in this Agreement or the application of any 
provision of this Agreement is unenforceable, then that unenforceability shall apply only to the 
unenforceable provision, and the remaining provisions of this Agreement, and the application of 
this Agreement or any other provision of this Agreement, shall remain in full force and effect. 
However, if the unenforceable provision would prevent or materially impair County’s and 
Developer’s right or ability to complete performance of this Agreement, then the Parties agree to 
use their best efforts to renegotiate that provision to provide the affected party with the ability 
completely to perform this Agreement. 

Section 5.19. When Agreement takes Effect. This Agreement is dated as of the Agreement Date 
and takes effect when (i) County and Developer have each executed the Agreement, and (ii) 
Developer has delivered to County Administrator clocked-in copies, with book and page numbers, 
of the recorded deeds conveying the Property to Developer. If County Administrator has not 
received clocked-in copies of the deeds conveying the Property to Developer by 5:00 p.m., June 
20, 2023, then this Agreement is automatically terminated without further action of either County  
or Developer. The obligation of Developer pursuant to section 4.02 is effective on the date the last 
Party to sign this Agreement executes this Agreement and the obligations imposed on Developer 
pursuant to section 4.02 survives the termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Section. 
 

(C) An Indemnified Party may not avail itself of the indemnification or reimbursement of costs 
provided in this Section unless it provides the Developer with prompt notice, reasonable under the 
circumstances, of the existence or threat of any claim or liability, including, without limitation, 
copies of any citations, orders, fines, charges, remediation requests, or other claims or threats of 
claims, in order to afford the Developer notice, reasonable under the circumstances, within which 
to defend or otherwise respond to a claim. 

Section 5.20. Indemnification Covenants. 
(A) Except as provided in paragraph (d) below, the Developer shall indemnify and save the 

County, its employees, elected officials, officers and agents (each, an “Indemnified Party”) 
harmless against and from all liability or claims arising from the County’s execution of this 
Agreement, performance of the County’s obligations under this Agreement or the 
administration of its duties pursuant to this Agreement, or otherwise by virtue of the County 
having entered into this Agreement. 

 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 13 OF 26 

 
(B) The County is entitled to use counsel of its choice and the Developer shall reimburse the 

County for all its costs, including attorneys’ fees, incurred in connection with the response to or 
defense against such liability or claims as described in paragraph (a), above. The County shall 
provide a statement of the costs incurred in the response or defense, and the Developer shall pay 
the County within 30 days of receipt of the statement. The Developer may request reasonable 
documentation evidencing the costs shown on the statement. However, the County is not 
required to provide any documentation which may be privileged or confidential to evidence the 
costs. 

 
(C) The County may request the Developer to resist or defend against any claim on 

behalf of an Indemnified Party. On such request, the Developer shall resist or defend against 
such claim on behalf of the Indemnified Party, at the Developer’s expense. The Developer is 
entitled to use counsel of its choice, manage, and control the defense of or response to such 
claim for the Indemnified Party; provided the Developer is not entitled to settle any such claim 
without the consent of that Indemnified Party. 

 
(D) Notwithstanding anything in this Section or this Agreement to the contrary, the 

Developer is not required to indemnify any Indemnified Party against or reimburse the County 
for costs arising from any claim or liability (i) occasioned by the acts of that Indemnified Party, 
which are unrelated to the execution of this Agreement, performance of the County’s obligations 
under this Agreement, or the administration of its duties under this Agreement, or otherwise by 
virtue of the County having entered into this Agreement; or 
(ii) resulting from that Indemnified Party’s own negligence, bad faith, fraud, deceit, or willful 
misconduct. 
 

(E) An Indemnified Party may not avail itself of the indemnification or reimbursement of 
costs provided in this Section unless it provides the Developer with prompt notice, reasonable 
under the circumstances, of the existence or threat of any claim or liability, including, without 
limitation, copies of any citations, orders, fines, charges, remediation requests, or other claims 
or threats of claims, in order to afford the Developer notice, reasonable under the 
circumstances, to defend or otherwise respond to a claim. 

Section 5.21.   General Terms and Conditions. 
 

(A) Agreements to Run with the Land.  This Agreement shall be recorded against the Property 
as described in Exhibit A.  The agreements contained herein shall be deemed to run with the land.   

 
(B) No Waiver.  Failure of a Party hereto to exercise any right hereunder shall not be deemed 

a waiver of any such right and shall not affect the right of such Party to exercise at some future 
time said right or any other right it may have hereunder.   

 
(C) Merger.  This Agreement, coupled with its Exhibits which are incorporated herein by 

reference, shall state the final and complete expression of the Parties’ intentions with respect to 
the matters set forth herein.  All prior negotiations and representations are superseded and merged 
herein. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 14 OF 26 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[TWO SIGNATURE PAGES AND [] EXHIBITS FOLLOW] 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 

  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 15 OF 26 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the first date 
written above. 

WITNESSES:      DEVELOPER: 
       D.R. HORTON 
       A Delaware Corporation 
Name: 

              
Name:       By: 
       Its: 

STATE OF      ) 
      )  ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
COUNTY OF     ) 

[], who personally appeared before me and proved to me through government-issued photo 
identification to be the above-named person and acknowledged the execution and delivery of the 
within name Development Agreement and that s/he executed and delivered the same as his/her 
own free act and deed. 

Dated:              

Notary Public for the State of     

My commission expires:     
[NOTARIAL SEAL] 

  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 16 OF 26 

 
WITNESSES:      COUNTY: 
       CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, 
       a political subdivision of the State of South 
Carolina 
 
Name: 

              
Name:       By: Brian Hester 
       Its: County Administrator 

[COUNTY SEAL] 
Attest: 

       
Karen Lee 
Clerk to County Council 

SOUTH CAROLINA   ) 
      )  ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
CHESTER COUNTY   ) 

Brian Hester, who personally appeared before me and proved to me through government-
issued photo identification to be the above-named person and acknowledged the execution and 
delivery of the within name Development Agreement and that s/he executed and delivered the 
same as his/her own free act and deed. 

Dated:              

Notary Public for the State of     

My commission expires:     
[NOTARIAL SEAL] 

  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 17 OF 26 

EXHIBIT A 
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

[TO BE COMPLETED PRIOR TO EXECUTION] 

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 
  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 18 OF 26 

EXHIBIT B 
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 

1. Master Plan: The Master Plan shall serve as the general guide for the location of roads, 
buildings, and other development features. The Property shall be generally developed consistent 
with the approved Master Plan and associated exhibits unless otherwise modified consistent with 
the terms of the Agreement. 

2. Zoning District: The Property, once rezoned, will be in the [] zoning district and shall be 
developed consistent with the provisions of the applicable zoning restrictions/requirements unless 
otherwise specified in the Agreement 

3. Permitted Uses: The Property shall be permitted to be developed with all uses permitted 
within the applicable zoning district(s) and not identified as being prohibited. The permitted 
location of said uses on the Property shall be identified on the approved Master Plan.  

4. Prohibited Uses: The following uses shall not be permitted on the Property regardless of 
the provisions contained in the UDO: gas station, vape lounge, and gaming.  

5. Dimensional Requirements: The Property shall comply with the dimensional requirements 
(i.e., building setbacks, height, and related provisions) specified in the UDO and noted in the table 
below.  

MODIFIED MINIMUM DIMENSIONAL STANDARDS* 

      

      

*In addition to the lot dimensions referenced above, the residential garage shall be set back a 
minimum of [] feet from the front façade of the house or [] from the edge of the right-of way for 
front-loaded single-family detached homes and townhomes, whichever is greater. Placement of 
single-family detached homes and townhome units shall be staggered. 

6. Maximum Development Intensity: The maximum number of residential units on the 
Property shall be limited as specified below in the table.  

  

  

  

7. Residential Section – Site Layout and Architecture  

a. General Site Layout: 

b. Architecture: Homes shall be constructed with a mix of materials including brick, 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 19 OF 26 

stone, and/or cementitious siding (i.e., Hardie). Vinyl siding shall not be permitted as a primary 
wall material but may be used for minor accent areas.  

8. Commercial Section-Site Layout and Architecture:  

a. General Site Layout: 

b. Architectural Design and Materials: 

9. Open Space and Landscaping 

a. Open Space Quantity and Design:  

b. Open Space Amenity Features (including timing):  

c. Tree Preservation and Protection:  

d. Buffers: 

e. Pump Station Screening:  

f. Landscaped Medians:  

g. BMP Design/Landscaping:  

10. Transportation:  

a. Offsite Improvements:  

b. Onsite Improvements: 

11. Modification of Development Program: It is recognized that periodic modifications to the 
Development Program may be needed to address market conditions, environmental challenges, 
and other elements. The following will outline the processes for Minor, Moderate, and Major 
Modifications to Exhibit B. Modifications to other sections of the Agreement will be processed in 
accordance with those provisions.  

a. Minor Modifications: Minor Modifications are defined as those modifications that reflect 
minor adjustments to the site layout caused by environmental features, adaptations to comply with 
regulatory requirements, and other changes considered incidental by County staff. Generally, 
Minor Modifications shall only be to the Master Plan and not to a specific development standard 
set forth within Exhibit B. The Planning Director shall determine what shall constitute a Minor 
Modification and have the authority to administratively approve such. 

b. Moderate Modifications: Moderate Modifications are those modification to the Master 
Plan that are not caused by environmental features, adaptations to comply with regulatory 
requirements, and are not considered by County staff to be incidental changes or are modifications 
to the text of Exhibit B that do not reflect the inclusion of new land use categories, increases to 
maximum dwelling units or square footage allowances. Moderate Modifications may be approved 
by the County Council after a review and recommendation is provided by County Staff. Approved 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 20 OF 26 

Moderate Modifications shall be recorded by Developer and made an amendment to Exhibit B. 

c. Major Modifications: Major Modifications are those that do not qualify as either a Minor 
or Moderate Modification, such as a substantive changes in the location of land uses or the addition 
of new external access point to the public road system. Major Modifications must be processed 
and considered in the same manner as set forth in Ordinance No. 2021-12 for a proposed 
development agreement.  

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 21 OF 26 

EXHIBIT C 
DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE 

[TO BE COMPLETED PRIOR TO EXECUTION] 

This estimated Development Schedule is subject to update according to section 1.07. 

Notwithstanding any other part of this Agreement, Property’s development is limited to [] 
residential units. 

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 22 OF 26 

EXHIBIT D 
REQUIRED INFORMATION 

The Act and Ordinance No. [] require a development agreement to include certain information. 
The following information is provided in conformance with the Act and Ordinance No. []. 

(A) a legal description of the property subject to the agreement and the names of the property’s 
legal and equitable owners. The legal description of the Property is set forth in Exhibit A. As of 
the Agreement Date, [owner], is the legal and equitable owner of the Property, except to the extent 
that Developer has contractual rights to acquire the Property. 

(B) the duration of the agreement which must comply with section 6-31-40 of the Act. See 
section 1.10. 

(C) a representation by Developer of the number of acres of highland contained in the property 
subject to the agreement. See section 2.02. 

(D) the then current zoning of the property and a statement, if applicable, of any proposed re-
zoning of the property. See section 1.05.  

(E) the development uses that would be permitted on the property pursuant to the agreement, 
including population densities, building intensities, and height. See section 1.06. 

(F) a description of the public facilities that will service the development, including who 
provides the facilities, the date any new facilities, if needed, will be constructed, and a schedule to 
assure public facilities are available concurrent with the impacts of the development construction 
timeline for those facilities. If the agreement provides that County shall provide certain public 
facilities, the agreement shall provide that the delivery date of the public facilities will be tied to 
defined completion percentages or other defined performance standards to be met by Developer. 
See article IV. 

(G) a description, where appropriate, of any reservation or dedication of land for public 
purposes and any provisions to protect environmentally sensitive property as may be required or 
permitted pursuant to laws in effect at the time of entering into the agreement. Developer shall 
comply with all applicable environmental laws. 

(H) a description of all local development permits approved or needed to be approved for the 
development of the property together with a statement indicating that the failure of the agreement 
to address a particular permit, condition, term, or restriction does not relieve Developer of the 
necessity of complying with the law governing the permitting requirements, conditions, terms, or 
restrictions. See section 3.04. 

(I) a finding that the development permitted or proposed is consistent or will be consistent by 
the time of execution of the agreement, with County’s comprehensive plan and land development 
regulations. See section 2.01(A). 

(J) a description, where appropriate, of any provisions for the preservation and restoration of 
historic structures. Developer shall comply with all laws applicable to the preservation and 
restoration of historic structures within the Property. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 23 OF 26 

(K) a development schedule including commencement dates and interim completion dates at 
no greater than five-year intervals. See section 1.07 and Exhibit C. 

(L) if more than one local government is made party to the agreement, a provision stating 
which local government is responsible for the overall administration of the agreement. See section 
5.08. 

(M) a listing of the laws and land development regulations that will apply to the development 
of the property subject to the agreement, including citation to specific ordinance numbers, portions 
of County Code of Ordinances, or both. See section 3.01(B) and Exhibit E. 

(N) a provision, consistent with section 6-31-80 of the Act, addressing the circumstances under 
which laws and land development regulations adopted after the execution of the agreement apply 
to the property subject to the agreement. See section 3.03. 

(O) a provision stating whether the agreement continues to apply to the property or portions 
of it that are annexed into a municipality or included in a newly incorporated area and, if so, that 
the provisions of section 6-31-110 of the Act apply. See section 5.09. 

(P) a provision relating to the amendment, cancellation, modification, or suspension of the 
agreement. See section 5.02. 

(Q) a provision for periodic review, consistent with the provisions of section 8 of Ordinance 
No. []. See section 5.03. 

(R) a provision addressing the effects of a material breach of the agreement, consistent with 
the provisions of section 9 of Ordinance No. []. See section 5.04. 

(S) a provision that Developer, within 14 days after County executes the Agreement, will 
record the Agreement with County Clerk of Court. See section 5.07. 

(T) a provision that the burdens of the Agreement are binding on, and the benefits of the 
Agreement shall inure to, County and Developer. See section 1.09(A). 

(U) a provision addressing the conditions and procedures by which the Agreement may be 
assigned, if applicable. See section 1.09(B), section 3.05, and section 5.14. 

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 24 OF 26 

EXHIBIT E 
LAWS AND LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

1. Ordinance No. 2022-[] zoning the Property as []. 

2. Ordinance No. 2022-[], approving this Development Agreement. 

3. Ordinance No. 2022-[], the Development Agreement Ordinance. 

4. Unified Development Ordinance of Chester County: Land Development Ordinance, 
enacted June 3, 1995, as amended as of the Agreement Date (“UDO”). The UDO includes 
Ordinance No. 2021-12, as amended, as of the Agreement Date and which is cited as the Land 
Development Regulations of Chester County. A copy of the UDO has been signed by the Parties 
and is on file in the office of County Planning Department.  

5. Land Development Regulations of Chester County: See Unified Development Ordinance 
of Chester County. 

6. Zoning Ordinance, enacted April 6, 1998, as amended. 

7. Article [], Chapter [], Chester County Code of Ordinances [] [] []. 

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 

 
  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 25 OF 26 

EXHIBIT F 
FORM REQUEST TO MODIFY DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE 

 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) ADDENDUM 
 ) TO 
COUNTY OF CHESTER ) DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

 
 

THIS ADDENDUM TO A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Addendum”) is made 
effective on the 

[insert recording date of Addendum] 

, by Chester County, a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina, and 

[insert Company Name, a ______________company, or its successor or assign] 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, [Company Name], a __________________ company (the “Property 
Owner”), is a party to that certain Development Agreement with CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH 
CAROLINA (the “County”), effective date of ______________, 20[], recorded on 
______________, 202[] in the office of Chester County Clerk of Court in Book _____, Page _____ 
(the “Development Agreement”); and 

[if applicable, insert successor or assign of ____________ as a Developer pursuant to an 
Assignment] 

WHEREAS, the Development Agreement is appurtenant to and runs with that certain real 
property situate in Chester County, South Carolina, as set forth on a legal description of the real 
property attached to the Development Agreement as Exhibit A (the “Property”); and 

WHEREAS, without limitation, Section 1.07. of the Development Agreement establishes 
a vested right in a Development Schedule, together with commencement, interim completion, and 
completion dates for development of the Property in accordance with the terms of the Development 
Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, without limitation, Section 1.07. of the Development Agreement provides 
that the 

[insert either Property Owner or Developer] 

(hereinafter the “Petitioner”) may request a modification in the Development Schedule of Section 
1.07. of the Development Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, Section 1.07. of the Development Agreement further provides that where the 
Petitioner demonstrates that there is good cause to modify the Development Schedule, the County 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 26 OF 26 

shall approve such request within 45 days of its submittal, and that such modification shall not 
constitute or require an amendment of the Development Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the Petitioner has requested, and the County has approved, a modification in 
the Development Schedule of Section 1.07. of the Development Agreement as more specifically 
set forth herein below with respect to the portion of the Property more specifically identified in the 
legal description attached hereto as Attachment A (the “Addendum Property”). 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Petitioner desires to execute and record this Addendum to the 
Development Agreement to modify the Development Schedule of Section 1.07. of the 
Development Agreement as follows: 

1. Modification of Development Phasing Schedule. The Development Schedule for the 
Addendum Property shall hereby be modified as follows: 

[insert description of the proposed modification, including a proposed schedule for the 
submittal of the Development Applications consistent with the proposed modification] 

2. Approval by County. This modification of the Development Schedule for the 
Addendum Property has been approved by the County as evidenced by the Planning Director’s 
signature and insignia imprinted below. This approval constitutes a finding by the County that the 
Petitioner has demonstrated good cause to modify the Development Schedule for the Addendum 
Property. 

  
[insert name] Planning Director’s Dated Stamp of Approval  
Chester County Planning Director 

3. Effect of Modification of Development Phasing Schedule. Except as specifically 
modified in this Addendum with respect to the Development Schedule for the Addendum Property, 
no other modification or amendment of the Development Agreement shall be effected by the 
recording of this Addendum, and all other terms and conditions of the Agreement shall remain in 
full force and effect. This Addendum shall be binding upon the County, the Petitioner, its 
successors and assigns, and shall run with the title to the Addendum Property. 

4. Recording Required. This Addendum shall be recorded by the Petitioner within 
fourteen (14) days of the date of County’s approval herein below. The modification of the 
Development Schedule shall be effective upon the recording of this Addendum, and this 
Addendum as recorded shall constitute conclusive evidence of the same. 

5. Authority. The Petitioner represents and warrants that this Addendum has been duly 
authorized by all necessary corporate action. 

[insert Section 6. only if Petitioner is not _______[company name]_______ or its  
successor in corporate interest] 

6. Consent by Property Owner. The undersigned Property Owner hereby consents to the 
modification of the Development Phasing Schedule for the Addendum Property:  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
MAGNOLIA TRACE DEVELOPEMNT 
CHESTER COUNTY- D.R. HORTON, INC. 

EFFECTIVE: ____________________, 2023 

PAGE 27 OF 26 

 

Witness: Property Owner: 
  
    
Print Name:   By:   
 Print Name:   
  Its:   
Print Name:     

 
 
 
STATE OF   

COUNTY OF   

Personally appeared before me the undersigned witness who being duly sworn deposes and 
says that he/she saw the within named _______________, (name), the _______________ (title) of 
_______________ (Property Owner), _______________ (corporate form), sign, and as its act and 
deed deliver the foregoing instrument for the uses and purposes therein mentioned, and that he/she, 
together with _______________ (witness #2), the other witness subscribed above, witnessed the 
execution thereof. 

Sworn to before me this   
day of ________________, 20____ 
    
Notary Public for   (Witness #1 sign here) 
County, State of    

My Commission Expires:   

[NOTARIAL STAMP-SEAL] 

 

[Insert Signature Pages for Petitioner] 

[Insert Attachment A: Legal Description of Assignment Property] 

























1 

 

 
 
 

ENABLING ACT FOR THE CHESTER COUNTY GATEWAY DISTRICT MASTER PLAN STEERING 
COMMITTEE  

 
 
 WHEREAS Section 4-9-30-(6) of the Code of Laws of South Carolina empowers the County 

Council “to establish such agencies, departments, boards, commissions and positions in the County as 

may be necessary and proper to provide services of local concern for public purposes, to prescribe the 

functions thereof and to regulate, modify, merge or abolish such agencies, departments, boards, 

commissions and positions…” and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Gateway District Master Plan was developed for the most efficient and effective 

planning of the area of Chester County referred to as “the Gateway” in the Richburg portion of the 

County; and 

 

WHEREAS, a Steering Committee was formed representing twenty-two public agencies and 

private organizations, and with the engagement of Chester County residents, property owners, and 

stakeholders to assist throughout the process: and 

 

 WHEREAS, Chester County has the need to maintain a committee that will, under the direction 

of Chester County Council, advise on the implementation of the Gateway District Master Plan as 

approved by the Chester County Planning Commission and adopted by Chester County Council; and  

 
 WHEREAS, this Committee as originally formed and thereafter, shall be governed by the 

Enabling Act as attached herein as Exhibit “B” for the committee that shall be known as the Chester 

County Gateway District Master Plan Steering Committee, and shall be incorporated into Ordinance No. 

2017-15 by reference herein. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNTY COUNCIL FOR CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH 

CAROLINA, DULY ASSEMBLED DOES HEREBY ADOPT THE AFOREMENTIONED CHESTER COUNTY 

GATEWAY DISTRICT MASTER PLAN STEERING COMMITTED ENABLING ACT. 

 
 
 
 



2 

 

 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT B 
 

CHESTER COUNTY GATEWAY DISTRICT MASTER PLAN STEERING COMMITTEE 
ENABLING ACT 

 
 

I. MEMBERSHIP/TERM OF MEMBERS 
 
(a) The Committee created by this Council shall be comprised of no less than seven 

(7) and no more than thirteen (13) individuals and businesses.  Any non-resident must have a 
vested interest in the Gateway District, such as property ownership or a business, etc and be 
approved by council. Non-residents may not exceed four (4) members at any time on 
committee.   

(b) Those originally appointed to the Committee shall continue to serve until such 
time as they voluntarily resign. 

(c) Vacancies shall be filled in the same manner as the original appointments.  
Committee members shall hold office for their respective terms. 

(d) Each member shall serve for a term of two (2) years.  Members seeking to 
maintain their committee seat beyond the expiration may be reappointed with County Council 
approval by recommendation from the County Administrator or designee.  

(e) Members who wish to remain on the Committee following the expiration of their 
term and non-reappointment may do so in an Emeritus status.  While in Emeritus status, the 
member may not vote on issues but may engage in discussion with the Committee during its 
meetings. 

(f) Appointments will terminate on December 31st of the final year of the term of 
service.  New appointments will be made on January 1st or as soon thereafter as possible, of the 
year following the expiration of the prior appointees’ terms of service, by existing members of 
the Committee or from the County Administrator, their designee, and ratified by the approval 
of Chester County Council.  Existing appointees may also be re-appointed after January 1st 
following the expiration of their appointment terms subject to the other provisions in this 
Enabling Act. 

(g) A member who has three (3) consecutive unexcused absences from meetings 
shall automatically vacate his position and a replacement shall be named for the unexpired 
term by the County Administrator or their designee. 

(h) Members may be removed at the recommendation of the County Administrator, 
with County Council approval, for unruly, egregious, unethical or illegal conduct while a 
member, which creates a nonproductive, hostile or disruptive environment as determined by 



3 

 

the County Administrator. Members may also be removed when they are aware of an existing 
conflict of interest that they do not disclose to the Committee. 

(i) For the Committee to conduct official business and vote, a quorum must be 
present.  A quorum is defined as fifty percent plus one of the active members in good standing. 
 
 

 
II. DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
(a) To advise the County Administrator or assigned through discussion with County 

Administrator on any matter affecting the implementation of the Gateway District Master Plan, 
and any amendments or changes that the Committee may recommend to County Administrator 
for adoption.  Such advice shall be made in the form of a written report to County Council, 
summarizing the activities, findings and functions on the Committee, together with the agenda 
for the next meeting, all of which shall be in the hands of the Clerk to Council no later than 
noon on the Wednesday preceding a County Council meeting. 

(b) Provide a venue for citizens’ concerns or problems in connection with the further 
development and/or implementation of the Gateway District Master Plan. 

(c) Recommend to County Administrator a structured outline for implementation of 
the Gateway District Master Plan. 

(d) Conduct its affairs in accordance with the policies and ordinances of the County 
Council; 

(e) To follow this Enabling Act for the orderly conduct of its affairs, consistent with 
the Chester County Code and Parliamentary Procedure; 

(f) Establish and recommend to County Administrator   for review, at least annually, 
priorities for the implementation of the Gateway District Master Plan. 

(g) Submit to the County Administrator any other recommendations it deems 
appropriate for the short- and long-range development and implementation of the Gateway 
District Master Plan. 

(h) This Committee shall serve solely in an advisory function and shall maintain no 
control over the actual direction and implementation of the Gateway District Master Plan.  Said 
control shall be reserved by the Chester County Council as provided under S.C. Code §4-9-30(9). 

(i) In no event shall this Committee enter in to any contracts, contractual 
obligations, employment of personnel and purchase of equipment or expenditure of funds not 
itemized and authorized in the budget under which it shall operate, without prior written 
consent, affirmation and authorization of the County Council; 

(j)  The power and authority to enter into any contract binding the County is vested 
with and shall remain in the chief administrative officer of the County and the County Council 
and is not herein delegated to this Committee. 

 
III. COMPENSATION 

 



4 

 

Members of the Chester County Gateway District Master Plan Steering Committee 
shall receive no compensation for their service on the Committee.  Service is strictly voluntary. 

 
 
 

IV. OFFICERS; MEETINGS; RECORDS 
 
(a) At the organizational meeting, there shall be elected a chairman, a vice chairman 

and a secretary, and these officers shall serve for a one (1) year period or until their successors 
are duly elected and qualified.  Vacancies in any such office by reason of death, resignation or 
replacement shall be filled for the unexpired term of the officer whose position becomes 
vacant. 

(b) The Committee shall meet once a quarter or as needed, on a day and time 
designated by the Committee, at the Gateway Conference Center, 3200 Commerce Drive, 
Richburg, South Carolina. The secretary shall take minutes of the meetings and shall keep a 
record of the business transacted. 

(c) Chester County Council shall receive copies of the minutes for information at the 
next regularly scheduled County Council meeting to follow the meeting of the Committee. 

 
V. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION/ETHICS 

 
(a) The Committee shall comply with the provisions of the South Carolina Freedom 

of Information Act and the requirements set forth in County ordinances for the procedural 
requirements for the conduct of public meetings.  Public announcements, including a notice of 
meeting, shall be made in a newspaper of general circulation at least twenty-four (24) hours 
prior to a meeting. 

(b) Members of this Committee are defined as “public officials” under the South 
Carolina Ethics Act, S.C. Code 1976, §8-13-100 et seq., as amended.  It shall be the responsibility 
of members, individually and collectively, to become familiar with the provisions of that law 
and conduct themselves accordingly.  As stated in the South Carolina Ethics Act, and without 
limiting the applicability of any other provision of the South Carolina Ethics Act, members of 
this Committee shall not use membership on the Committee to obtain a direct personal 
economic interest, an economic interest for the immediate family of the member, an economic 
interest for an individual with whom a member is associated, or an economic interest for a 
business with which the member is associated.    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



5 

 

 
Ord. 2018-7 

 
 

The Ordinance shall be effective upon adoption by the Chester County Council on the  
date of the final reading approval. 
 
Enacted and approved this ______day of ______ 20___ 
 
CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
By: ________________________________ 
Brian Hester 
Administrator, Chester County 
 
Attest: 
 
By: _______________________________ 
Karen Lee 
Clerk to County Council 
Chester, South Carolina 
 
First Reading: __________________ 
Second Reading: ________________ 
Public Hearing: _________________ 
Third Reading: __________________ 



  
Sec. 46-93. - Litter control ordinance 

This article shall be referred to as the Chester County Litter Control Ordinance and is enacted under  

the home rule authority of the county council to provide remedies and penalties for illegal litter and  

dumping as defined herein, in the unincorporated areas of the county and to provide authority for the  

county litter enforcement officer to enforce the provisions of this article.  

(1) Definitions.  

The following words, terms, and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings  

ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  

Litter means all discarded waste materials including, but not limited to, rubbish, garbage, trash,  

refuse, sand, gravel, yard clippings, limbs, leaves, slag, paper, plastic, rubber, tires, waste building  

materials at construction sites, bottles, glass, aluminum cans, cigarette butts, cigarette filters, shell  

fish, or other discarded materials of every kind and description.  

Litter receptacle means those containers adopted by the county.  

Person means an individual, partnership, co-partnership, cooperative, firm, company, public or  

private corporation, political subdivision, agency of the county, trust, estate, joint structure company  

or any other legal entity or its legal representative, agent, or assigns.  

Public or private means, but is not limited to, the right-of-way of any road or highway, any body  

if water or watercourse, park, playground, conservation or recreation area, timberlands, forests,  

buildings, refuge, and residential or farm properties.  

Solid waste means all refuse including, but not limited to, bulk, debris, garbage, recyclable  

materials, rubbish and trash.  

Vehicles means every device capable of being moved upon a public highway, body of water, or  

public property and in, upon, or by which any person's property is or may be transported or drawn  

upon a public highway, body of water, or public property.  

(2) Litter, loose materials, and solid waste to be covered to prevent escape during transportation,  

penalties. 

a. No vehicle which transports litter, loose materials, or solid waste shall be driven or moved  

on any highway, body of water, or public property unless the litter, loose material, or solid  

Formatted: No Spacing

Formatted: Font color: Red



waste is secured by means of a covering which is fastened securely so as to prevent any  

of its load from dropping, sifting, leaking, or otherwise escaping from the vehicle.  

b. A person violating the provision of this section is guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon  

conviction, must be fined not less than $100.00 nor more than $500.00 or imprisoned for  

not more than 30 days for each offense, or both. The court may further impose one of the  

following:  

1. In the sound discretion of the court in which conviction is obtained, the person may be 

directed to pick up and remove from any public street or highway or public right-ofway for a distance not 

to exceed one mile any litter, loose material, or solid waste the  

person has deposited and any and all litter, loose material, or solid waste deposited  

thereon by anyone else prior to the date of execution of sentence; or  

2. In the sound discretion of the court in which conviction was obtained, the person may  

be directed to perform other forms of public service as may be ordered due to physical  

or other incapacities, which shall be under the supervision of the court.  

(3) Prima facie evidence; inferred presumption.  

a. Whenever litter, loose materials or solid waste are thrown, dropped, deposited, dumped,  

sifted, leaked, or otherwise escape from any motor vehicle, boat, airplane or other  

conveyance in violation of this section, it shall be prima facie evidence that the operator of  

the conveyance has committed a violation of this article.  

b. Whenever any litter which is dumped, deposited, thrown or left on public or private property  

in violation of this article is discovered to contain any articles, including without limitation,  

letters, bills, publications or other writings which display the name of a person thereon in  

such a manner as to indicate such person, it shall be inferred that such person has violated  

this article.  

(4) Littering on public or private property or waters prohibited; exceptions; responsibility for  

removal; penalties.  

a. No person may dump, throw, drop, deposit, discard or otherwise dispose of litter or other  

solid waste upon any public or private property or waters in the county whether from a  

vehicle or otherwise, including without limitation, a public highway, public park,  

Formatted: Font color: Auto, Not Highlight



campground, forest land, recreational area, road, street or alley except as follows:  

1. When the property is designated by the state or the county or any of its agencies or  

political subdivisions for the disposal of litter and other solid waste and it is authorized  

by the proper public authority to use the property for that purpose.  

2. Placed into a litter receptacle or container installed on such property, and is place in a  

manner that the litter is prevented from being carried away by the elements upon a  

part of the private or public property or waters.  

b. No person or persons may dump, throw, discard, drop, or otherwise dispose or leave any  

litter or other solid waste other than household garbage or recyclables as specified at  

county waste and recycling centers, or leave such specified items after the center has  

closed.  

c. Responsibility for the removal of litter or other solid waste from public or private property or  

receptacles is upon the person convicted under this section. However, if there is no  

conviction, the responsibility is upon the owner of the property or upon the owner of the  

property where the receptacle is located. If there is no conviction and, in the discretion of  

the county supervisor or his designee, an undue hardship is created for the owner of the  

property, assistance in removing the litter or other solid waste may be provided by the  

county.  

d. A person who violates the provisions of this section in an amount less than 15 pounds in  

weight or 27 cubic feet in volume is guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction must shall be  

fined not less than $100.00 or more than $200.00, or imprisoned for not more than 30 days  

for each offense, or both. In addition to a fine and for each offense under the provisions of  

this section, the court shall also impose a minimum of five hour litter and other solid waste  

gathering labor or other form of public service as the court may order because of physical  

or other incapacities, which shall be under the supervision of the court.  

e. The fine for deposit of a collection of litter or other solid waste in an area or facility not  

intended for public deposit of litter or other solid waste is $200.00. The provisions of this  

item apply to a deposit of litter or other solid waste in an area or facility not intended for  

public deposit of litter or other solid waste, but this does not prohibit a private property  

Formatted: Font color: Red



owner from depositing litter or other solid waste as an enhancement to their property if the  

depositing does not violate applicable state and local health and safety regulations. In  

addition to a fine and for each offense under the provisions of this section, the court shall  

also impose a minimum of five hour litter and other solid waste gathering labor or other  

form of public service as the court may order because of physical or other incapacities,  

which shall be under the supervision of the court.  

f. The court, in lieu of payment of the monetary fine imposed for a violation of this section,  

may direct the substitution of additional litter or other solid waste gathering labor, or other.  

form of public service as it shall order due to physical or other incapability's, which labor or  

public service shall be under the supervision of the court, not to exceed one hour for each  

$5.00 of fine imposed.  

g. For the second and subsequent convictions under subsections d. or e. of this section, a  

 minimum of 20 hours of community service shall be imposed in addition to a fine.  

h. In addition to other punishment authorized by the section, in the discretion of the court in  

which conviction is obtained; the person so convicted may be directed by the court to pick  

up and remove from any public place or any private property, with permission of the owner  

upon which it is established by competent evidence that the convicted person has  

deposited litter or other solid waste, all such litter or other solid waste deposited on the  

place or property by anyone before the date of execution of sentence.  

i. Magistrates and municipal courts have jurisdiction to try violations of this article and shall  

order the publication of the names of those persons convicted for violations of this article in  

a news publication of local circulation. (publication fees should be added to magistrates budget) 

j. Any person who violates the provisions of this section in an amount exceeding 15 pounds in  

weight or 27 cubic feet in volume, but not exceeding 500 pounds or 100 cubic feet, is guilty  

of a misdemeanor and upon conviction, must shall be fined not less than $200.00 and no more  

than $500.00 or imprisoned for not more than 90 days, or both. In addition, the court shall  

require the violator to pick up litter or other solid waste or perform other community service  

commensurate with the offense committed as required by state statute.  

k. Any person who violates the provisions of this section in an amount exceeding 500 pounds  

Formatted: Font color: Red



in weight or 100 cubic feet in volume is guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction, must shall  

be fined not less than $500.00 nor more than $1,000.00, or imprisoned not more than one  

year, or both. In addition, the court may order the violator to:  

1. Remove or render harmless the litter or other solid waste dumped in violation of this  

subsection.  

2. Repair or restore property damaged by, or pay the cost of damages arising out of the  

dumping of litter or other solid waste in violation of this subsection; and/or  

3. As required by state statute, perform community public service relating to the removal  

of litter or solid waste dumped in violation of this sub-section or relating to the  

restoration of an area polluted by litter or solid waste dumped in violation of this  

section by the person so convicted or others.  

l. A motor vehicle, vessel, aircraft, container, crane, winch, or machine involved in the  

disposal of more than 500 pounds in weight or more than 100 cubic feet in volume of litter  

or other solid waste in violation of this section is declared contraband and is subject to  

seizure and summary forfeiture to the county.  

m. No part of a fine imposed pursuant to this section may be suspended. Offenders who do  

not appear for court without notification to the court may have their hearing rescheduled at  

the discretion of the court. Failure to appear a second time without notice will result in the  

issuance of a bench warrant.  

n. The court may permit and recognize a roadside bond offered by the litter enforcement  

officer to the violator. A roadside bond will include a fine and a requirement for community  

service.  

o. All For community service required by the court shall be r the supervision of the court and  

the violator may be required to provide "before and after" photographs to the court as  

evidence of the performance of the community service.  

(5) Abandoning chemicals or hazardous materials in the county.  

a. No hazardous or potentially hazardous wastes shall be placed in waste disposal containers  

or dumped at the county landfill.  

b. It shall be unlawful for any person to abandon any chemicals or hazardous/potentially  

Formatted: Font color: Red



hazardous material in Chester County.  

c. Hazardous/potentially hazardous materials include without limitation:  

1. Any substance designated under the Clean Water Act and the Comprehensive  

Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA) as posing a  

threat to waterways and the environment when released.  

2. Hazardous materials shall include such materials as flammable solids, corrosive  

liquids, radioactive materials, oxidizing materials, potentially explosive materials,  

poisonous gases, and hazardous materials known or suspected of chronic toxicity.  

Nothing in this section shall be construed as granting any cause of action against the State, any political 

subdivision, or any employee thereof acting in their official capacity to an individual performing 

community service under this section who is completing litter pickup without direct oversight, including 

any claim under Workers Compensation.  Routine follow up to ensure completion of litter pickup by a 

county, municipality, or state employee is not considered oversight.    

 

 

(Ord. No. 2019-12, Exh. A, 9-16-2019)  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 2019-12, Exh. A, adopted Sep. 16, 2019, repealed the former § 46-93,  

and enacted a new § 46-93 as set out herein. The former § 46-93 pertained to littering and  

derived from Code 1998, § 7-310. 



TELEPHONE (803) 581-2829          FAX (855) 933-2533 

 

Chester County, South Carolina 

Office of Purchasing 
1476 J.A. Cochran Bypass 
Chester, SC 29706 

 

 
Date:  June 20, 2023 
To:  County Council 
From:  Susan M. Cok 
Subject:  Approval of Bid – Janitorial Services   

 

Chester County Council Members, 

On May 3, 2023, the Purchasing Office and Facilities Maintenance/Public Works issued RFP 2223-12 
Janitorial Services for 10 locations. The bids were opened on May 24, 2023. After conducting 
evaluations, and speaking with our County Administrator, we have selected TJ’s High Quality Cleaning 
Services out of Chester, SC and would like to award them the bid in the amount of $8,454.45 per month.  
 

Respectfully, 

Susan M. Cok 

Susan M. Cok,  
Director of Contracts and Procurement 

 

 

 

 

 
 

      
 

 

 

 

 

 



TELEPHONE (803) 581-2829          FAX (855) 933-2533 

 

 

 

 

 Bid Tabulation  
RFP 2223-12 Janitorial Services 

May 24, 2023 @ 2:30 pm 
 

Bidder 
Agreement 

Form  

Non-
Collusion 
Affidavit  

Certificate 
of 

Familiarity  
Bid 

Form 

Bid Total 
Per Month                 

Miss Terry’s Cleaning Service – Rock Hill, SC √ √ √ √ $1,875.00 

Chano and Sons Inc., - Fayetteville, TN √ √ √ √ $5,916.00 

CleanNet of Charlotte, Inc. – Charlotte, NC √ √ √ √ $7,234.97 

TJ’s High Quality Cleaning Services – Chester, SC √ √ √ √ $8,454.45 

Interstate Facility Services – Rock Hill, SC √ √ √ √ $9,495.00 

The Budd Group – Charlotte, NC     √ $12,521.00 

Low 7 Consulting – Blythwood, SC √ √ √ √ $19,787.00 

J.W. Professional Services – Bowman, SC √ √ √ √ $77,470.00 

      

 
 
 
       
      

I certify that the above bid tabulation is an accurate representation of the information set forth on the bid 
proposals received. 

      
Susan M. Cok 5/24/2023      
Purchasing Official Date     

      
Kristie Donaldson 5/24/2023      
Witness Date     

 




	1. 6-20-2023 Agenda
	2. 6-5-2023 Minutes
	3. 2023-14 Resolution To Gift Service Weapon to John Trey Hunter
	4. 2023-15 Resolution To Gift Service Weapon to Sandra Stinson
	5. 2023-15 (AMENDMENT) Allocation of Chester County FILOT Revenues Ordinance-Fire Districts and Economic Development (KKL 2023.06.08) REVISED
	6. CCMA23-06-Gallo_Redacted
	7. CCMA23-08 Crawley_Redacted
	8. CCMA22-19 Horton _2022-09-01-152115276_Redacted
	9. CCMA22-20 Horton _2022-09-01-152223637_Redacted
	10. CCMA22-21 Horton _2022-09-01-152310098_Redacted
	11.CCMA22-22 Horton _2022-09-01-152400798_Redacted
	12. Gateway District Enabling Act 2023 Changes 4
	13. 2023 revisionToLitterOrdinance
	14. Letter for Council - RFP 2223-12 Janitorial Services
	15. Bill Bundy Appointment _Redacted



